
 
 
A meeting of the CABINET will be held in the CIVIC SUITE 
(LANCASTER/STIRLING ROOMS), PATHFINDER HOUSE, ST 
MARY'S STREET, HUNTINGDON, PE29 3TN on MONDAY, 12 
DECEMBER 2022 at 7:00 PM and you are requested to attend for the 
transaction of the following business:- 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
 
APOLOGIES  
 
1. MINUTES (Pages 5 - 10) 
 
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 15th November 
2022. 
 
Contact Officer: H Peacey - (01480) 388007 
 
2. MEMBERS' INTERESTS  
 
To receive from Members declarations as to disclosable pecuniary, other 
registerable and non-registerable interests in relation to any Agenda item. See 
Notes below. 
 
Contact Officer: Democratic Services - (01480) 388169 
 
3. BUSINESS RATES -  RURAL SETTLEMENT LIST (Pages 11 - 18) 
 
To receive a report on the Rural Settlement List for Business Rates. 
 
Executive Councillor: S Ferguson. 
 
Contact Officer: A Burns - (01480) 388122 
 
4. HUNTINGDONSHIRE UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUNDING (Pages 19 - 
30) 
 
To receive a report providing an overview of the proposed activities to be delivered 
through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. 
 
Executive Councillor: S Wakeford. 
 
Contact Officer: K McFarlane - (01480) 388332 



 
5. MARKET TOWNS PROGRAMME - WINTER UPDATE (Pages 31 - 44) 
 
To receive an update on activity across the strands of the Market Town 
Programme, including an update on funding opportunities. 
 
Executive Councillor: S Wakeford. 
 
Contact Officer: P Scott - (01480) 388486 
 
6. INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT (Pages 45 - 104) 
 
To receive a report seeking endorsement of the Infrastructure Funding Statement 
2021/22 including an update on the infrastructure delivery up to March 2022. 
 
Executive Councillor: T Sanderson. 
 
Contact Officer: C Burton - (01480) 388274 
 
7. GREATER CAMBRIDGE PARTNERSHIP - MAKING CONNECTIONS 
CONSULTATION (Pages 105 - 118) 
 
To seek approval for submission of a formal response to Greater Cambridge 
Partnership’s Making Connections Consultation. 
 
Executive Councillor: S Wakeford. 
 
Contact Officer: C Bond - (01480) 387104 
 
8. FINANCE PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022/23, QUARTER 2 (Pages 119 - 
154) 
 
To receive details of the Council’s projected financial performance for 2022/23. 
 
Executive Councillor: B Mickelburgh. 
 
Contact Officer: K Sutton - (01480) 387072 
 
9. TREASURY MANAGEMENT 6 MONTH PERFORMANCE REVIEW 
(Pages 155 - 182) 
 
To receive an update on the Council’s treasury management activity for the first 6 
months of the year, including investment and borrowing activity and treasury 
performance. 
 
Executive Councillor: B Mickelburgh. 
 
Contact Officer: O Colbert / S Russell-Surtees - (01480) 388067 / 388524 
 
 
 
 



10. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
To resolve: 
 
 to exclude the press and public from the meeting because the business to 

be transacted contains information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information).  

 
11. SENIOR OFFICERS' COMMITTEE  - CABINET NOTIFICATION  
 
The Executive Leader to report on the outcome of the meeting of the Senior 
Officers’ Committee held on 24th November 2022. 
 
Executive Councillor: S Conboy. 
 
Contact Officer: J Lancaster - (01480) 388001 
 

2 day of December 2022 

 
Head of Paid Service 
 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and other Registerable and Non-
Registerable Interests. 
 
Further information on Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and other Registerable and 
Non-Registerable Interests is available in the Council’s Constitution 
 
Filming, Photography and Recording (including Live Streaming) at Council 
Meetings 
 
This meeting will be filmed for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the Council’s 
YouTube site. The whole of the meeting will be filmed, except where there are 
confidential or exempt items. If you make a representation to the meeting you will 
be deemed to have consented to being filmed. By entering the meeting you are 
also consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. If you have any queries 
regarding the streaming of Council meetings, please contact Democratic Services 
on 01480 388169.  
 
The District Council also permits filming, recording and the taking of photographs 
at its meetings that are open to the public. Arrangements for these activities 
should operate in accordance with guidelines agreed by the Council.  
 

Please contact Habbiba Peacey, Democratic Services Officer, Tel No: (01480) 
388007 / e-mail: Habbiba.Peacey@huntingdonshire.gov.uk if you have a 
general query on any Agenda Item, wish to tender your apologies for 
absence from the meeting, or would like information on any decision taken 
by the Cabinet. 

https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/3744/constitution.pdf
https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/3744/constitution.pdf
https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/1365/filming-photography-and-recording-at-council-meetings.pdf


Specific enquiries with regard to items on the Agenda should be directed towards 
the Contact Officer. 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except 
during consideration of confidential or exempt items of business. 

 
Agenda and enclosures can be viewed on the District Council’s website. 
 

Emergency Procedure 
 

In the event of the fire alarm being sounded and on the instruction of the Meeting 
Administrator, all attendees are requested to vacate the building via the closest 

emergency exit. 

http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

 
MINUTES of the meeting of the CABINET held in the CIVIC SUITE 
(LANCASTER/STIRLING ROOMS), PATHFINDER HOUSE, ST MARY'S 
STREET, HUNTINGDON, PE29 3TN on Tuesday, 15 November 2022 
 
PRESENT:  Councillor S J Conboy – Chair. 
 

Councillors L Davenport-Ray, S W Ferguson, M A Hassall, 
B A Mickelburgh, B M Pitt, T D Sanderson, S L Taylor and 
S Wakeford. 
 

IN ATTENDANCE: Councillor J Kerr. 
 
 

44 MINUTES  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 18th October 2022 were approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.   
 

45 MEMBERS' INTERESTS  
 
No declarations were received. 
 

46 ONE LEISURE PRICING PROPOSAL 2023/24  
 
Councillor J Kerr, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Customers & 
Partnerships) was in attendance for consideration of this item. 
 
With the aid of a report prepared by the Interim Head of Leisure (a copy of which 
is appended in the Minute Book) the Cabinet were acquainted with the different 
pricing options available to One Leisure to mitigate and offset rising costs seen in 
utilities, staffing and other general operational expenditure during 2022-23 and 
leading into 2023-24. 
 
The Executive Councillor for Leisure, Waste and Street Scene reported that 
projected increases totalling £760,000 was anticipated for 2023-24 as a result of 
increased expenditure relating to utilities, staffing and other general operating 
costs. The Interim Head of Leisure then presented the three options which had 
been considered which included no price increase and increasing One Leisure 
pricing by an average of 8.7% or 12.8%. All pricing options had been reviewed 
and analysed with consideration also being given to a number of risks and issues 
which included cost of living, competition, operational costs, customer behaviour 
and implementation. Members were informed that the absence of a price 
increase would result in One Leisure operating at a £274,907 deficit in 2023-24 
which would increase further in future years, impacting upon the Council’s 
Medium Term Programme. A significant factor in the proposal to increase prices 
by 8.7% related to the offsetting of utility costs which were expected to increase 
by £530,000. In his concluding remarks, the Interim Head of Leisure assured the 
Cabinet that when considering pricing opportunities, a number of concessions 
continued to remain available, with no increases or costs being removed for 

Page 5 of 182

Agenda Item 1



 

some areas.  If approved by Cabinet, the new pricing structure would take effect 
from 1st January 2023. 
 
Having received responses to questions of clarification relating to the deficit 
experienced at One Leisure since the transfer of the Active Lifestyles Team to 
the One Leisure service and the categories available for various concessions 
offered by the service, the Chair then invited Councillor J Kerr, Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Customers & Partnerships) to deliver the views of 
the Panel on the proposals. 
 
In addressing the Cabinet, Councillor J Kerr reported that a majority of the Panel 
were in agreement with Option 2 as this was perceived to be the most 
sustainable option for Huntingdonshire residents and that there had been no 
price increases under the previous administration for the last 5 years. Referring 
to the current economic climate, it was noted that all One Leisure concessions 
had been more proactively advertised on the One Leisure website and that a 
new business strategy was being developed. The Panel received assurances 
that the projections for increased energy costs would remain under review 
together with the level of footfall and income at each of the Centres. The Panel 
had expressed some concerns over the loss of the swimming pool facility 
available at Sawtry however this facility was now under the control of another 
provider. In her concluding remarks, Councillor J Kerr conveyed the Panel’s 
concerns that there was no alternative plan if, following the six month review, 
data revealed a significant reduction in the use of One Leisure facilities. 
 
Matters that were discussed by the Cabinet included the reasons why an 
alternative plan was not being proposed at the present time, whether or not the 
proposals would impact upon Huntingdonshire’s most vulnerable residents, the 
2019 One Leisure Business Plan, the extent to which One Leisure operated as a 
commercial gym operator and its current position of operating the facilities at 
zero cost to the Council. Following debate on the matter, the Cabinet 
 
RESOLVED 
 

to agree to launch with Option 2 price proposal to take effect from 1st 
January 2023. 

 
47 HUNTINGDONSHIRE TRANSPORT STRATEGY  

 
A report by the Chief Planning Officer was submitted (a copy of which is 
appended in the Minute Book) seeking approval for submission of a formal 
consultation response to Cambridgeshire County Council’s draft Huntingdonshire 
Transport Strategy on behalf of the District Council. 
 
In introducing the report, the Executive Councillor for Jobs, Economy and 
Housing reported that District Council Officers and Members had contributed to 
the development of a draft Strategy but there was an opportunity for the Council 
to submit a response to the consultation on behalf of the District Council. Whilst 
the consultation period had ended on 7th November 2022, the County Council 
had granted the District Council an extension to this time period. It was noted 
that a more detailed transport investment plan would emerge in the future. The 
Cabinet’s attention was drawn to the diagram in paragraph 3.1 of the report 
portraying how the various transport policies would work with each other.  

Page 6 of 182



 

 
Having had their attention drawn to the comments of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel (Performance & Growth), the Cabinet received assurances from the 
Executive Councillor for Jobs, Economy and Housing that Ramsey’s interests 
would be adequately reflected within the response. In noting that the Member 
Steering Group would continue to be actively involved in the next stage of the 
development of the Strategy, which included a meeting in December 2022 to 
review the consultation responses which had been received, it was  
 
RESOLVED 
 

that the Cabinet endorse the submission of a response to Cambridgeshire 
County Council supporting the Huntingdonshire Transport Strategy and 
raising points of detail as identified in the analysis section of the report 
now submitted.  

 
48 ACTIVE TRAVEL STRATEGY FOR CAMBRIDGESHIRE PUBLIC 

CONSULTATION  
 
Consideration was given to a report by the Chief Planning Officer (a copy of 
which is appended in the Minute Book) seeking approval for submission of a 
formal consultation response on behalf of the District Council to Cambridgeshire 
County Council’s public consultation on the Active Travel Strategy for 
Cambridgeshire.   
 
The Executive Councillor for Jobs, Economy and Housing reported upon the 
aims of the Strategy to make active travel the “go to” option for local journeys 
through walking or cycling thereby improving air quality, providing affordable 
travel options and improving the health and well-being of communities. In 
referring to Appendix A of the report, the Cabinet’s attention was drawn to the 
Council’s proposed response to Question 6 of the consultation, where comments 
had been made around the deliverability of the objectives for Huntingdonshire 
which had not been sufficiently detailed, together with how success would be 
measured and a lack of detail on how the varying landscape of Cambridgeshire 
would be addressed. In his concluding remarks, the Executive Councillor for Job, 
Economy and Housing made comment that the loss of the private motor car in 
Huntingdonshire would be some way off in the future. 
 
In acknowledging the importance of the challenge across all Cambridgeshire 
authorities which included both rural and urban communities and in noting the 
that this theme had also emerged as part of the Place Strategy consultation, the 
Cabinet received and noted the views of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
(Performance & Growth). Whereupon, it was   
 
RESOLVED 
 

that the Cabinet  
 

(a) agree the proposed response set out in the completed 
questionnaire as attached at Appendix A of the report now 
submitted; and 
 

Page 7 of 182



 

(b) authorise any necessary minor amendments to be approved by 
the Executive Councillor for Jobs, Economy and Housing and 
the Chief Planning Officer for onward submission to 
Cambridgeshire County Council. 

 
49 CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022/23, QUARTER 2  

 
With the aid of a report prepared by the Business Intelligence & Performance 
Manager (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) the Cabinet were 
presented with details of delivery of the Corporate Plan 2022/23 and project 
delivery. 
 
The Executive Councillor for Customer Services summarised the progress made 
in delivering the Key Actions for 2022/23 over the reporting period where the 
Cabinet were pleased to note that all were on track or within acceptable 
variance. Specific mention was made of the performance levels achieved for the 
Energy Bills Rebate scheme, the Resident Advice and Information Team, the 
work being undertaken in conjunction with community and voluntary 
organisations to deliver projects around tackling health inequalities in the District 
and the Community Chest funding grants. In respect of Corporate Indicators, it 
was reported that with the exception of one, all were on track or within 
acceptable variance. The Executive Councillor for Customer Services reported 
that less green waste had been collected owing to the long hot summer and 
made reference to three of the amber corporate indicators relating to housing 
benefit claimants, community and voluntary sector groups and food safety 
inspections. The red corporate indicator related to homelessness but was not a 
grave cause for concern. Finally, the Cabinet received details on the status of 
corporate projects which had progressed well with only one identified as being 
significantly behind schedule. This project related to the Revenue and Benefits 
service e-billing project which had been pushed back owing to the prioritisation of 
the Energy Bill Rebates scheme. 
 
A number of matters were raised and discussed by the Cabinet. These included 
confirmation from the Executive Councillor for Climate and Environment of her 
intention to declare a Climate Emergency together with actions to resolve, an 
update from the Executive Councillor for Jobs, Housing and Economy on the 
various projects falling under the Market Towns Programme scheme and the 
comments observed by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Performance & 
Growth) in respect of the project relating to St Neots Riverside Walks.  
 
Having commended Officers for their achievements in continuing to deliver 
excellent services to the residents of Huntingdonshire during challenging times, it 
was 
 
RESOLVED 
 

that Cabinet note the progress made against the Key Actions and 
Corporate Indicators in the Corporate Plan and current projects, as 
summarised in Appendix A and detailed in Appendices B and C of the 
report now submitted. 

 
50 HINCHINGBROOKE COUNTRY PARK JOINT GROUP  

 

Page 8 of 182



 

The Cabinet has received and noted the Minutes of the Hinchingbrooke Country 
Park Joint Group held on 14th October 2022.  
 
The Executive Councillor for Leisure, Waste and Street Scene delivered a brief 
update on the outcome of the meeting which was welcomed by Cabinet 
Members. Matters that were discussed included the County Council 
representation at the meeting, wild swimming and the associated signage that 
would need to be updated around the site and the ongoing encouragement and 
development of green skills opportunities within the community.  
 

 
Chair 

 
 

Page 9 of 182



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

Title/Subject Matter:  Business Rates – Rural Settlement List  
 
Meeting/Date:   Cabinet – 12 December 2022 
 
Executive Portfolio:  Cllr S Ferguson – Executive Councillor for   

Customer Services 
 
Report by:   Revenues and Benefits Manager 
 
Ward(s) affected:  Farcet / Hemingford Grey / Offord D’Arcy and   

Offord Cluny 

 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
The Local Government and Rating Act 1997 requires that each rating authority 
must compile and maintain a Rural Settlement List comprising settlements with a 
population of less than 3,000. 
 
The intention of the Rural Settlement List is to allow Huntingdonshire District 
Council to grant business rates relief to qualifying post offices, village shops, 
public houses and petrol stations to support rural businesses and communities. 
 
The latest data provided by the County Council on population sizes across the 
parishes in Huntingdonshire has prompted a review of the current list to ensure it 
meets legislative criteria.   
 
This has resulted in a proposal to amend the classifications of the parishes of 
Farcet, Hemingford Grey, Offord D’Arcy and Offord Cluny for the purposes of 
Business Rates.  This will not affect the level of business rates relief in any of the 
parishes affected.   
 
Recommendation: 
 
The Cabinet is 
 
RECOMMENDED 
 
to approve the changes to Huntingdonshire District Council’s Rural Settlement 
List effective from 1 April 2023. 
 
 

Public 
Key Decision - Yes  

 

Page 11 of 182

Agenda Item 3



 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Local Government and Rating Act 1997 requires that rating authorities 

must compile and maintain a list of settlements with a population of less 
than 3,000, the Rural Settlement List, in order to award rural rate relief to 
qualifying village shops, post houses, public houses and petrol stations.   

 
1.2 Recent population data compiled by Cambridgeshire County Council has 

prompted a review of the Rural Settlement List to ensure that settlements 
are classified correctly.  This report sets out why changes are being 
proposed to certain parishes and shows that the impact of these changes 
will not be detrimental in any way to businesses trading in the rural areas 
of Huntingdonshire.   

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Towns and parishes within Huntingdonshire are all designated as one of 

three types of settlement: 
 

Urban settlements – population above 3,000 
Rural settlements – population below 3,000 
Defined settlements – population above 3,000 but the parish has been 
designated as a rural settlement by defining areas within the parish 
 
A rural settlement does not necessarily have to follow ward or parish 
boundaries.   A defined settlement can be applied by splitting an area 
based on other characteristics, such as geographical or demographic 
features.  
 

2.2 Rural rate relief is applied to certain types of business within a rural 
settlement, i.e. with a population of less than 3,000. It applies where the 
only village shop or post office has a rateable value of up to £8,500 or the 
only public house or petrol station has a rateable value of up to £12,500.  
Qualifying businesses are entitled to 50% mandatory relief on their 
business rates.  The Government proposes to increase this to 100% but 
the legislation has not yet been amended.  However, local authorities use 
their powers to award 50% discretionary relief which is then re-imbursed 
through a Section 31 grant, which in effect grants 100% relief.  

 
2.3 Under the current list, a number of parishes are classified as a defined 

settlement in order to maximise the number of businesses that benefit from 
rural rate relief: 

 
Farcet, Fenstanton, Hemingford Grey, Offord D’Arcy and Offord Cluny, 
Ramsey Forty Foot, Ramsey Heights, Ramsey Mereside and Ramsey St 
Mary’s  

 
3. OPTIONS CONSIDERED/ANALYSIS 
 
3.1 A review of the classification of all towns and parishes, and in particular 

the defined settlements, on the current Rural Settlement List has found the 
following: 

Page 12 of 182



Farcet: has a population of less than 3,000 but is currently split into two to 
enable rural rate relief to be applied to two local pubs in the area.  There 
are now no open pubs, so it is proposed that the parish of Farcet is re-
designated as a rural settlement.  If the one remaining pub did re-open, it 
would qualify for rural rate relief. 
Hemingford Grey: has a population of over 3,000 and is currently split into 
two to enable rural rate relief to be awarded to a village shop.  There are 
no longer any businesses that would qualify for rural rate relief so it is 
proposed that the parish of Hemingford Grey is re-designated as an urban 
settlement.   
Offord D’Arcy and Offord Cluny: has a population of less than 3,000 but is 
currently split into two to enable rural rate relief to be applied to the two 
village pubs and shop.  One pub is now closed and the rateable values of 
the remaining pub and village shop are too large for them to receive rural 
rate relief, so it is proposed that the parish of Offord D’Arcy and Offord 
Cluny is re-designated as a rural settlement.   

 
3.2 It is proposed that there are no changes to the classification of the other 

defined settlements.  
 
3.3 These proposals have no detrimental / financial impact on any of the 

existing businesses in these parishes but ensures the Rural Settlement 
List reflects the current population and that rural rate relief continues to be 
awarded to all qualifying businesses.   

 
4. COMMENTS OF OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
 
4.1 The Panel discussed the Business Rates Rural Settlement List Report at 

its meeting on 1st December 2022. 
 

4.2 Following an enquiry from Councillor Criswell, the Panel were advised that 
whilst the list can only be amended once annually, it can be reversed or 
adapted as circumstances change.  

 
4.3 Councillor Shaw questioned how the population figures had been 

established, citing the specific example of Buckden. The Panel heard that 
the County Council had provided the figures, with a population of 2,758 
being given for Buckden. It was also advised that the 2021 Census figures 
were still being processed so not yet available.  

 
4.4 The report was praised by Councillor Alban whose ward is comprised of 

villages who all fall within the parameters of the report. Following a 
question from Councillor Alban about how businesses apply for relief, the 
Panel heard that the Business Rates team were proactive. The team work 
closely with businesses to ensure that they receive support that they are 
entitled to and are signposted to further support as applicable.  

 
4.5 Having welcomed the report, the Panel encourage the Cabinet to endorse 

the recommendations within the report. 
 

Page 13 of 182



5. WHAT ACTIONS WILL BE TAKEN/TIMETABLE FOR 
IMPLEMENTATION 

 
5.1 The revised Rural Settlement List will be effective from 1 April 2023. The 

list will be available for inspection from 1 January 2023, three months 
before the effective date.   

 
6. LINK TO THE CORPORATE PLAN, STRATEGIC PRIORITIES  AND/OR  

CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 
 
6.1 Reviewing and maintaining the Rural Settlement List contributes to the 

Corporate Plan objective of Supporting Local Businesses. 
 
7.  CONSULTATION 
 
7.1 The Rural Settlement List and application of rural rate relief supports the 

objective in the Corporate Plan of Supporting Businesses. 
 
8.  REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS  
 
8.1 The proposed amendments to the Rural Settlement List ensures that the 

classification of urban, rural and defined settlements reflect the current 
population figures and rural rate relief is being awarded appropriately.   

 
9. LIST OF APPENDICES INCLUDED 
 

Appendix 1 – Proposed Rural Settlement List 
Appendix 2 – Proposed Rural Settlement List Map  

 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Name/Job Title: Amanda Burns / Revenues and Benefits Manager  
Tel No:   01480 388122 
Email:   amanda.burns@huntingdonshire.gov.uk  

Page 14 of 182

mailto:amanda.burns@huntingdonshire.gov.uk


Proposed Rural Settlement List – Appendix 1 
 

Abbotsley  Hemingford Abbots 

Abbots Ripton  Hilton 

Alconbury  Holme 

Alconbury Weston  Holywell-cum-Needingworth 

Alwalton  Houghton and Wyton 

Barham and Woolley  Kimbolton and Stonely 

Bluntisham  Kings Ripton 

Brington and Molesworth  Leighton Bromswold 

Broughton  Morborne 

Buckden  Offord Cluny & Offord D'Arcy 

Buckworth  Old Hurst 

Bury  Old Weston 

Bythorn and Keyston  Perry 

Catworth  Pidley-cum-Fenton 

Chesterton  Ramsey Forty Foot* 

Colne  Ramsey St Mary’s* 

Conington  Ramsey Mereside* 

Covington  Ramsey Heights* 

Denton and Caldecote  Sibson-cum-Stibbington 

Diddington  Southoe and Midloe 

Earith  Spaldwick 

Easton  Stilton 

Ellington  Stow Longa 

Elton  The Stukeleys 

Farcet  Tilbrook 

Fenstanton (village area only)*  Toseland 

Folksworth and Washingley  Upton and Coppingford 

Glatton  Upwood and the Raveleys 

Grafham  Waresley-cum-Tetworth 

Great and Little Gidding  Water Newton 

Great Gransden  Winwick 

Great Paxton  Wistow 

Great Staughton  Woodhurst 

Haddon  Woodwalton 

Hail Weston  Wyton-on-the-Hill 

Hamerton and Steeple Gidding  Yelling 

 

* Defined rural settlement 

Page 15 of 182



This page is intentionally left blank



WarboysSawtry

Elton
Farcet

Holme

Abbotsley

Kimbolton

Yaxley

St. Neots

Somersham

Wood Walton

Brampton

Leighton

Buckden

St. IvesCatworth

The Stukeleys

Great Staughton

Godmanchester

Conington

Alconbury

Abbots Ripton

Bury

Glatton
Ramsey

Colne

Ellington

Ramsey Forty Foot

Wistow

Yelling

Perry

Stilton

Huntingdon

Broughton

Hilton

Great Gransden

Bluntisham

Winwick

Grafham

Buckworth

Old Weston

Earith

Hail Weston

Waresley-cum-Tetworth

Ramsey Heights

Haddon

Covington

Diddington

Fenstanton

Bythorn and 
Keyston

Tilbrook

Pidley cum 
Fenton

Easton

Upwood and 
the Raveleys

Spaldwick

Ramsey 
St Mary's

Great Gidding

Ramsey 
Mereside

Toseland

Wyton-
on-the-

Hill

Woodhurst

Hemingford 
Abbots

Morborne

Southoe and Midloe

Chesterton

Brington and 
Molesworth

Hamerton and 
Steeple Gidding

Hemingford 
Grey

Old 
HurstKings 

Ripton

Great 
Paxton

Holywell-
cum-

Needingworth

Offord Cluny 
and 

Offord D'Arcy

Alconbury 
Weston

Little 
Paxton

Barham and 
Woolley

Upton and 
Coppingford

Denton and Caldecote

Stow 
Longa

Folksworth and 
Washingley

Houghton and 
Wyton

Sibson
-cum-

Stibbington
Water 
Newton

Little Gidding

Alwalton

Scale:

Date:
Produced by:

Section/Department: Spatial TeamUrban Settlements
1:220,000

16 September 2022

@ A4

© Crown copyright and database right 2022. Ordnance Survey Licence number 100022322.

J:\WORKING\3C_GIS_support\HDC\settlements\PDFs settlements_mt

«

Rural Settlements
Urban Settlements

* Some rural areas have been split to ensure 
they continue to benefit for rural rate relief.

Defined Rural Settlements *0 2 41 Miles

Page 17 of 182



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

Title/Subject Matter:  Huntingdonshire UK Shared Prosperity Funding   
 
Meeting/Date:  Cabinet – 12 December 2022 
 
Executive Portfolio:  Cllr Sam Wakeford, Executive Councillor for Jobs, 

Economy & Housing 
 
Report by:   Kate McFarlane, Corporate Director (Place)  
 
Ward(s) affected:  All   

 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report provides an overview of the new UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 
and outlines proposed areas of activity to be delivered in Huntingdonshire that 
are included in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough UKSPF Investment Plan 
that remains subject to approval by Government.  
 
Cabinet is asked to endorse the proposed areas of activity and approve the 
recommendations to ensure appropriate delegations are in place to progress 
UKSPF project activity at pace to maximise opportunities to deliver the best 
outcomes for our residents, businesses, and place. 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
Cabinet is requested to: 
 

 Endorse the submission of the programme of Huntingdonshire wide 
UKSPF activity. 
 

 Delegate authority to the Corporate Director (Place) in Consultation with 
the Executive Councillor for Jobs, Economy & Housing and Executive 
Councillor for Finance and Resources to make amendments to 
Huntingdonshire programme activity following feedback from the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities and/ or 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority on the proposed 
programme of activity in response to any changes arising from the Autumn 
2022 Budget. 
 

 Delegate authority to the Corporate Director (Place), the S151 Officer and 
Head of Legal Practice in Consultation with the Executive Councillor for 
Jobs, Economy & Housing and Executive Councillor for Finance and 
Resources to: 

Public 
Key Decision - Yes  

 

Page 19 of 182

Agenda Item 4



 
a) enter into the Funding Agreement with the Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough Combined Authority to enable the delivery of the 
Huntingdonshire UKSPF Programme, including the Rural England Fund. 
 

b) enter into all relevant and necessary grant Funding Agreements and 
contracts for the successful delivery of the Huntingdonshire UKSPF 
Programme, including the Rural Fund. 
 

 Delegate authority to the Corporate Director (Place) and the S151 Officer 
in Consultation with the Executive Councillor for Jobs, Economy & Housing 
and Executive Councillor for Finance and Resources to re-allocate UKSPF 
and Rural Fund to existing or new activity to ensure the Huntingdonshire 
allocation is fully utilised by March 2025. 
 

 
 
 

Page 20 of 182



 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide an overview of the proposed activities to be delivered through 

the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) in Huntingdonshire that support 
the delivery of Council priorities and align with other external funding 
streams to maximise opportunities to deliver the best outcomes for our 
residents, businesses and place.  

 
2. BACKGROUND 

 
2.1 Following the Government’s Levelling Up White Paper published in 

February 2022 and many previous references to UKSPF as the successor 
fund for the EU structural funds, the UK Government published the UKSPF 
prospectus on 13 April 2022.  
 

2.2 The UKSPF is a central pillar of the UK government’s Levelling Up agenda 
and provides £2.6 billion of new funding for local investment by March 
2025. All areas of the UK will receive an allocation from the Fund via a 
formula. It is intended to help places across the country deliver enhanced 
outcomes whilst recognising that even the most affluent parts of the UK 
contain pockets of deprivation and need support.  

 
2.3 The fund will allow places to target funding where it is needed most, 

building pride in place, supporting high quality skills training, supporting 
pay, employment and productivity growth and increasing life chances. 
Local Authorities, working with stakeholders, will define their own local 
priorities within the Government’s published framework.  

 
 The three UKSPF investment priorities are:  
 

 Communities and Place: enabling places to invest to restore their 
community spaces and relationships and create the foundations for 
economic development at the neighbourhood-level. The intention of this 
is to strengthen the social fabric of communities, supporting in building 
pride in place. 

 

 Supporting local business: enabling places to fund interventions that 
support local businesses to thrive, innovate and grow. 
 

 People and Skills: enabling funding to help reduce the barriers some 
people face to employment and support them to move towards 
employment and education. 

 

UKSPF Funding Allocations 
2.4 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLHUC) will 

oversee the Fund at UK level. The lead Authority in Cambridgeshire is the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) with the 
CPCA in receipt of core UKSPF allocation to 2024-25 of £9,872,624, this 
includes a fixed 4% of the allocation for programme administration and 
should cover legal, finance and staff costs. A further £3,999,186 has also 
been allocated to the CPCA to support the government’s flagship Multiply 
programme, to support adults to improve their numeracy skills.   
 

Page 21 of 182

https://skillsforlife.campaign.gov.uk/courses/multiply/
https://skillsforlife.campaign.gov.uk/courses/multiply/


2.5 Across Cambridgeshire an agreed allocation model has resulted in 
Huntingdonshire District Council receiving £1,878,645.43, after a fixed 4% 
programme admin is removed, this 4% is to be split equally between the 
Council and the CPCA. In addition, £304,749.89 of the Huntingdonshire 
allocation has been set aside to support Cambridgeshire wide priorities as 
summarised in table 1 below. 
 
Table 1. Funding breakdown 

 Amount 

Huntingdonshire Allocation (minus fixed 
4% admin fee)  

£1,878,645.43  

Contribution to Cambridgeshire wide 
priorities 

   £304,749.89 

Remaining for Huntingdonshire based 
activity 

£1,573,895.54 

 
2.6 The funding is a mixture of revenue and capital with the capital component 

increasing over the first 3 years as a minimum element in the allocations, 
this minimum level of Capital spend in each year is 10% in year one, 13% 
in year 2 and 20% in year 3 of the indicative allocation as shown below. It 
should be noted that this profile may change in light of the Autumn 2022 
Budget. 
 
Table 2. Spend profile with capital and revenue split 

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/2025 Total 

Revenue 
 

£169,980.71 £328,629.39    £805,834.52 £1,304,444.62 

Capital  
 

  £18,886.75   £49,105.54    £201,458.63    £269,450.92 

Total  £188,867.46 £377,734.93 £1,007,293.15 £1,573,895.54 

 
Rural England Prosperity Fund 

2.7 In September 2022 Government announced a further element of UKSPF, 
Rural England Prosperity Fund (REPF), known as the rural Fund to 

improve productivity and strengthen the rural economy and rural 
communities. This funding is again routed through the CPCA, with 
Huntingdonshire being allocated £957,788.00 for the period 2023 to 2025 
for capital spend in rural areas. There are some additional interventions 
available, but the priorities are limited to the UKSPF Communities and 
Place and Local Business Investment priorities. Details of the fund can be 
found here Gov.uk: Rural England Prosperity Fund: prospectus. The 
deadline for the submission of additional Rural Fund information is the 30th 
November 2022. The CPCA are responsible for this submission.  

 
2.8 At the time of writing the proposed interventions to deliver against the 

Council’s priorities are still being developed. Likely areas of focus will be 
supporting rural businesses with grants, piloting how to improve rural 
digital connectivity to deliver community benefits and investment to 
improve rural buildings achieve net zero. Due to the tight timeframes 
available minimal specific engagement has taken place with stakeholder 
and rural communities, with engagement primarily via Cambridgeshire 
ACRE and soundings from rural businesses. However, feedback received 

Page 22 of 182

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rural-england-prosperity-fund-prospectus/rural-england-prosperity-fund-prospectus


from residents, on what is most important to them as part of the 
development of a new Huntingdonshire Place Strategy, Huntingdonshire 
Futures has been considered. Details of this are available at 
www.huntingdonshirefutures.net. As the proposed interventions are 
further developed engagement with relevant stakeholders will be 
scheduled.  
 
Huntingdonshire Investment Priorities  

2.9 The Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Investment Plan, which included 
proposed activities in Huntingdonshire was approved at the CPCA Board 
on 27 July 22 and submitted at the beginning of August 2022. This high-
level plan allocates the available fund to pre-defined interventions which 
were set out in Government guidance, each with pre-set output and 
outcome indicators. The Investment Plan is currently being reviewed by 
Government, with a formal response anticipated in late 2022. 
 

2.10 The UKSPF investment in Huntingdonshire will directly deliver against the 
Council priorities outlined in paragraph 5.1. It will enable funding to 
continue activity that was previously funded by other organisations via 
European funding and would otherwise have ceased, it will maximise 
impacts by bringing external funding streams together, add value to 
existing activities, deliver new interventions and investment to support 
future opportunities to secure further external funding.  

 
2.11 The Huntingdonshire priorities were developed following engagement with 

local businesses and business intermediaries, recognised organisations in 
the voluntary & community sector, drawing from draft masterplans and in 
consultation with Cabinet. Local MPs and their constituency offices were 
briefed on the emerging priorities on the 1 July 2022 and their feedback 
taken on board.  

 
2.12 A total of 9 projects were originally included within the Huntingdonshire 

section of the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Investment Plan, however 
this has reduced to 8 with the merger of Visitor Economy activity into the 
Vibrant Communities project. In identifying these projects consideration 
has been given to investing in Council priorities, availability of other 
funding, deliverability and benchmarking of unit costs.  The 
Huntingdonshire projects in receipt of UKSPF funding are therefore 
summarised in table 3 below.  
 

  

Page 23 of 182

http://www.huntingdonshirefutures.net/
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=9sfXAvjk%2bmxL8mdT%2bgAoPSmTdc2GU91fVTZdFlaBGtSwt4vZtqqejA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d


 
Table 3. Summary of Huntingdonshire UKSPF projects 

Project Title UKSPF Priority Brief Description Delivery 
Method 

Funding 

Reaching for Net 
Zero  

Supporting local 
business 

Supporting SMEs to reduce their 
carbon footprint, increase their 
utilities costs and become net zero 
with a net zero plan and capital 
grants for implementation. 
 

To be 
commissioned 
(led by 
Cambridge City) 

£320,000 

Start Up & 
Entrepreneurship 

Supporting local 
business 
 

Intensive support for pre-start and 
early-stage ventures via a series of 
workshops designed to help 
candidates through the process, 
equipping them with the skills and 
knowledge they need to apply for 
funding and launch their new 
business idea.  
 

To be 
commissioned 
(HDC)  

£100,000 

Business & 
Intellectual 
Property Centre  
 

Supporting local 
business 

Business and IP Centres across 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Libraries provide vital market 
intelligence/data and support 
services to earlier stage new start-
ups, start-ups and SMEs. This 
project will continue this support, 
particularly in supporting new start-
ups in the underrepresented female/ 
BAME groups.  
 

Direct Award £75,000 

Manufacturing 
Digitisation 

Supporting local 
business 

Dedicated programme of support and 
funding to our manufacturing sector 
to improve productivity and 
efficiencies of local SMEs through 
free consultancy advice on 
integrating new technologies. 
 

To be 
commissioned 
(HDC) 

£280,000 

Active Travel 
Feasibility Studies 

Place & 
Communities 

Commission to produce up to five 
route feasibility studies to support 
future external funding bids for new 
active and sustainable travel routes 
in Huntingdonshire. 
 

To be 
commissioned 
(HDC) 

£150,000 

Ramsey Great 
Whyte 
Improvements 

Place & 
Communities 

HDC have submitted a CPCA LGF 
bid to deliver the improvements to 
the Great Whyte. A project consisting 
of a proposed new Market / 
Agriculture Produce Hub for local 
producers, retailers and businesses 
and delivery of circa 600 m2 public 
realm around the Produce Hub. This 
revenue investment will provide 
funding to promote the facility, to 
support community development and 
events and activities. 
 

To be agreed £220,835 

Vibrant 
Communities 

Place & 
Communities 

To support events (arts, culture, 
skills, seasonal & environmental 
events) in town centres and large 
villages as part of a wider package of 
activity to increase up footfall and 
build on success from the Welcome 
Back Fund. This is linked to a 

Allocations to 
towns & villages 
(See MTP 
paper, item 5 at 
Cabinet 12 Dec 
2022)  
 

£155,000 

Page 24 of 182



broader range of capital focussed 
interventions. 
 

Community 
Based 
Employment & 
Skills 

Place & 
Communities 

Engaging economically inactivity via 
key community nodes providing 
tailored and targeted support, 
including focus on mental health & 
wellbeing, volunteering as a route to 
employment and progression 
pathways to further develop skills 
and employment through existing 
mainstream provision. 
 

Allocations to 
Recognised 
Organisations 
(ROs) 

£273,061 

    £1,573,895.54 

 

2.13 The Council will ensure that the UKSPF allocation is effectively managed 
as a programme ensuring spend against agreed funding profiles and 
delivery of agreed outputs, with regular reporting to the CPCA in line with 
a future funding agreement.  
 

2.14 Given the breadth of the interventions and linkages with existing activity it 
should be noted that some of the projects will fall within existing 
programmes of activity to ensure we maximise operational efficiencies and 
delivery of benefits sought. For example, the Ramsey Great Whyte 
Improvements project and Vibrant Communities form part of the Market 
Towns Programme (MTP) and will also feature MTP December 2022 
update, item 5 at the 12 December 2022 Cabinet meeting. 
 

 
Wider Cambridgeshire & Peterborough activities 

2.15 The CPCA are leading the delivery of 3 People and Skills projects starting 
in year 3 (2024-25), with activity being coordinated by the CPCA Skills 
team working with all Local Authority Skills Leads over the next 18 months. 
A needs-based analysis will be utilised to inform the design of projects, the 
delivery mechanism and deployment on the ground, to ensure the projects 
deliver the impact where there is highest need and inequality within the 
Combined Authority’s whole geography. The 3 People and Skills projects 
are: 
 

 Holistic Online Skills Support: This investment will see the 
continuation of Growth Works with Skills, maintaining the Digital Talent 
Platform with access to resources, diagnostic tools, vacancy listing and 
candidate matching will maintain support for employers large and small 
across all six districts. It will also see the integration of Regions of 
Learning providing people with low skill to access credentials that 
demonstrate their capability; providing them with opportunity to 
transition into further or higher education or into work or self-
employment. The Regions of Learning platform will continue to develop 
online credentials via Open Badges, and host opportunities, such as 
internships and early careers vacancies, on the Talent View platform.  

 

 Supported Internships: Consisting of three main areas of activity; 
Personal Skills Analysis to guide individuals in understanding and 
identifying opportunities for re-skilling, up-skilling and re-training. Real-
world experiences of work through funded internships. Funding will be 

Page 25 of 182



provided to employers to provide new work opportunities. Training 
Needs Analysis to identify re-skilling, up-skilling and inclusive 
recruitment practices within a business.  

 

 All Age Careers Service: Working within the current funding 
boundaries of the National Careers Services (NCS) and the Careers 
Enterprise Company (CEC), the service would be expanded to support 
careers related learning in primary school settings, mirroring the 
approach used by CEC for older young people and adults. A localised 
campaign will be launched working with key stakeholders to increase 
awareness of technical routes. Enhanced provision would be offered to 
schools allowing them to access provision such as workshops, Science, 
Technology, Engineering & Maths (STEM) events, and employability 
skills etc.  

 

2.16 In addition, a final project that has been championed by the Police & Crime 
Commissioner is a project to prevent and tackle fly-tipping through 
increased signage, monitoring, education campaigns and sharing best 
practice.  
 

3. COMMENTS OF OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
 
3.1 The comments of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel will be 

circulated separately ahead of the Cabinet meeting. 
 
4. KEY IMPACTS / RISKS 
 
4.1 Budget management risk: At a time of rapidly rising costs, it is important 

to ensure spend within budget, in line with the agreed funding profile and 
that financial regulations are complied with.    Mitigation: Individual project 
funding profiles will be agreed along with an overall programme funding 
profile. Ongoing monitoring of actual spend versus profile will inform 
financial claims submitted in accordance with DLUHC and CPCA claiming 
and reporting requirements.   
 

4.2 Programme Timescales risk: This is an ambitious programme of 
delivery, with the funding yet to be confirmed even though in 2022/23 Q3. 
Mitigation: Individual project plans will inform an overall programme plan 
incorporating design to delivery, this will be continually reviewed and will 
incorporate key delivery and funding milestones. 
 

4.3 Programme Resources risk: The programme itself has multiple projects 
which have to be managed simultaneously and via different delivery 
mechanisms.  Mitigation: High level programme resource plan developed, 
programme management resource established, reporting via agreed 
governance routes and communications strategy with stakeholders. 
 

  

Page 26 of 182



 

5. WHAT ACTIONS WILL BE TAKEN 
 
5.1 Subject to confirmation of UKSPF Funding and the signing of Funding 

Agreements with the CPCA the intention is to bring annual update on 
UKSPF activity. This would also include the approach to the use of any 
future UKSPF funding beyond 2024/25. 

 
 

6. LINK TO THE CORPORATE PLAN, STRATEGIC PRIORITIES AND/OR 
CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 
 

6.1 The delivery of the UKSPF aligns to Huntingdonshire District Council’s 
Corporate Plan which sets out the Council’s objectives, key actions and 
performance measures, the recently revised 2022/23 Corporate Plan is a 
transitional, interim plan at the start of a new four-year administrative term. 
The Council’s objectives are: 
 

 Tackling Climate Change and caring for the environment with 
UKSPF investment looking at future active sustainable travel routes 
and supporting businesses to reduce their carbon emissions through 
business advice and grants to deliver physical improvements to 
buildings. 

 Enhancing employment opportunities and supporting businesses 
with UKSPF activity supporting residents who want to start a business, 
through entrepreneurship programmes and SMEs in the manufacturing 
sector being assisted to improve productivity and digital technologies.  

 Supporting needs of residents through a programme of engagement 
and support focussed on Employment & Skills engaging economically 
inactive through community-based groups and community locations. 

 Strengthening our communities by investing UKSPF to support 
vibrant communities. 

 
7. CONSULTATION 
 
7.1 The Huntingdonshire UKSPF priorities were developed following 

engagement with local businesses and business intermediaries, 
recognised organisations in the voluntary & community sector, drawing 
from draft masterplans and in consultation with Cabinet. Local MPs and 
their constituency offices were briefed on the emerging priorities on the 1 
July 2022 and their feedback taken on board. The priorities for the Rural 
Fund are being informed by an online consultation which closed on the 30 
October 2022. 

 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
8.1 Once the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Investment Plan is formally 

agreed by DLUHC the allocation of funds will be legally covered by a grant 
agreement between DLUHC and the CPCA. The CPCA will in turn issue a 
grant Funding Agreement to Huntingdonshire District Council. This 
Funding Agreement will be subject to review by the Council’s legal team, 
senior officers and members in line with the delegation recommendations.  
 

Page 27 of 182



8.2 Individual contracts with delivery partners will also be subject to review by 
HDC legal team and senior officers and members in line with the 
delegation recommendations.  
 

9. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are a number of delivery mechanisms for the individual projects. In 

the main projects will be managed by existing staff resource, or via 
additional resource built into project costs some funded from UKSF, or 
other sources given the alignment of some activities. The Council will 
receive £39,138.44 to support overall programme management, this is the 
maximum amount available and staff time spent on programme 
management will be claimed from this. 
 

10. HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 As set out in the Community (Transition) Strategy 2021-23, 

Huntingdonshire District Council are committed to supporting residents 
through a positive and ongoing working relationship with local 
communities. Delivery of the Community and Skills employment based 
project will support economically inactive residents via key community 
nodes providing tailored and targeted support, including focus on mental 
health & wellbeing, volunteering as a route to employment and progression 
pathways to further develop skills and employment through existing 
mainstream provision. Support in these areas will directly contribute to 
positive health outcomes.  

 

11. ENVIROMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The Council has a duty to ensure we continue to promote an 

environmentally positive recovery following the Covid-19 pandemic, we 
also have a duty to deliver sustainable place making. The Council has 
direct control of only a tiny proportion of all the carbon emissions within 
Huntingdonshire, but we can adopt a key role to influence the district, 
demonstrating good practice whilst setting policies and strategies to 
influence businesses and communities to tackle climate change whilst 
enabling sustainable living and growth. These principles are embedded 
within the identified UKSPF investment priorities. 
 

11.2 In December 2021 the Council adopted a core set of environmental 
principles, the Council are now committed to the development of a new 
Huntingdonshire Climate Strategy. In October 2022 the Council passed a 
Cost of Living and Climate Change motion that recognises that the current 
cost of living and climate crises require joint attention to support the 
wellbeing of residents and businesses. In passing this motion, the council 
committed to not only the delivery of a Climate Strategy but also that in 
making decisions on investment and delivery we will wherever possible 
seek to contribute to positive environmental and social benefits. 

 

12. EQUALITIES 
  

12.1 The Council has a statutory duty to promote equality of opportunity, 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and foster 

Page 28 of 182



good relations in respect of nine protected characteristics: age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 

12.2 Good planning and effective regeneration can improve environments and 
opportunities for communities experiencing disadvantage. Planning which 
does not adequately engage with or consider the needs of local 
communities is unlikely to improve their life chances and may further 
entrench area-based disadvantage. 

 
13. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS  
 
13.1 To provide Cabinet with an overview of the breadth of activity proposed to 

be delivered through the new Huntingdonshire UKSPF Programme and 
ensure appropriate delegations are in place to progress delivery at pace 
upon confirmation of Huntingdonshire’s allocated UKSPF funding.  

 
 
14. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
  

 UK Government guidance on UKSPF is available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-
prospectus 
 
CPCA UKSPF Investment Plan is available at: Agenda Item No 
(cmis.uk.com), Document.ashx (cmis.uk.com) and Document.ashx 
(cmis.uk.com) 

 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Name/Job Title: Kate McFarlane, Corporate Director (Place) 
Tel No:   01480 388332 
Email:   Kate.McFarlane@huntingdonshire.gov.uk  

Page 29 of 182

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=9sfXAvjk%2bmxL8mdT%2bgAoPSmTdc2GU91fVTZdFlaBGtSwt4vZtqqejA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=9sfXAvjk%2bmxL8mdT%2bgAoPSmTdc2GU91fVTZdFlaBGtSwt4vZtqqejA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=aga24ISaXtf38crVI6fHgG5wR71YlY0FllooQWcE%2bbRMlNx%2fqm8IDg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=oWgTya2dK8gtSKi8z%2f6NCxTwOs6fjF9tRDiYjd3Czlfdj0HPxlNgmQ%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=oWgTya2dK8gtSKi8z%2f6NCxTwOs6fjF9tRDiYjd3Czlfdj0HPxlNgmQ%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
mailto:Kate.McFarlane@huntingdonshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
Title/Subject Matter:   Market Towns Programme – Winter Update 
 
Meeting/Date:   Cabinet – 12 December 2022 
 
Executive Portfolio:   Executive Councillor for Jobs, Economy & Housing 
 
Report by:    Corporate Director (Place) 
 
Ward(s) affected:  All wards 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
This report provides the 2022 Q4 update on the Market Towns Programme (MTP).  
 
The MTP is an ambitious programme of economic led interventions to support 
Huntingdonshire’s town centres both recover from the Covid-19 Pandemic whilst also 
looking forward to renewing and reshaping our town centres and high streets for the 
future in a way that promotes growth, improves experiences, and ensures 
sustainability. The MTP is underpinned by creating a renewed sense of place, igniting 
civic pride, and providing attractive new destinations for our residents and businesses 
alike. The longer-term ambition is to stimulate public and private sector investment, 
bringing forward future opportunities for jobs and skills.  
 
The MTP is funded through a combination of external funding from the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC), Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Combined Authority (CPCA), Huntingdonshire District Council (HDC) Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and National Highways.  
 
This update particularly highlights: 
 

 Consultation activity on the draft masterplans for Huntingdon, St Ives and 
Ramsey that concluded on 14 November 2022 

 Within St Neots, the considerable progress made on the highways projects, 
enabling the commencement of the detailed design stage, ensuring 
procurement of contractors to commence in January 2023 and closer working 
with St Neots Town Council on the Priory Centre.  

 Subject to agreement at Cabinet (Under item 4 on UK Shared Prosperity Fund) 
the release of £155,000 of funding to 14 Towns and Villages to support activities 
and events to support town centre vibrancy and local retailers. 

  

Public 

Key Decision - Yes 

Page 31 of 182

Agenda Item 5



RECOMMENDATION 
 
Cabinet is asked to: 
 

 Note progress on the Market Towns Programme (MTP) over the last quarter. 
 

 Delegate authority to the Corporate Director (Place) in Consultation with the 
Section 151 Officer, Executive Councillor for Jobs, Economy & Housing and 
Executive Councillor for Finance and Resources to submit proposals to the 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) to fully utilise 
unallocated CPCA Accelerated Programme funding ensuring the Huntingdonshire 
allocation is fully utilised by March 2024, subject to CPCA Board approval.   

Page 32 of 182



1. PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 
 
1.1.     To provide an update on activity across the strands of the MTP, the report also 

updates on funding opportunities particularly noting activity on the St Neots 
Fund Future High Street highways related projects, engagement carried out 
regarding the wider draft masterplans for St Ives, Ramsey and Huntingdon and 
the imminent external funding opportunities. 

 
 
2. UPDATE ON MARKET TOWNS PROGRAMME 
 
 ST NEOTS PROGRAMME: 
 
 St Neots Transport Projects - High Street/Market Square/Road Bridge  
 
2.1.     Work has progressed at pace with the St Neots’ Transport schemes in the last 

quarter, with progress made in line with the agreed project plan. Following a 
period of intense activity between July and the end of September work 
commenced on the detailed design stage in October. Cambridgeshire County 
Council and WSP have both been re-appointed to progress work from detailed 
design stage, through to contractor procurement and delivery of the scheme 
itself.  

 
2.2.      Further to the resident and stakeholder engagement events which were 

conducted throughout May 2022, a special briefing was most recently held with 
St Neots Town Council and ward members during October. An additional 
briefing for the Town Council and Ward members is scheduled for December, 
for the purpose of reviewing the first drafts of the detailed scheme designs.  

 
2.3.      At the time of writing the MTP team have planned a week of engagement 

activities in St Neots from the 28th of November to the 1st of December 2022. 
The purpose of which is to inform local businesses, town councillors, market 
traders, residents and other stakeholders on the progress the transport projects 
as well as other activities to date and what to expect moving forward. This period 
of engagement has been widely advertised on social media, with the Town 
Council, businesses and other stakeholders such as neighbouring Parish 
Council’s being approached directly to book time to meet with the team.  

 
2.4.      Prior to works commencing, further briefings and updates will be provided to 

the local community and wider stakeholders via the Council website, social 
media, and the newly re-launched Market Town Newsletter. Residents wanting 
to sign up to this will be able to email the team at 
markettowns@huntingdonshire.gov.uk.  

 
2.5.     The procurement of contractors is scheduled to start in early 2023. Following 

the appointment of a scheme contractor, construction will commence in summer 
2023 with an anticipated completion date of summer 2024.  

 
2.6.     The most significant risk for the transport projects is ensuring that the scheme 

is deliverable within the existing funding envelope. Construction costs in all parts 
of the economy have increased due to inflation and are forecast to continue 
increasing in the near future. Whilst we have allocated significant levels of 
contingency and risk funding to mitigate this issue, we are also investigating 
options for early contractor involvement in the project. This will be undertaken 

Page 33 of 182

mailto:markettowns@huntingdonshire.gov.uk


as part of a ‘buildability’ assessment, to sense check and validate cost 
assumptions, based on contractor’s experience of current market conditions.  

 
2.7.     The type of contract which will be used to procure a construction partner (NEC, 

type C) will also provide contractors with an incentive to reduce scheme costs 
by sharing efficiency savings and costs increases with Huntingdonshire District 
council (HDC). Until procurement has been completed and construction 
commenced, however, the overall risk associated with construction costs 
remains significant.  

 
 
 Old Falcon  
 
2.8.     The Old Falcon is a Grade II listed building and holds a prominent position in 

the Market Square. The building is privately owned and in a poor condition. If 
the building is left with no repair works carried out the Old Falcon will eventually 
fall into further disrepair. We recognise from resident and stakeholder feedback 
that improvements to the Old Falcon are an absolute priority for the town, but 
there are many challenges with delivering these much sought after 
improvements. 

 
2.9.     HDC has been liaising closely with the property owner to identify viable options 

for bringing the building back into active use. In consultation with the existing 
owner a condition survey / structural reports have been completed on the Old 
Falcon. This provides an up-to-date assessment of the building fabric, 
identifying internal and external works required.  

 
2.10.   Following on from this, certain reports have been commissioned to fully 

understand how best to proceed. We are continuing to work with the existing 
owner, HDC internal teams, external technical experts and DLUHC to agree 
how to bring the Old Falcon back into active use. This work is ongoing, and we 
anticipate seeking cabinet approval in Q4 2022/23.  

 
Priory Centre 

 
2.11.   The Priory Centre is an important community facility located in St Neots town 

centre, tenanted by St Neots Town Council. The main functions of the Priory 
Centre include Town Council offices, meeting rooms, a community café, 
theatre/performance space and associated bars.  

 
2.12.   The Council previously commissioned an options feasibility study (by Mott 

Macdonald) for refurbishment and full redevelopment of the Priory Centre. This 
work was undertaken alongside a wider visioning of the Priory Quarter and built 
on earlier works undertaken in the area, especially in relation to flooding. This 
report helped inform the case for investment as well as the steps now being 
taken forward.  

 
2.13.   Our immediate focus is on making improvements to the Priory Centre as a 

building which is in the direct control of HDC (and its tenant, St Neots Town 
Council), as opposed to the wider ‘quarter,’ although funding permitting, we 
would seek to make minor improvements to the outside space with public realm 
improvements, which will be addressed in tandem with efforts to enhance 
access to the Riverside, which was previously referred to as a separate project.  

 

Page 34 of 182



2.14.   To this end, we are developing a stronger partnership approach with the Town 
Council to agree proposals for delivery, including shared objectives. During 
October, the Town Council established a new ‘contact’ group to provide 
feedback and information to the Project Team concerning proposal 
development. The Town Clerk will also form part of this Project Team, which will 
be led by HDC.  

 
2.15.   Furthermore, the Town Council has informed HDC that they are investigating 

the purchase of the neighbouring Oast Lounge. This property is complementary 
in terms of facilities to the Priory Centre. If the Town Council were to acquire 
this property, this would represent a notable change and accordingly HDC and 
the Town Council are rapidly revisiting the refurbishment options for the Priory 
Centre as well as updating costings to take into account the effects of inflation.  
 

2.16.   The Priory Centre project benefits from funding via the Future High Street fund, 
which must be fully spent by March 2024. Consequently, by the end of 22/23 
Q4 we intend to gain agreement on the preferred option allowing 12 months to 
complete detailed design, planning and building regulation approvals and 
completion of construction and/or refurbishment works.  

 
 
 MASTERPLANNING IN ST IVES, HUNTINGDON & RAMSEY  
 
2.17.    The Masterplan(s) for Huntingdon, St Ives and Ramsey were commissioned in 

the summer of 2021 and have been completed by Tetra Tech. The masterplans 
set out a range of aspirational concept schemes.  

 
2.18.   The draft Masterplans were promoted on the Council’s website with residents, 

businesses and other stakeholders invited to submit their responses. 
Engagement meetings have also been held with Ward and Town Council 
members relating to each of the Masterplan towns. 

   
2.19.   The consultation on the documents was due to end on the 28th of October, 

however, was extended to the 14th of November 2022 at the request of St Ives 
Town Council. Whilst feedback received to date has been generally positive in 
Huntingdon and Ramsey the responses from St Ives have raised several points. 
A total of 234 responses were received online, over 30 direct written responses 
from organisations, groups or individuals and feedback received from 8 briefing 
sessions attended by Ward Members, Town Councillors and representatives 
from neighbouring parishes. A full analysis of responses received is currently 
being produced. This analysis (alongside the final masterplan documents) will 
be published on the Council’s website, after consideration by Cabinet.  

 
 ACCELERATED PROJECTS PROGRAMME 
 
2.20.   The Accelerated projects programme has successfully delivered several 

schemes. In St Ives and Huntingdon, projects delivered included 
improvements to the Public Convenience, Parklets and Electric Vehicle 
Charging points. In Ramsey, Parklets, Planters and a Modern Waste Solution 
scheme were also delivered. There are three projects currently in delivery as 
shown below. 
 

 Ramsey Civic Hub 
 

Page 35 of 182



2.21.   The Ramsey Civic Hub, which was acquired by the Town Council, is still in 
delivery. Work commenced on this scheme in July 2022 and is due to conclude 
in this financial year. The second significant Ramsey focused project within the 
Accelerated programme, is the Great Whyte pedestrianisation scheme. This is 
linked to a funding application to the CPCA for the Local Growth Fund project, 
more detail is provided on this project in para 3.1 and the separate paper on 
UKSPF (UK Shared Prosperity Fund). 

 
 Smarter Towns 
 
2.22.   The Smarter Towns project will deliver a standard based Low Power Wide Area 

(LPWA) network within Huntingdon, Ramsey, and St Ives. This will form the 
basis for the deployment of Internet of Things (IoT) devices by the council, 
businesses, and community groups to create a rich data landscape of our 
market towns that can support business to become more efficient and provide 
data to help shape we best support our towns. This can include, for example, 
sensors which can collect data on air quality, pollution, and river levels.   

 
2.23.   This project had been paused due to limited staff resources in the summer prior 

to the appointment of a full programme team. The Market Town Programme 
team is, however, now fully resourced, and the project recommenced in 
November. The scheme has funding of £91,300 and will be delivered in 
partnership with Connecting Cambridgeshire. The Huntingdonshire network will 
subsequently link into a County wide Smart Towns network. We are currently 
updating the Project Scope, including identifying and adjusting, where 
beneficial, sensor locations and communications infrastructure. Full delivery of 
the scheme will be completed by March 2023.  

   
 Wayfinding Project  
  
2.24.   The Wayfinding project is a scheme which had been initially developed in 

2021/22 but which was not taken forward at the time. HDC has recently decided 
to recommence work on this project, and Officers have restarted discussions 
with the main Project Partner, Connecting Cambridge, as to how best to develop 
and deliver this programme.  

 
2.25.   The Wayfinding approach seeks to make best use of the most appropriate 

information, communication, and technology systems as a means of providing 
current information to residents, visitors, and other interested parties in 
Huntingdonshire’s Market Towns. Digital screens and infrastructure will be 
positioned in town centre locations at St Ives, Huntingdon, Ramsey, and St 
Neots.  

 
2.26.   Whilst St Neots was not included in the original Wayfinding project specification, 

we are proposing that (£60K) unspent funds from the Accelerated Funded 
Programme is utilised for this purpose, subject to CPCA Board approval.  

 
2.27.   Initial work undertaken in 2021/22, prior to the previous administrations, 

postponement, included discussion with local stakeholders, identification of 
types and location of ‘digital signage’ in each of the three towns as well as cost 
estimates for same. Subject to agreement, this project may be re-commenced. 
There is an existing £200k budget from within the initial Accelerated Projects 
award of £1.85m of January 2021, providing a total budget of £260K, utilising 
underspend elsewhere in the programme. 

Page 36 of 182



 
 Unallocated / unspent funding 
 
2.28.    In total the Accelerated Fund programme has a confirmed underspend of 

£260K. In addition, there remains £802K of unallocated funds from this 
programme. A total of £1.060M is therefore available for reallocation, subject to 
approval of the combined CPCA.  

 
2.29.    Of these funds, the proposal is to re-allocate £60K towards the Wayfinding 

programme, that was paused in 21/22 Q4 as detailed above in para 2.24. For 
the remaining balance of £1M, we are in the process of identifying potential 
schemes within Huntingdon and/or St Ives to be funded and will be considering 
feedback received from the Master planning process along with wider feedback 
received from residents, on what is most important to them as part of the 
development of a new Huntingdonshire Place Strategy, Huntingdonshire 
Futures. Details of this are available at www.huntingdonshirefutures.net. We will 
be required to provide the CPCA with proposals for use of this funding by mid-
January, for consideration at Board level during March.  

 
 
3. FUTURE FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES AND DELIVERY: 
 
 Local Growth Fund Bid – Ramsey Great Whyte Enhancements  
 
3.1.     The submission to the CPCA Local Growth Fund (LGF) seeks capital funding 

of £1.15 million for an overall project cost of £1.45 million was made in the spring 
2022. The project which is contained within the Ramsey Masterplan (Draft) is 
an innovative initiative that seeks to revitalise the Great Whyte area of Ramsey. 

 
3.2.      It consists of two complementary elements (Produce Hub and public realm 

enhancements) that will significantly enhance the overall physical, economic, 
and social vitality of this section of the Great Whyte. HDC will lead delivery in 
partnership with Ramsey Town Council (RTC), Ramsey Heritage Trust and 
CCC (Cambridgeshire County Council) Highways and will procure design and 
build contractors. 

 
3.3.      As reported previously, HDC submitted a funding application during May 2022 

to the CPCA for £1.15M. A report was scheduled to be considered by the CPCA 
board during October, with a recommendation for approval of this application. 
Due to an unrelated issue, however, this item deferred to the next Board 
meeting on the 30th of November. In anticipation of a successful outcome, HDC 
has begun preparatory discussions with Ramsey Town Council and CCC 
Highways team. Should funding be secured, a combined Project Team will be 
established and briefing. consultative meetings will be scheduled with Town 
Council / Ward members in advance of the formal initiation of the project.  

 
3.4.      Revenue funding of £225k has also been allocated to this scheme from the UK 

Shared Prosperity Fund, as part of the CPCA Investment Plan. The purpose of 
these funds is to provide resources to operate, manage and promote the 
Produce Hub to potential occupants. These funds will be programmed for spend 
in 2023/24 and 2024/25.  

 
 UK Shared Prosperity Fund  
 

Page 37 of 182

http://www.huntingdonshirefutures.net/


 Vibrant Communities  
 
3.5.     The CPCA investment plan, drawing on the UKSPF, was submitted to Central 

Government in August 2022. This included several projects to be delivered 
across Huntingdonshire. Two UKSPF activities are of relevance to the MTP. 
The first is the use of funding to support the Ramsey LGF bid, highlighted in 
para 3.4 above. The second is the bringing together of Vibrant Communities 
(£90K) and Visit Huntingdonshire (£75k) into a single new project. 

 
3.6.     Whilst we have not yet received confirmation from Government to commence 

delivery, we are preparing to do so as soon as this is confirmed. To this end we 
will work with local organisations, including for example, Town and Parish 
Council’s, Business Improvement Districts and others, to develop project 
proposals that can rapidly begin delivery.  

 
3.7.     The total funds available within the Vibrant Communities theme is £155,000, of 

which £20,000 is capital and the remaining revenue. £40,000 revenue and the 
£20,000 capital are scheduled to be spent in 2022/23 (subject to confirmation 
from Government) with the remaining balance to be spent during 2023/24. 
Funding will be allocated to settlements (representing towns/large villages) as 
identified in Huntingdonshire’s current Local Plan and population bands, as per 
Table 1 and 2 below. 

   
 
 
 
Table 1 – Funding bands 
 

Population 
band 

Funding 
allocation 

0 to 5,000 £5,000 

5,001 to 15,000 £10,000 

15,001 and 
above 

£20,000 

 
 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Table 2 - Individual allocations 

 

Location Funding 
allocation 

Kimbolton £5,000 

Page 38 of 182



Buckden £5,000 

Fenstanton £5,000 

Little Paxton £5,000 

Somersham £5,000 

Warboys £5,000 

Brampton £5,000 

Sawtry £10,000 

Godmanchester £10,000 

Ramsey £10,000 

Yaxley £10,000 

St Ives £20,000 

Huntingdon £20,000 

St Neots £20,000 

Total allocated £135,000 

 
 
3.8.      HDC will work with partners in each location to develop a Delivery Plan based 

on a simple proforma. The main requirement for approval of this Plan is that it 
must be aligned with the approved UKSPF Investment Plan. The small amount 
of capital funding available, is not included in the above allocations. These funds 
will be allocated through the Plan development process based on need and 
impact.  

 
 Eligible activities include: 
 
3.9.     Funding to support events (arts, culture, skills, seasonal & environmental 

events) in town centres and large villages as part of a wider package of activity 
to increase up footfall. Visitor economy promotion to build on increased footfall 
and tourism achieved through Welcome Back Fund. Promotion of existing 
farmers and artisan markets; further development of a new high street pop-up 
retail experience to enable home-based makers to highlight their products on a 
rotating and short-term basis. This supports new businesses to have a physical 
platform to launch their brands without the associated cost-prohibitive retail 
costs. Marketing and promotion of the countryside, heritage assets, waterways, 
and sporting activities of the district to drive footfall and tourism.  

 
 
 
4. FINANCE UPDATE 
 
4.1.     The overall sources of confirmed funding for the MTP are shown below in Table 

3. All funding identified below has been secured and is subject to contractual 
obligations and must be spent within the agreed guidelines and allocations only. 
This paper talks about a number of new funding streams, these will only be 
included in the below once funding has been confirmed. The next quarterly 

Page 39 of 182



update will, for the first time show levels of expenditure against external funds 
available.  
 

4.2.     Where CPCA funding is being proposed for reallocation within this report, it 
should be noted it is subject to approval by CPCA. 
 

4.3.      In addition, to the funding shown below, we have received confirmation that 
Cambridgeshire County Council anticipate spending circa £250K in St Neots to 
support highways improvements. This is funding that would have been spent 
even if there wasn’t a St Neots programme, but this work will be scheduled as 
part of the overall St Neots transport projects.   
  

  Table 3: Overall MTP funding sources 
 

Market Towns Regeneration     

St Neots Regeneration - Sources of 
Funds  

£  Comment   

Future High Street Funds (MHCLG now 
DLUHC)  

£3,748,815  Formalised June 2021   

HDC Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  £4,829,943 
 As per HDC Cabinet 
decisions   

CPCA  £3,100,000 
 As per Funding 
Agreement (Dec ’21)   

National Highways  £3,493,218 
 As per decision in 
November 2021   

Sub-total  £15,171,976     

       

CPCA Market Towns Initiative (Huntingdon, 
Ramsey, and St Ives) 

£3,000,000 

(Accelerated delivery 
£2.652M, Master planning 
£0.3M, Footfall cameras 
£42k).  

Sub-total  £3,000,000    

       

TOTAL  £18,171,976    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION  

 
5.1.     St. Neots: At the time of writing a week of engagement is to be held w/c 28th 

November in St Neots town centre to update and discuss the Transport 
schemes with residents, visitors, and businesses. This includes the MTP team 
working from St Neots itself (at the Priory Centre) between Monday and 
Wednesday and being available for discussions with businesses and 
community groups. On the 1st of December, the MTP team will also attend the Page 40 of 182



St Neots Market providing information on the latest plans and schedule for 
delivery to enquirers. Information concerning activities and project designs 
/proposals will also be available online, via social media and through a 
dedicated newsletter for residents, businesses, and other interest parties. A 
further briefing update will be provided to St Neots Town Council and HDC ward 
members in December, following completion of these activities.  
 

5.2.     Masterplans: Engagement has taken place from August 2022 to the 14th of 
November 2022 on the masterplans for St Ives, Huntingdon, and Ramsey. The 
consultation period was extended from the end of October at the request of St 
Ives Town Council. In this period, briefing meetings with Councillors and 
Councils across Huntingdonshire (including wider rural communities) have been 
held concerning the masterplans. An analysis of consultation responses is being 
prepared currently.  

 
6. COMMENTS OF OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
 
6.1.     The comments of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel will be circulated 

ahead of the Cabinet meeting. 
 
7. KEY IMPACTS/RISKS 
 
7.1.     There are several risks associated with delivering an ambitious programme of 

this size and complexity, the notable risks are: 
 
7.1.1.  Budget management risk 
 
           The projects that sit within the MTP are at various stages and therefore, as 

options work progresses and high-level costings begin to emerge, we continue 
to review the individual projects viability and programme impacts, identifying any 
areas of risk. The construction industry has seen materials and labour costs 
significantly increase in cost over the past 12 months. Inflation continues to 
increase. Therefore, as we move from design into delivery any decisions on 
proposed options will require agreement that they can be funded within the 
approved Market Towns programme budget. Mitigation: We will continue to 
monitor the programme funding profile and anticipated spend against budgets, 
updating to Cabinet on a quarterly basis. We will also seek to engage 
Contractors as part of an early-stage pre-procurement process to assess 
‘buildability ’and a sense check of construction costs based on current market 
activity. The MTP team continue to provide regular updates to funding bodies, 
briefing them on estimated costings, risks, issues and inter-dependencies. 

 
7.1.2.  Programme Timescales risk 
 
           This is an ambitious programme of delivery, with the funding for St Neots of 

£3.748m from the FHSF required to be spent by March 2024. The CPCA funding 
of £3.1m also has a deadline of March 2024, they recognise the strategic 
importance of this programme, and it is anticipated there will be some flexibility 
in the delivery timescales. National Highways have also indicated that they 
expect their funding of £3.49m to be spent by September 2024. Mitigation: The 
detailed programme plan covering feasibility, design and delivery phases, will 
be continually reviewed ensuring focus remains on hitting funding milestones, 
claim dates and delivery milestones. The MTP team continue to provide regular 

Page 41 of 182



updates to funding bodies, briefing them on progress, risks, issues and inter-
dependencies.  

 
7.1.3.  Programme Resources risk 
 
           The MTP requires different skills, expertise, and external technical support at 

various stages of the project delivery. The programme itself has multiple 
projects which must be managed simultaneously identifying all 
interdependences across the programme. There is significant internal and 
external stakeholder management and detailed consultation with partners and 
resident/ business groups. This could result in competing priorities across 
organisations that will require careful consideration. Mitigation: As part of the 
project a detailed resources plan and communications strategy with 
stakeholders has been developed to ensure the management of expectations 
and information being shared in a timely manner. The HDC’s website is regularly 
updated with the progress across the core programme sites, more time is being 
invested in engaging stakeholders, a greater presence on social media and re-
vamp of the newsletter. 

 
7.1.4.  Reputational risk 
 
           The MTP is a high priority for the Council and therefore monthly reporting, 

governance and timely decision making are critical to ensure that the 
programme is successfully delivered. Mitigation: The programme governance 
and reporting lines will be continually monitored throughout the next 12 months 
to ensure that the key programme milestones are managed and achieved. 

 
7.1.5.  Changes to Planning Legislation risk 
 
            Recognising the Government’s ambition to overhaul the planning process, 

through the lifetime of this programme such changes may result in delays to the 
process. Mitigation: This situation will be continually monitored, and any impact 
will be reported to on a quarterly basis to Cabinet.  

 
 A full MTP programme risk register is in place along with individual project risk 

registers. 
 
8. LINK TO CORPORATE PLAN 2022-2026 
 
8.1. The delivery of the MTP aligns to HDC’s Corporate Plan which sets out the 

Council’s objectives, key actions, and performance measures, the recently 
revised 2022/23 Corporate Plan is a transitional, interim plan at the start of a 
new four-year administrative term. The Council’s objectives are: 
  

 Enhancing employment opportunities and supporting businesses  

 Supporting the needs of residents  

 Improving the housing situation  

 Strengthening our communities  

 Tackling climate change and caring for the environment 
 
9.  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1. The Council, based on previously successful funding bids and Cabinet 

decisions has entered into several grant agreements with associated delivery 
Page 42 of 182



and outputs frameworks. These are outlined in the Cabinet paper of Summer 
2022.  

 
9.2. All Funding Agreements and contracts are subject to review by HDC legal team 

and senior officers and members as appropriate. Over the next quarter it is 
anticipated that several Funding Agreements / Contracts may require legal 
review. 
 

9.3. The LGF funding bid (as noted above) does not place the Council under any 
legal obligation. Should this be successful the CPCA will communicate the 
details of the grant agreement. Legal advice will be sought to support this as 
required.  

 
9.4. As noted above, consideration of procurement and commercial arrangements 

in relation to the St Neots Transport (HDC / CCC / Contractors) have 
commenced. These will be progressed in the coming weeks.  

 
9.5.  There will be a requirement for ongoing legal input to support the further 

development of project options, these may include the Old Falcon and Priory 
Centre. Other areas include future land and property advice relating for 
example to acquisitions and may be required should there be any contractual 
disputes. Noting there are none currently within the programme.  
 

 
10.  EQUALITIES 

 
10.1. The Council has a statutory duty to promote equality of opportunity, eliminate 

unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and foster good relations 
in respect of nine protected characteristics: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation.  
 

10.2. Good planning and effective regeneration can improve environments and 
opportunities for communities experiencing disadvantage. Planning which does 
not engage with or consider the needs of local communities is unlikely to 
improve their life chances and may further entrench area-based disadvantage.  

 
11.  ENVIRONMENTAL 

 
11.1 The Council has a duty to ensure we continue to promote an environmentally 

positive recovery in Huntingdonshire following the impacts of COVID 19. We 
also have a duty to deliver sustainable place making. In December 2021, the 
Council adopted a core set of environmental principles which the new 
Administration are intending to review and further develop.  

 
11.2. The Council has direct control of only a tiny proportion of all the carbon 

emissions within Huntingdonshire, but we can adopt a key role to influence the 
district, demonstrating good practice whilst setting policies and strategies to 
influence businesses and communities to tackle climate change whilst enabling 
sustainable living and growth. These principles are embedded within the MTP. 

 
 
12.  APPENDICES 
 

Page 43 of 182



 N/A 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Report to Cabinet (FHSF) 13th February 2020 can be found here 
 
Report to Cabinet (FHSF) 28th July 2020 - EXEMPT 
 
Report to Cabinet (Market Towns Accelerated Programme) 18th March 2020 can be 
found here 
 
Report to Cabinet (FHSF) 23rd. February 2021 can be found here 
 
Market Towns Programme Spring 2022 Update to Cabinet, 17 March 2022 can be 
found here 
 
Market Towns Programme Summer 2022 Update to Cabinet June 2022 can be found 
here  
 
Market Towns Summer 2022 Update to Cabinet September 2022 can be found here 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Name/Job Title: Pamela Scott, Regeneration and Housing Delivery Manager 
Tel No: 01480 388486 
Email: Pamela.Scott@huntingdonshire.gov.uk  
 

Page 44 of 182

http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s108511/Future%2520High%2520Street%2520Fund%2520Report.pdf
http://moderngov.huntsdc.gov.uk:8070/documents/s114878/AC19TP%2520-%2520Accelerated%2520COVID-19%2520Towns%2520Programme.pdf
http://moderngov.huntsdc.gov.uk:8070/documents/s114574/Future%2520High%2520Street%2520Fund%2520-%2520Public%2520Report.pdf
http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s119797/7.%2520Market%2520Towns%2520Programme%2520-%2520Spring%2520Update%2520Report.pdf
http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s120301/4.%2520Market%2520Towns%2520Programme%2520-%2520Summer%2520Update%2520Report%2520Final.pdf
http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s120301/4.%2520Market%2520Towns%2520Programme%2520-%2520Summer%2520Update%2520Report%2520Final.pdf
mailto:Pamela.Scott@huntingdonshire.gov.uk


 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

Title/Subject Matter:  Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 
Meeting/Date:  Cabinet – 12 December 2022 
 
Executive Portfolio:  Executive Councillor for Planning 
 
Report by:   Chief Planning Officer 
 
Ward(s) affected:  All or list individual Ward(s) 

 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
Huntingdonshire District Council (HDC) has been a Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) charging authority since May 2012. Under the CIL Regulations 2010 
(as amended), a CIL contribution receiving authority, such as HDC, is required to 
publish an annual Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) covering the previous 
financial year by no later than 31st December including:  
 

 A statement on the infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure which the 
Council intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded by CIL  

 A report about CIL on matters specified in the regulations  

 A report about planning obligations specified in the regulations  
 
The IFS in this report covers the period 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022 and 
provides detail on how the Council is delivering the Council’s Corporate Plan (as 
of March 22) and Local Plan to 2036 with particular regard to infrastructure to 
enable growth. Members are requested to approve the Infrastructure Funding 
Statement as set out at appendix 1. 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
The Cabinet is 
 
RECOMMENDED 
 

a) To approve the statement on the infrastructure projects or types of 
infrastructure which the Council intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly 
funded by CIL stated at para 2.5 in the Infrastructure Funding Statement; 
and 

b) Delegate authority to the Executive Councillor for Strategic Planning in 
consultation with the Chief Planning Officer, to make any final 
amendments to the IFS, if necessary, prior to publication.   

 

Public 
Key Decision - Yes  

Page 45 of 182

Agenda Item 6



 

Page 46 of 182



 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to seek endorsement of the Infrastructure 

Funding Statement (IFS) 2021/22 and the update on the infrastructure 
delivery during this time (to March 22). The statement also sets out 
projects that will or may be, wholly or partly, funded by Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

 
2. WHY IS THIS REPORT NECESSARY/BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Huntingdonshire District Council has been a CIL Charging Authority since 

May 2012. The system provides a framework to fund new infrastructure to 
unlock land for growth, enabling the delivery of the Huntingdonshire Local 
Plan 2036.  
 

2.2 The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No.2) 
Regulations 2019 introduced the legal requirement to publish an annual 
Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS). The IFS must include: 

 

 The Infrastructure List – a statement of the infrastructure projects or types 
of infrastructure which the charging authority will be, or may be, wholly or 
partly funded by CIL (other than CIL to which regulation 59E or 59F 
applies);  

 A CIL report setting out required details on income and expenditure in 
relation to the previous financial year; and  

 A S106 report in relation to planning obligations (S106 agreement 
obligations) for the previous financial year.  
 

2.3 CIL governance outlining how CIL could be spent and the process for 
bidding and approving funding of infrastructure projects from the CIL 
receipts, as shown in the IFS, was originally agreed in October 2012 and 
subsequently updated in December 2015 working with the then 
Huntingdonshire Growth & Infrastructure (HG & I) group, which made 
recommendations to Cabinet. The current governance was approved by 
Cabinet in October 2020.   
 

2.4 This annual IFS covers the financial year 1st April 2021 – 31st March 2022. 
The regulations require the final document to be published on the Council’s 
website by 31st December 2022.  
 

2.5 The IFS provides an opportunity to outline not only what funding has been 
received to support the delivery of infrastructure. It also enables the 
Council to provide information on infrastructure being delivered directly by 
developers, in accordance with S106 legal agreements. Where 
appropriate, infrastructure will be provided directly, in accordance with 
agreed specifications, to reduce the burden of cost on all and risk to the 
Council. 

 
 
 

 

Page 47 of 182



3. ANALYSIS 
 
3.1 The annual Infrastructure Funding Statement 2021/22 is show at Appendix 

1. It is split into sections to cover the regulatory requirements as outlined 
above.  
 

3.2 The statement includes reports outlining information relating to CIL and 
S106 planning obligations that have been approved, had monies received, 
funding allocated to infrastructure projects and funding spent during the 
financial year April 2021 – March 2022. 

 
3.3 The infrastructure list at para 2.5 in the IFS, notes projects which CIL 

receipts could be used to fund, in line with current governance 
arrangements. 

 
4. COMMENTS OF OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
 
4.1 The comments of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel will be 

circulated ahead of the Cabinet meeting. 
 
5. WHAT ACTIONS WILL BE TAKEN/TIMETABLE FOR 

IMPLEMENTATION 
 
5.1 Following approval by Cabinet, the Infrastructure Funding Statement 

2021/22 will be published on the Council’s website by 31st December 2022 
in line with the requirements under Regulation 121A of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as emended). 

 
6. LINK TO THE CORPORATE PLAN, STRATEGIC PRIORITIES AND/OR 

CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 
(See Corporate Plan) 

 
6.1 The IFS helps to show how several of the Council’s priorities for 2018 - 

2022 have and are being delivered, but specifically:  

 Support development of infrastructure to enable growth; and  

 Improve the supply of new and affordable housing, jobs, and community 
facilities to meet current and future need.  

6.2 It will also support the strategic priority to:  

 Create, protect and enhance our safe clean built and green environment. 
 
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
7.1 Regulation 121A requires that no later than 31st December in each 

calendar year, an annual Infrastructure Funding Statement must be 
published covering the previous financial year. This report addresses this 
requirement.  

 
7.2 Section 216 (2) of the Planning Act 2008 as amended by Regulation 63 of 

the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended) states that 
infrastructure ‘includes [and is therefore not limited to]:  
(a) roads and other transport facilities,  
(b) flood defences,  

Page 48 of 182

https://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s122235/Corporate%20Plan%202022-26%20-%20Updated%20Appendix%201.pdf


(c) schools and other educational facilities,  
(d) medical facilities,  
(e) sporting and recreational facilities,  
(f) open spaces.  

 
7.3 The levy may not currently be used to fund affordable housing. 

 
 
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Staff resource is required to fulfil this regulatory requirement. This is 

funded through the administration costs permitted from the CIL receipts. 
 

 
9. HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The use of CIL receipts and S106 planning obligations to deliver 

infrastructure to support growth within the District will, in many instances, 
have a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of residents and 
business employees. 
 

 
10. ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 The use of CIL receipts and S106 planning obligations to deliver 

infrastructure to support growth within the District will, in many instances, 
have a positive impact on the environment and climate change, such as 
where strategic green space is provided or funding has supported projects 
such as cycling infrastructure to encourage a modal shift to active travel 
options. 
 

 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS  
 
11.1 The approval of the Infrastructure Funding Statement, subject to final 

amendments under delegated authority, enables the Council as a CIL 
Charging Authority to meet its statutory duty to publish an annual IFS by 
the 31st December.  
 

11.2 The statement provides clear and transparent reporting of the CIL and 
S106 receipts and allocations and the infrastructure being delivered to 
support the needs of growth. 

 
12. LIST OF APPENDICES INCLUDED 
 

Appendix 1 - Huntingdonshire Infrastructure Funding Statement 2021/22  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49 of 182



13. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 Section 216 of Planning Act 2008 

Huntingdonshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan  
Huntingdonshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan - Infrastructure Schedule June 2017 
Huntingdonshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan Addendum November 2017 
CIL Governance October 2020 
 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Name/Job Title: Claire Burton, Implementation Team Leader 
Tel No:   01480 388274 
Email:   claire.burton@huntingdonshire.gov.uk  

Page 50 of 182

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/29/contents
https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/2694/infrastructure-delivery-plan.pdf
https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/2693/infrastructure-schedule.pdf
https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/2861/infrastructure-delivery-plan-addendum.pdf
http://moderngov.huntsdc.gov.uk:8070/documents/s112140/Community%20Infrastructure%20Levy%20Governance%20report.pdf
mailto:claire.burton@huntingdonshire.gov.uk


Infrastructure Funding Statement 
2021/22

Page 51 of 182



   
 

Page 1 of 53 
 

 
Infrastructure Funding Statement – 
2021/22 
Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................... 3 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) ................................................................................. 3 

Planning Obligation S106 .................................................................................................. 3 

Business support during the Pandemic.............................................................................. 4 

2. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) ............................................................................. 4 

2.1 Headline Figures ...................................................................................................... 5 

2.2 CIL Infrastructure Expenditure in 2021/22 ................................................................ 6 

One Leisure St Ives changing room ................................................................................... 7 

Hail Weston playing fields improvements .......................................................................... 8 

Other CIL Expenditure Relevant to CIL Regulation 59E and 59F ................................... 9 

2.4 CIL Receipts Retained (Allocated and Unallocated) ................................................. 9 

CIL Receipts Retained ..................................................................................................... 11 

2.5 The (CIL) Infrastructure List ................................................................................... 12 

3G Pitch in Ramsey ......................................................................................................... 14 

3. Section 106 (Planning Obligations) .............................................................................. 15 

Section 106 Agreements Signed in 2021/22 ................................................................ 15 

3.1 Headline Figures .................................................................................................... 15 

Monetary Contributions ................................................................................................ 15 

Non-Monetary Contributions ........................................................................................ 16 

3.2 Section 106 Infrastructure Expenditure in 2021/22 ................................................. 22 

Upgrading grounds and facilities at Ramsey Cricket Club ................................................ 22 

Skate Park, Sawtry .......................................................................................................... 23 

Footpath, Bluntisham ....................................................................................................... 24 

Onyett’s Field, Warboys .................................................................................................. 24 

3.3 Other Expenditure of Section 106 Receipts in 2021/22 .......................................... 28 

3.4 Section 106 Receipts Retained (Allocated and Unallocated) .................................. 28 

4.  Section 278 Agreements Report (Optional Reporting) ................................................ 33 

4.2 Summary details of any funding or provision of infrastructure under a highway 
agreement which was provided during the reported year. ............................................ 33 

5.1 ANNEX A: The Regulatory Requirements for Infrastructure Funding Statements ...... 34 

Page 52 of 182

file://nas1/Rural_Renewal/Team/IFS/2021-22/20221114%20IFS%20%2021%7E22%20FINAL%20Clean%20copy%20tracking%20off.docx#_Toc119485774
file://nas1/Rural_Renewal/Team/IFS/2021-22/20221114%20IFS%20%2021%7E22%20FINAL%20Clean%20copy%20tracking%20off.docx#_Toc119485775
file://nas1/Rural_Renewal/Team/IFS/2021-22/20221114%20IFS%20%2021%7E22%20FINAL%20Clean%20copy%20tracking%20off.docx#_Toc119485780
file://nas1/Rural_Renewal/Team/IFS/2021-22/20221114%20IFS%20%2021%7E22%20FINAL%20Clean%20copy%20tracking%20off.docx#_Toc119485787
file://nas1/Rural_Renewal/Team/IFS/2021-22/20221114%20IFS%20%2021%7E22%20FINAL%20Clean%20copy%20tracking%20off.docx#_Toc119485788
file://nas1/Rural_Renewal/Team/IFS/2021-22/20221114%20IFS%20%2021%7E22%20FINAL%20Clean%20copy%20tracking%20off.docx#_Toc119485789
file://nas1/Rural_Renewal/Team/IFS/2021-22/20221114%20IFS%20%2021%7E22%20FINAL%20Clean%20copy%20tracking%20off.docx#_Toc119485790


Page 2 of 53 

The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No.2) Regulations 2019 ... 34 

5.2 ANNEX B: List of Schedule 2 requirements for the Infrastructure Funding Statement 34 

Community Infrastructure Levy .................................................................................... 34 

Section 106 Planning Obligations ................................................................................ 36 

6. Appendices .................................................................................................................. 38 

C1 – Town and Parish Meaningful Proportion Payments ............................................. 38 

C2 – Demand Notices which have been re-issued this reporting period originally issued 
in previous financial years ............................................................................................ 41 

S1 – List of Applications signed during 2021/22 .......................................................... 42 

S2 – List of Obligations entered into in 2021/22 ........................................................... 48 

S3 – Detail of money received during 2021/22 ............................................................. 49 

S4 – Affordable Housing Units to be provided on site .................................................. 51 

Page 53 of 182



   
 

Page 3 of 53 
 

 
1. Introduction 
The Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) provides information on the monetary 
(and non-monetary) contributions sought and received from developers for the 
provision of infrastructure to support development in Huntingdonshire, and the 
subsequent use of those contributions by Huntingdonshire District Council (HDC). 
The report covers the financial year 1 April 2021 – 31 March 2022 

Huntingdonshire seeks developer contributions through the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 agreements (also known as planning 
obligations). 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
CIL was introduced in 2010 and has been charged in Huntingdonshire since 1st May 
2012. CIL is a set charge, based on the gross internal area floorspace (GIA) of 
buildings, on most new developments, to help fund the infrastructure needed to 
address the cumulative impact of development across the District’s area. The CIL 
Charging Schedule, setting out the CIL charging rates, is available on the Council’s 
CIL Charging Schedule webpage. 

Local planning authorities must use CIL to fund ‘the provision, improvement, 
replacement, operation or maintenance of infrastructure to support the development 
of the area’.  There is also a neighbourhood portion of CIL – the ‘meaningful 
proportion’ or ‘Local CIL’ – which is similarly able to fund infrastructure but can also 
fund ‘anything else that is concerned with addressing the demands that development 
places on an area’. Under ‘Local CIL’, a CIL charging authority must pass 15% of 
local CIL receipts, capped in line with the Regulations, to the Parish Council for the 
area where a CIL liable development takes place, rising to 25% if the Parish has a 
Neighbourhood Plan in place. In unparished areas, the CIL charging authority can 
spend equivalent amounts in the locality, following engagement with local 
communities. 

Planning Obligation S106 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 enables a local planning 
authority to enter into a negotiated agreement – a planning obligation - to mitigate 
the impact of a specific development, to make it acceptable in planning terms. The 
planning obligation might, for example, require the provision of or contribution to a 
new or improved road, school, health facility or local green infrastructure. Local 
planning authorities can also seek planning obligations to secure a proportion of 
affordable housing from residential developments. In some instances Section 106 

Page 54 of 182

https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/1048/cil-charging-schedule.pdf


   
 

Page 4 of 53 
 

planning obligations may require payments to be transferred to partner 
organisations, such as Parish Councils. 

Business support during the Pandemic 
The impact of the pandemic on the development industry was still being felt during 
the 2021/2022 financial year.  This, in turn, had an impact on subsequent 
infrastructure delivery. 

CIL Regulation 72A, which was made on the 22nd July 2020 and expired on 31st July 
2021, allowed agreement to deferral of CIL payments due to the impact of Covid-19. 
Fourteen businesses were supported during this period of which five of these were 
during the financial year being reported on. The Council has continued to work 
closely with developers during this time to provide support, enabling delivery to 
proceed during what have been difficult times. The delivery of developments and 
associated infrastructure achieved during this time, as outlined within this report 
below recognises this proactive support and collaboration. 

2. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
A CIL charge is payable either within 60 days of the commencement of a 
development, or within the terms of an instalment policy set by the CIL charging 
authority. In Huntingdonshire, CIL is payable in accordance with an agreed 
Instalment Policy unless there is a disqualifying event, in which case immediate 
payment is required.  

The CIL Demand Notice (the invoice issued on commencement of a development 
site) sets out the whole sum payable and the associated instalments; therefore, CIL 
Demand Notices issued during a particular year do not necessarily equate to the CIL 
sums likely to be received during that year and can take up to 720 days to be paid. In 
addition, developments can be altered through further planning permissions over 
time, often resulting in revised Demand Notices needing to be issued. If a Demand 
Notice is issued and then re-issued in the same reporting year, only the re-issued 
Notice would be included within the figure for CIL invoiced during the year. If the 
Demand Notice is re-issued from a previous financial year, this will be reported again 
as it is the latest demand notice issued. If this is the case, Appendix C2 will identify 
the developments that those relate to. 

Page 55 of 182

https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/1175/cil-instalment-policy.pdf


   
 

Page 5 of 53 
 

2.1 Headline Figures 

CIL invoiced (set out in Demand Notices1) in 
2021/22 

£13,940,029.39 

CIL receipts2 received in 2021/22 £8,976,972.49 
CIL receipts that CIL regulations 59E and 59F 
applied to3 

£11,595.48  

CIL expenditure4 in 2021/22 £2,559,878.09 
CIL retained5 at end of 2021/22 £37,031,457.79 

 

 
1 Includes any late payment or other surcharges, and interest, included in Demand Notices. 
 
2 Total CIL receipts during reported year, which includes any land and infrastructure “payments” 

received as “In-Kind” CIL payments; any CIL receipts subsequently set aside for CIL administration 
and ‘Local CIL’ purposes; any CIL surcharges/ interest received, and CIL received for any other 
reason. 

 
3 The total amount of CIL that was relevant to CIL regulation 59E (CIL previously paid to a Parish or 

Town Council under CIL Regulation 59A or 59B which has subsequently been recovered from that 
Parish Council) and CIL regulation 59F (a proportion of CIL that may be set aside to spend in the 
locality of a CIL liable development, which would otherwise have been paid to a Parish or Town 
Council if such a Council existed in the area where the CIL charge was incurred). 

 
4 Actual CIL expenditure during the reported year, regardless of when received, including ‘Local CIL’ 

allocations both where spent by the charging authority under CIL regulation 59E and 59F, and 
where passed to Parish/ Town Councils under regulation 59A or 59B, whether subsequently spent 
or not by that Council. Also includes CIL passed to external organisations under regulation 59(4) 
whether subsequently spent or not; CIL spent on administration of CIL; CIL “expenditure” in regard 
to any land and infrastructure payment received as “In-Kind” CIL payments from the point any 
development on the land is commenced or completed, and CIL refunded due to overpayments. 

 
5 Total CIL retained – whenever received and including CIL retained to which regulation 59E and 59F 

applied.  

Page 56 of 182



   
 

Page 6 of 53 
 

 

 

2.2 CIL Infrastructure Expenditure6 in 2021/22 

Summary details of the items of infrastructure on which CIL (including land 
payments) has been spent in 2021/22, and the amount of CIL spent on each item: 

Infrastructure project CIL Amount Spent 
Buckden, The Valley £441,750.01 
Great Paxton enhancement to play equipment £2,540.00 
Great Staughton replacement streetlights £1,072.50 
Hail Weston playing field equipment £28,071.00 
Huntingdon Sailing Club boatshed £25,000.00 

 
6 ‘Infrastructure expenditure’ mainly relates to CIL spent by the reporting authority but this section can 

include details of infrastructure provision undertaken by an external organisation who has been 
passed CIL. 

The Valley, Buckden 
 
£441,750.01 of £450,000.00 CIL funding has been spent, so far, on improving the 
3.5 acre nature reserve in Buckden known as ‘the Valley’. This had a total project 
cost of £469,775.00.  This project was allocated funding in 2020/21 and the 
majority of the works were completed in 2021/22. There is £8,249.99 to be spent 
in 2022/23 to fully complete this project, the works have included: 
 

• Restoring the pond 
• Clearing the vegetation 
• Creating insect habitats, restocking with fish, and creating a small breeding 

island 
• Improving accessibility with upgraded paths and new decking for 

community access 
 

                         

Page 57 of 182



   
 

Page 7 of 53 
 

Infrastructure project CIL Amount Spent 
Ramsey 3G pitch £120,000.00 
Spaldwick hardstanding and gates for allotment £15,000.00 
Stilton recreation space & street lighting7 £9,770.09 
St Ives One Leisure changing rooms £150,000.00 
Warboys purchase of land for open space £20,000.00 
Warboys sports field drainage £18,500.00 
Yaxley zebra crossing8 £5,607.35 
Total £837,310.95 

 
See 2.4 (d) for other projects allocated funding but not spent in 2021/22. 
 

 
 

 
7 The project at Stilton was initially allocated £18,552.00 but came in under budget. 
8 The project at Yaxley was initially allocated £10,000.00 but came in under budget. 

One Leisure St Ives changing room 
£150,000 of CIL funding has been spent on improving the lobby and swimming 
changing facilities at One Leisure in St Ives, which had a total project cost of 
£400,000.00.  This project was allocated funding in 2020/21 and completed in 
2021/22.  It included: 
 

• Redesigning a lobby and male change area into an improved layout 
• Separate gender changing areas for school use 
• Accessible changing rooms and showers 
• New lockers 

 

   

Page 58 of 182



   
 

Page 8 of 53 
 

 
 
2.3 Other CIL Expenditure in 2021/22 
 
2.3 (a). Total amount of CIL spent in 2021/22 on repaying money borrowed, 

including any interest: 
 
Infrastructure Item CIL Spent Repaying Money 

Borrowed 
N/A N/A 

 
2.3 (b). Total amount of CIL spent on administrative expenses in 2021/22 and that 

amount expressed as a percentage of the total CIL received in 2021/22 
 
CIL Spent on Administration Percentage of Total CIL Received 

£180,384.15 2.01% 
 
2.3 (c). The amount of CIL passed to any Parish or Town Council under CIL 

regulations 59A and 59B9: 
 
CIL proportion passed to Parish/Town Councils                                            CIL 

Amount  
15% payments £979,915.42 
25% payments £562,267.57 
Total payments £1,542,182.99 

 
9 See appendices (C1) for full breakdown of payments to each town/ parish. 
 

Hail Weston playing fields improvements 
 

£28,071 of CIL funding has been spent on additional play equipment in Hail 
Weston in order to improve wellbeing and socialisation in the village, which had a 
total project cost of £35,177.64.  This project was allocated funding in 2020/21 
and completed in 2021/22.  It included: 

• New adult fitness equipment 
• Improved safety flooring 
• Swings for older children 
 

                              

Page 59 of 182



   
 

Page 9 of 53 
 

 
2.3 (d). The amount of CIL passed to external organisations10  under CIL regulation 

59(4) . 
 

 
 
2.3 (e). Items of infrastructure to which the CIL receipts to which regulations 59E and 

59F applied have been allocated or spent, and the amount of expenditure 
allocated or spent on each item 

 
Settlement Item of Infrastructure Amount allocated Amount Spent 

Winwick Purchase of MVAS11  £6,000.00 £0.00 

Other CIL Expenditure Relevant to CIL Regulation 59E and 59F12 

 

2.4 CIL Receipts Retained (Allocated13 and Unallocated) 

2.4(a). The total amount of CIL receipts, collected by the authority, or by another 
person on its behalf, before the reported year and which have been allocated 
in the reported year 

 

 

 

 

 
10 Subject to regulations 59A, 59E, 59F, 60 and 61. 
 
11 MVAS – mobile vehicle activated sign 
 
12 Reporting authorities should be clear in this section when infrastructure provision (or provision of 

“anything else that is concerned with addressing the demands that development places on an area”) 
was undertaken in respect of regulation 59E and 59F. Parish/ Town Councils are separately 
required to report on CIL sums received through regulation 59A and 59B. 

 
13 ‘Allocated’ means CIL sums retained by the reporting authority which have, or knowingly will be, 

passed to an internal team to fund a specific infrastructure project or infrastructure type. ‘Allocated’ 
also includes sums which will knowingly be passed to an external organisation, but which are yet to 
be passed. 

 
   
 

£567,310.95 

None  

£2,156,320.00  

 

Page 60 of 182



   
 

Page 10 of 53 
 

2.4(b). The total amount of CIL receipts14, received prior to 2021/22, which had not 
been allocated (to an infrastructure project or item) by the end of 2021/22]. 

 

 

2.4 (c). The total amount of CIL receipts, whenever collected including 2021/22, 
which were allocated (whether allocated prior to or during 2021/22) but not 
spent 

 

 
 
2.4 (d). In relation to CIL receipts, whenever collected, which were allocated 

(whether allocated prior to or during 2021/22) but not spent during the 
reported year, summary details of the items of infrastructure on which CIL 
(including land payments) has been allocated, and the amount of CIL 
allocated to each item: 

 
Allocated CIL Receipts 15 
 

Settlement Infrastructure Project CIL Amount 
Allocated 

CIL Amount 
Spent to date 

Year 
Allocated 

Alconbury 
Weald (serving 
the whole 
district area) 

New special school to 
serve Huntingdonshire 
located at Alconbury 
Weald 

£4,000,000.00 £0.00 2020/21 

Brampton & 
Buckden 

Great Ouse Valley Right 
of Way improvements 

£50,000.00 £0.00 2021/22 

Buckden  
 

Buckden-Huntingdon Safe 
Cycling and Walking 
Route  

£100,000.00  
 

£0.00 2020/21  
 

Buckden The Valley £450,000.00 £441,750.01 2020/21 
Fenstanton  Fenstanton Village Hall  £75,000.00  £0.00 2020/21  
Godmanchester  
 

Godmanchester Mill Weir 
Open Space 
Improvements  

£248,000.00  
 

£0.00 2019/20  
 

Godmanchester Community Nursery £45,000.00 £0.00 2021/22 
Holywell-cum-
Needingworth 
Ward, 
Somersham, 
and Warboys  

B1040 Wheatsheaf 
Road/Somersham Road 
Accident Reduction 
Scheme, Holywell-cum-
Needingworth Ward, 
Somersham, and Warboys 

£500,000.00  
 

£0.00 2020/21  
 

 
14 Excluding CIL admin and payments of ‘meaningful proportion’ to Parish/Town councils 
 
15 Since the last Infrastructure Funding Statement the project at Holywell-cum-Needingworth that was 
allocated £49,500 towards a new Parish Hub has been withdrawn by the applicant. 

£17,928,693.40 

£12,685,669.99 

Page 61 of 182



   
 

Page 11 of 53 
 

Settlement Infrastructure Project CIL Amount 
Allocated 

CIL Amount 
Spent to date 

Year 
Allocated 

Huntingdon Hinchingbrooke Country 
Park Improvement Project 

£1,495,184.00 £0.00 2021/22 

Huntingdon Hinchingbrooke Hospital 
Redevelopment Phase 2 – 
Main Theatres 

£271,000.00 £0.00 2021/22 

Huntingdon Sailing Club Boatshed £25,000.00 £0.00 2020/21 
Kimbolton & 
Stonely  

Raised zebra crossing, 
B645 Kimbolton  

£20,000.00  
 

£0.00 2020/21  
 

Little Paxton  
 

Extension to Little Paxton 
Lawn Cemetery  

£30,600.00  
 

£0.00 2020/21  
 

Ramsey Ramsey Skate Park £50,000.00 £0.00 2021/22 
Ramsey St 
Mary 

Ramsey St Mary’s 
Recreation Ground 

£47,136.00 £0.00 2021/22 

Sawtry 3G Football Pitch £150,000.00 £0.00 2021/22 
St Ives  St Ives Park Extension £80,000.00  £0.00 2019/20  
St Neots  St Neots Riverside Park 

Path/Cycle Improvements  
£445,000.00  £0.00 2019/20  

St Neots St Neots Future High 
Street Fund 

£4,830,000.00  
 

£0.00 2020/21  

St Neots  Priory Park mains power 
supply, St Neots  

£15,500.00  £0.00 2020/21  
 

Warboys  Warboys Village Hall  £200,000.00 £0.00 2019/20 
 Total £13,127,420.00 £441,750.01  
     

CIL Receipts Retained 
2.4 (e). Summary details of any Notices served in accordance with regulation 59E (to 

recover CIL previously passed to a Parish or Town Council) and whether 
sums had been recovered by end of 2021/22:  

 

2.4 (f). CIL receipts received in 2021/22 retained at the end of 2021/22 (other than 
those to which CIL regulation 59E and 59F applied): 

 

N/A - No Notices have been issued 

 

£7,254,405.35 

Page 62 of 182



   
 

Page 12 of 53 
 

2.4 (g). CIL receipts received before 2021/22 retained at the end of 2021/22 (other 
than those to which CIL regulation 59E and 59F applied)16: 

 

2.4 (h). CIL receipts received in 2021/22 to which CIL regulation 59E or 59F applied, 
retained at the end of 2021/22: 

 

2.4 (i). CIL receipts received prior to 2021/22 to which CIL regulation 59E or 59F 
applied, retained at the end of 2021/22: 

 

2.5 The (CIL) Infrastructure List  

Regulation 121A(1)(a) requires the infrastructure funding statement to include: 

A statement of the infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure which the 
charging authority intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded by CIL (other 
than CIL to which regulation 59E or 59F applies) (“the infrastructure list”). 

Projects to be delivered allocated funding  
District/Ward Project 
Alconbury Weald  New special school to serve Huntingdonshire located at 

Alconbury Weald  
Brampton & Buckden Great Ouse Valley Right of Way improvements 
Buckden  Buckden-Huntingdon Safe Cycling and Walking Route 
Buckden Valley of Buckden £8,249.99 outstanding 
Fenstanton  Fenstanton Village Hall  
Godmanchester  Godmanchester Mill Weir Open Space Improvements  
Godmanchester Community Nursery 
Holywell-cum-
Needingworth 

B1040 Wheatsheaf Road / Somersham Road, St Ives 
Accident Reduction Scheme 

Huntingdon Boatshed  
Huntingdon Hinchingbrooke Country Park Improvement Project 

 
16 Amounts received up to 2020/2021 minus capped non-parish amounts received up to the end of 
21/22 where Reg 59F applies 

£30,599,534.30 

£11,595.48 

£3,233.61 

Page 63 of 182



   
 

Page 13 of 53 
 

Projects to be delivered allocated funding  
District/Ward Project 
Huntingdon Hinchingbrooke Hospital Redevelopment Phase 2 – 

Main Theatres 
Kimbolton & Stonely  Raised zebra crossing, B645 Kimbolton  
Little Paxton  Extension to Little Paxton Lawn Cemetery 
Ramsey Ramsey Skate Park 
Ramsey St Mary Ramsey St Mary’s Recreation Ground 
Sawtry Community 3G Pitch 
St Ives  St Ives Park Extension 
St Neots Future High Street Fund 
St Neots  Priory Park Mains Power 
St Neots Riverside Park Path/Cycle Improvements 
Warboys Village Hall 

 

Since April 2022 the following projects have been agreed through the Governance 
Process: 
 

Future Agreed Projects to be delivered allocated funding in 2022/23 
District/Ward Project 
Alconbury Weald Air Ambulance Facility 
Alconbury Weald NHS Health Facility 
Elton Road Safety Table 
Glatton Village Hall Roof Replacement 
Godmanchester Astro Turf Football Pitch 
Great Gransden Community Playground 
Ramsey Pavilion Refurbishment 
Sawtry Pavilion Extension 
Upwood Bentley Close Playground Works 

 

Under governance arrangements agreed by Cabinet on 22nd October 2020 two 
funding rounds will be held annually. The Council may allow for other allocations to 
be made outside of the rounds if it is considered that exceptional circumstances 
exist.  
 

CIL funds could, in addition to the above, be allocated towards the following, if 
approved via the appropriate governance structure noted above:  
 

• Strategic Transport including items such as A428, A141, A14, A1, and East-
West Rail; and  

• Supporting the delivery of growth in the District, as identified in the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) and HDC's Corporate Plan.  
 

The Council will periodically review its funding priorities for CIL. 

Page 64 of 182



   
 

Page 14 of 53 
 

 

  

3G Pitch in Ramsey 
This project was to install a new full-sized 3G pitch in Ramsey. The project was 
completed with funding from both the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and 
Section 106 (S106) Contributions, amongst other external funding. This project 
was allocated CIL funding in 2019/20 and completed on 31st July 2021.  The 
S106 funding was secured under planning application 16/00311/FUL – Land 
Adjacent St Marys Road Industrial Estate, St Marys Road, Ramsey – 
Construction of 52 dwellings and associated infrastructure landscaping and 
parking. £120,000 of CIL funding and £27,728 of S106 contributions has gone 
towards this project. This project supports growth within Huntingdonshire by: 

• providing better opportunities for sport within the local community 
• providing recreation and community facilities for Ramsey 

 

Page 65 of 182



   
 

Page 15 of 53 
 

3. Section 106 (Planning Obligations)  
Planning obligations within a Section 106 agreement will be handled by the relevant 
authority as stipulated within the individual agreement. Section 106 agreements are 
often signed jointly by Huntingdonshire District Council and Cambridgeshire County 
Council due to the kinds of infrastructure which will be delivered as part of the 
relevant developments. It should be noted that although Huntingdonshire District 
Council is signatory to those agreements, those infrastructure items under the 
responsibility of Cambridgeshire County Council will be reported within their own 
Infrastructure Funding Statement, as obligations entered into with County Council.   

Section 106 Agreements Signed in 2021/2217  

Section 106 Agreements Signed in 
2021/22 
S106 Agreements 13 
Deeds of Variation 7 
Unilateral Undertakings 4 
Total agreements signed 24 

3.1 Headline Figures 

Monetary Contributions 

Monetary Contributions 
Total money to be provided18 through planning obligations 
agreed in 2021/22 

£ 1,321,439.04 

Total money received19 through planning obligations 
(whenever agreed) in 2021/22 

£ 469,411.74 

Total money, received through planning obligations 
(whenever agreed), spent20 in 2021/22 

£ 604,870.91 

 
17 See appendix (S1) for the list of applications. 
 
18 Sums to be provided that are yet to be confirmed have been estimated. 
     See appendix (S2) for details. 
 
19 Including sums received for monitoring in relation to the delivery of s106 obligations. 
    See appendix (S3) for details. 
 
20 “Spent” includes sums transferred to an external organisation to spend but does not include sums 

held internally by HDC, whether allocated or otherwise to a specific infrastructure project or type. 
Total money spent also includes sums spent on monitoring the delivery of S106 obligations. 

 

Page 66 of 182



   
 

Page 16 of 53 
 

Monetary Contributions 
Total money, received through planning obligations 
(whenever agreed), retained21 at the end of 2021/22 
(excluding “commuted sums” for longer term maintenance) 

 
£ 1,110,893.31 

Total money, received through planning obligations 
(whenever agreed), retained at the end of 2021/22 as 
“commuted sums” for longer term maintenance 

 
£ 982,852.39 

Non-Monetary Contributions 

Non-Monetary Contributions 

Total number of affordable housing units to be provided 
through planning obligations agreed in 2021/22 22 

336 

Total number of affordable housing units which were 
provided23 through planning obligations (whenever agreed) 
in 2021/22 

255 

Total number of school places for pupils to be provided 
through planning obligations agreed in 2021/22 

This figure will 
be reported in 
the 
Infrastructure 
Funding 
Statement 
produced by 
Cambridgeshire 
County Council 

 
Summary details outside of the above table on any other non-monetary 
contributions24 to be provided through Section 106 planning obligations which 
were agreed in 2021/22 are outlined in the table below. 
 
Please note that where reference is made in the table below to illustrative or 
indicative layouts/ masterplans, the figure given for the area of green space to be 
provided may not reflect what is eventually provided. All Section 106 contributions in 
any given agreement are subject to implementation of the relevant planning 
permission and may be renegotiated at a later stage. 

 
21 ‘Retained’ refers to S106 sums remaining unspent including sums both ‘allocated’ and ‘unallocated’ 

and does not include in this table commuted sums which are for longer term maintenance. 
 
22 See appendix (S4) for details. 
 
23 This is not a regulatory requirement, but it is included for clarity and transparency. 
     See Annual Monitoring Report - Part 1 (Housing Supply) 2021/22  
 
24 This includes any land or infrastructure to be provided. 

Page 67 of 182

https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/planning/local-plan-to-2036/monitoring-research-and-evidence-base/


   
 

Page 17 of 53 
 

Planning reference  
and site proposal 

Planning 
agreement  

Settlement Type of 
infrastructure  

Further detail 

18/02726/FUL  
 
Phased residential development of 
49 dwellings with access, parking, 
landscaping and associated works. 

Unilateral 
Undertaking 
– Dated 
15/02/2022 

St Ives Green Space 
Land 
Provision 

This development generates in the 
region of 2,300 square meters of public 
open space including 1,000 square 
meters of continuous green space where 
children can stretch their legs and play. 
 

19/00038/OUT 
 
Outline planning application for 
residential development of up to 30 
dwellings and a care home of up to 
70 beds, with all matters reserved 
except for the two main vehicular 
accesses (phased development) 

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
19/04/2021 

Brampton Green Space 
Land 
Provision 
 

The development generates a 
requirement for in the region of 1400m2 
of Public Open Space including 500m2 
of continuous green space where 
children can play. 
 

19/00552/OUT 
 
Residential development of up to 
100 dwellings including access, 
open space, green infrastructure, 
landscaping and associated 
infrastructure including sustainable 
urban drainage features. All matters 
reserved apart from access. 

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
30/06/2021 

Ramsey Green Space 
Land 
Provision 
 
 
 
 
Biodiversity/ 
Wildlife 
Mitigation 

The development generates a 
requirement in the region of 4700m2 of 
Public Open Space including 1800m2 of 
continuous green space where children 
can stretch their legs and play. 
 
A large area of land to the North East of 
Ramsey within the applicant’s ownership 
which would be used for biodiversity 
enhancements including connectivity for 
enhances ditched and an off-site 
grassland. There will also be an on-site 
created plantation woodland. 

P
age 68 of 182



   
 

Page 18 of 53 
 

Planning reference  
and site proposal 

Planning 
agreement  

Settlement Type of 
infrastructure  

Further detail 

19/01445/FUL 
 
Demolition of Existing Buildings, 
Erection of Motorway Service Area 
(a sui generis use) comprising of an 
Amenity Building, Fuel Station, 
Parking and Ancillary Development
  

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
13/05/2021 

Sawtry Biodiversity/ 
Wildlife 
Mitigation 
 
 
Parking 

The development proposes an on-site 
created plantation woodland and 
enhanced off-site grassland. 
 
Parking restrictions on roads including 
but not limited to Toll Bar Way, Green 
End Road and Fen Lane in Sawtry. 

19/02280/FUL 
 
Refurbishment of The Lodge and its 
retention as a single dwelling, the 
erection of 18 dwellings (including 
five units of Affordable Housing) 
with associated private amenity 
spaces and parking, the provision of 
public open space, landscaping, and 
improved vehicular and pedestrian 
access 

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
19/07/2021 

St Ives Green Space 
Land 
Provision 
 
 
 

The proposed development would 
generate a requirement for 859 square 
metres of green space on the site. 

19/02340/FUL 
 
Enabling development for the 
conversion and extension of existing 
barn/outbuilding to provide 
additional accommodation and 
connection to Farmhouse with 
glazed link and the erection of new 
single-storey dwelling 

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
05/07/2021 

Great Paxton Heritage 
Asset 

Development and conservation of a 
heritage asset which is Grade II Listed, 
which is currently in a state of repair and 
unused.  

P
age 69 of 182



   
 

Page 19 of 53 
 

Planning reference  
and site proposal 

Planning 
agreement  

Settlement Type of 
infrastructure  

Further detail 

20/00208/OUT 
 
Proposed residential development 
(rural exception site) comprising of 6 
affordable units and 4 open market 
units with approval sought for 
access, scale, layout and 
appearance. 

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
03/08/2021 

Holme Open Space 
Land 
Provision 
 

The proposed development would 
generate a requirement for 477 square 
metres of green space on the site. 
 

20/00285/FUL 
 
Demolition of existing structures and 
proposed erection of 94 dwellings 
together with associated works 
including a pedestrian boardwalk. 

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
23/03/2022 

St Ives Green Space 
Land 
Provision 
 
 

This development generates a 
requirement for 3,371sq.m of Public 
Open Space including 1500m2 of 
continuous green space where children 
can stretch their legs and play. The 
scheme provides 3,800sq.m of open 
space, which excludes the eastern field, 
a significant over-provision of open 
space. 

20/00308/OUT 
 
Outline planning application with all 
matters reserved apart from access 
for the erection of up to 24 
residential dwellings, including 
affordable housing (Use Class C3) 
together with parking areas, 
landscaping and other associated 
infrastructure, following the 

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
14/07/2021 

Warboys Green Space 
Land 
Provision 
 

This development generates a 
requirement for 1240m2 of public open 
space, including 490m2 of continuous 
green space for children to play. 

P
age 70 of 182



   
 

Page 20 of 53 
 

Planning reference  
and site proposal 

Planning 
agreement  

Settlement Type of 
infrastructure  

Further detail 

demolition of no.21 Ramsey Road 
and associated outbuildings. 
20/00863/OUT 
 
Proposed development of up to 87 
dwellings to include public open 
space, landscaping, access 
(including widening of Tunkers 
Lane) and associated works. 
Approval sought for Access at this 
stage with Layout, Landscaping, 
Scale and Appearance as reserved 
matters. 

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
30/06/2021 

Ramsey Green Space 
Land 
Provision 
 
 
 
Highway 
 
 
Biodiversity/ 
Wildlife 
Mitigation 

This development generates a 
requirement 4150 square metres of 
public open space including 1600 
square metres of continuous green 
space where children can play safely. 
 
To make improvements to the junction at 
Tunkers Lane. 
 
To create new meadow and scrub 
habitats on an arable field off Overcote 
Lane, Needingworth on the edge of the 
Ouse Valley. 

20/00896/OUT 
 
Outline application for a residential 
development of up to 83 homes and 
all ancillary works.  All matters 
reserved except access. 

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
20/12/2021 

St Neots Green Space 
Land 
Provision 
 
 

This development generates a 
requirement in the region of 3900m2 of 
Public Open Space including 1500m2 of 
continuous green space for children to 
play. A Learned Area of Play is included 
on the indicative layout. 

20/01407/OUT 
 
Outline planning application for the 
residential development of up to 340 
dwellings alongside associated site 
infrastructure, open space (including 
provision of a Neighbourhood 

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
05/11/2021 

Sawtry Green Space 
Land and 
Open Space 
Provision 
 
 
 

This development generates a 
requirement in the region of 16,200m2 of 
Public Open Space, including 6400m2 of 
continuous green space where children 
can stretch their legs and play. A 
minimum of one NEAP play area for this 

P
age 71 of 182



   
 

Page 21 of 53 
 

Planning reference  
and site proposal 

Planning 
agreement  

Settlement Type of 
infrastructure  

Further detail 

Equipped Area for Play) and 
provision of land earmarked for a 
primary school (Use Class D1), with 
all matters reserved except for 
means of access and landscaping. 

 
 
 

size of development (1000sqm) is 
expected. 
 
 

20/01915/FUL 
 
Erection of 12 affordable houses, 
new vehicular access and 
alterations to the public footpath 

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
24/06/2021 

Great Staughton Green Space 
Land 
Provision 
 
 

This development generates a 
requirement in the region of 488m2 of 
Public Open Space (POS) including 
190m2 continuous green space where 
children can play. 

20/02540/FUL 
 
Full planning application for 54 
dwellings. 

S106 
Agreement 
– Dated 
19/07/2021 

Godmanchester Public Open 
Space 
Provision 

A Trim Trail has been secured for 
additional play provision at Bearscroft, 
which includes equipment aimed at older 
children. 

P
age 72 of 182



   
 

Page 22 of 53 
 

3.2 Section 106 Infrastructure Expenditure in 2021/22 

 

Upgrading grounds and facilities at Ramsey Cricket Club 
 

Ramsey Cricket Club has received Section 106 money towards upgrading their 
grounds and facilities. The total amount spent at Ramsey Cricket Club in 2021/22 is 
£31,565.54.  This money was received under planning application 18/01692/FUL - 
Land West of Garden Court and 1 to 16 Upwood Road, Bury - Erection of 92 dwellings 
alongside associated site infrastructure, open space (including provision of a Local 
Area for Play) and landscaping. The money has been put towards: 
 

• upgraded nets. 
• new digital scoreboard. 
• replacement sight screen panels. 
• new pitch marker discs. 
• new boundary rope. 

 

  

 

Page 73 of 182



   
 

Page 23 of 53 
 

 
 
 
 

Skate Park, Sawtry 
 

Sawtry Parish Council has received S106 funding towards the provision of a brand-new 
Skate Park, which opened in Summer 2021. The open day in September 2021 was a 
huge success and the facility has been very popular within the local community ever 
since and  has been a  great way to encourage people to stay active. The total amount 
from Section 106 obligations was £79,805.52.  This money was received under 
planning application 17/00077/OUT - Land South West of Mill Cottage, Gidding Road, 
Sawtry - Outline planning application for phased development of up to 295 residential 
dwellings, access and associated works all other matters reserved. The works 
included: 
 

• Skate Park design work 
• Digging and clearing the area 
• Installation of ramp surfaces 

  

Page 74 of 182



   
 

Page 24 of 53 
 

 
 

 
 

Footpath, Bluntisham 
 

Bluntisham Parish Council received Section 106 money towards providing access 
to public open space.  The sum of  £11,737.93 was received under planning 
application 18/00102/FUL - Land West Of 52, Wood End, Bluntisham. The funds 
were used towards the costs of providing a footpath to link Nobles Lane footpath 
with Meridian Wood . The works were completed and the footpath became 
available for use in December 2021 and included: 

• Installing fencing  
• Providing drainage 
• Clearing and tidying the area 

 
 

  Onyett’s Field, Warboys 
 

Warboys Parish Council received S106 funding towards the provision and 
maintenance of Open Space. The money was used to purchase 6 acres of land, 
known as Onyett’s Field. The field comprises 2.485 hectares (6.14 acres) of land 
to the East of the village. The sum of £14,510.92 was received under planning 
application 1301316FUL - Land Rear Of 64 High Street, Warboys - Erection of 
thirteen new dwellings. The field is now available for the enjoyment of the public 
and it is intended that the land be retained as an unspoilt wildlife haven.  

 

  

 

 

Page 75 of 182



   
 

Page 25 of 53 
 

Summary details of the items of infrastructure on which money received through planning obligations (whenever received) has been 
spent25 in 2021/22. This includes the amount of money received, the purpose for which it should be spent, and an update on the 
current delivery. 
 
Date of 
transfer 

Sum transferred Transferee Purpose Update 

23/11/2021 £11,737.97 
 
18/00102/FUL - Land 
West of 52 Wood End, 
Bluntisham 

Bluntisham 
Parish Council 

Off-Site Public Open 
Space towards the 
costs of providing a 
footpath to link and 
connect with the 
public footpath 
network to Meridian 
Wood 

Physical works have been completed and the 
footpath became available for use in 
December 2021.  

02/12/2021 £79,805.52 
 
17/00077/OUT - Land 
South West of Mill 
Cottage, Gidding Road, 
Sawtry 

Sawtry Parish 
Council 

NEAP Contribution 
towards the 
provision of the 
NEAP being an all-
wheeled skate park 
on land owned by 
the Parish Council at 
St Judith Field 

Sawtry saw the opening of their brand-new 
Skate Park in Summer 2021. The open day in 
September 2021 was a huge success and the 
facility has been very popular within the local 
community ever since. 

09/12/2021 £14,139.59 
 
0801663FUL - 115 High 
Street, Brampton, 
Huntingdon, 

Brampton 
Parish Council 

Green Space 
Informal Play 
Equipment Sum to 
be used solely 
towards the 
provision and 

Maintenance works at the play area at the 
Memorial Centre on Thrapston Road in 
Brampton were completed. The existing safety 
surface for the double swings and the multi-
play climbing frame were improved. Fencing at 
the play area was also installed.     

 
25 Including sums transferred to external organisations, which are regarded as “spent” in the regulations, and details of the infrastructure provided with regard 
to such transfers of money, where the sums have subsequently been spent. 

P
age 76 of 182



   
 

Page 26 of 53 
 

Date of 
transfer 

Sum transferred Transferee Purpose Update 

Cambridgeshire, PE28 
4RA 

maintenance of 
children’s play 
facilities in Brampton 

07/01/2022 £18,773.49 
 
15/02384/FUL - 94 
Great Whyte, Ramsey, 
Huntingdon, PE26 1HR 

Ramsey Colts 
Football 
Development 

Formal Green 
Space Contribution 
for the provision of 
formal green space 
in the form of 
football pitches at 
Ramsey Colts 
Football Club 

Ramsey Cricket Club have purchased new 
machinery and storage facilitates to assist in 
implementing a new football pitch at the 
grounds. Their plan this year is to spend the 
remaining funds on drilling, levelling and 
preparing the ground to lay a new pitch(es). 

16/02/2022 £16,102.80 
 
17/01375/OUT - Land 
North East of Mandene 
Gardens, Great 
Gransden 

Wildlife Trust 
BCN 

Waresley and 
Gransden Woods 
SSSI Mitigation 
Contribution towards 
the mitigation 
measures identified 
by the Wildlife Trust 

The Wildlife Trust BCN have not yet spent this 
money and are currently still in the planning 
stages to ensure it is spent in line with the 
S106 definition. Works are subject to ground 
conditions not being too wet and are hoped to 
begin in Autumn/Winter 2022. This is a 
perennial constraint in Waresley & Gransden 
Woods.  

09/03/2022 £31,565.54 
 
18/01692/FUL - Land 
West of Garden Court 
and 1 to 16, Upwood 
Road, Bury 

Ramsey Cricket 
Club 

Off-Site Open Space 
towards the 
improvement of 
Ramsey Cricket 
Club 

This money has been used by Ramsey Cricket 
Club towards upgraded nets, a new digital 
scoreboard, replacement sight screen panels, 
new pitch marker discs and new boundary 
rope. 

09/03/2022 £14,510.92 
 

Warboys Parish 
Council 

Open Space 
Contribution towards 
improvements and 
maintenance of 

The money was used to purchase 6 acres of 
land for public open space in Warboys which 
completed on 21st December 2021. Warboys 
Parish Council have worked with the Wildlife 

P
age 77 of 182



   
 

Page 27 of 53 
 

Date of 
transfer 

Sum transferred Transferee Purpose Update 

1301316FUL – Land 
Rear of 64 High Street, 
Warboys 
 
 

existing formal and 
informal open space 
in the parish of 
Warboys in lieu of 
on-site provision 

Trust on a management plan for the land which 
will be known as “Onyett’s Field” with the 
intention of retaining the land as informal open 
space and enhancing its biodiversity 
generating an unspoilt wildlife haven. 

25/03/2022 £162,696.30 
 
0802855OUT - Land 
South of Marshall Bros 
Garage, Gidding Road, 
Sawtry, Cambridgeshire 

NHS England PCT Contribution 
towards the 
provision of health 
facilities in Sawtry 

The single-storey extension to the surgery, 
including three modern treatment rooms, 
improved access for disabled people, an 
additional waiting area and some other 
facilities, was completed in Spring 2021.  

April 2021 
– March 
2022 

£78,949.57 
 
Received from various 
Section 106 
Agreements 

HDC 
Operations 

Wheeled Bins – 
provision across the 
district 

Use for Wheeled Bins provisions across the 
district.  

April 2021 
– March 
2022 

£96,787.91 
 
Received from various 
Section 106 
Agreements 

HDC 
Operations 

Maintenance – open 
space areas/ play 
space areas/ areas 
of land across the 
district. 

Used for Maintenance of areas of land across 
the district. 

Total 
spent: 

£ 552,797.57 

P
age 78 of 182



   
 

Page 28 of 53 
 

3.3 Other Expenditure of Section 106 Receipts in 2021/22 

3.3 (a). Total amount of money, received through planning obligations (whenever 
agreed and money received), spent in 2021/22 on repaying money 
borrowed, including any interest, and details of the items of infrastructure 
which that money was used to provide (wholly or in part): 

 

 
 
Huntingdonshire District Council has not borrowed money to fund infrastructure.  
 
3.3 (b). Total amount of money, received through planning obligations (whenever 

agreed and money received), spent26 in 2021/22 in respect of monitoring 
(including reporting under CIL regulation 121A) in relation to the delivery of 
planning obligations: 

 

 

3.4 Section 106 Receipts Retained (Allocated27 and Unallocated) 

 
3.4 (a). The total amount of money, received through planning obligations prior to 

2021/22, which had not been allocated (to an infrastructure project or item) 
by the end 2021/22: 

 

 
 
All S106 agreements have specific infrastructure-type projects which outline how 
money should be spent and so all money in 2021/22 was allocated. 
 
 
 
3.4 (b). The total amount of money, received under any planning obligation in any 

year, which had been allocated (to an infrastructure project or type) for 
spending by the end of 2021/22 but which had not been spent:  

 

 
 

 
26 If the total spent on monitoring is not known, an estimate is provided (in line with regulations). 
 
27 ‘Allocated’ means Section 106 sums retained by the reporting authority which have, or knowingly 

will be, passed to an internal team to fund a specific infrastructure project or infrastructure type. 
‘Allocated’ also includes sums which will knowingly be passed to an external organisation, but 
which are yet to be passed. 

£0 

£ 52,073.34 

£ 0 

£ 1,110,893.31 

Page 79 of 182



   
 

Page 29 of 53 
 

3.4 (c). Summary details of the infrastructure projects or items to which receipts from 
planning obligations, whenever collected including 2021/22, have been allocated (but 
not spent) and the amount allocated to each item: 
 
Planning 
Reference 

Town Project/s Balance Carried 
Forward 

0001485OUT 
Land at 
Bushmead  
Junior School 
 

St Neots Play equipment 
contribution 

£11,309.82 
 

0704098FUL  
Sect 106 - Old 
Station Rd, 
Ramsey 

Ramsey 
 

Off-site facilities 
contribution - provision 
and/or maintenance of 
children's casual and 
equipped play space 
on South-East of Bury 
Road, Ramsey 

£8,640.39 
 

0101550OUT  
Land north of 
Cambridge  
Road, St Neots  

St Neots 
 

Community building 
contribution, primary 
healthcare contribution, 
construction of 
equipped local area for 
play 

£149,474.92 
 

0302792FUL 
1300678FUL 
Riverside  
Mill, Mill Lane, Lt 
Paxton 
 

Little Paxton 
 

Primary health care 
contribution, play 
equipment contribution 

£40,722.79 

0401047OUT 
117a Herne 
Road, Ramsey 
St Marys 

Ramsey St 
Marys 

Play equipment 
contribution 

£20,231.21 

0502686FUL 42 
Huntingdon 
Street, St Neots  

St Neots 
 

Open space 
contribution 

£663.01 

0402199OUT 
Houghton Rd, 
St. Ives  

St Ives Off-site facilities 
contribution 

£457.86 
 

0400453OUT 
Bury Rd, 
Ramsey 

Ramsey Transport contribution £17,293.83 
 

9601592OUT 
Plot no various 
Waters Edge, 
Wansford 

Wansford 
 

Access to the River 
Nene in Wansford 
and/or Wansford 
Station facilities 

£127,447.29 

Page 80 of 182



   
 

Page 30 of 53 
 

Planning 
Reference 

Town Project/s Balance Carried 
Forward 

0801663FUL 
1100326FUL 
115 High Street 
Brampton 

Brampton 
 

Play equipment 
contribution 

£15,873.13 
 

0500836OUT 
Land North East 
of Huntingdon 
Regional 
College, 
California Road, 
Huntingdon  

Huntingdon 
 

Off-site tree 
replacement and Local 
equipped area for play 

£78,435.64 
 

1400693FUL 4 
Cromwell Walk 
Huntingdon 
 

Huntingdon 
 

Public open space 
contribution 

£11,512.17 
 

1101368OUT 
Land North of 
Cambridge Rd 
St Neots 

St Neots 
 

Community building 
contribution, Children’s 
Play Contribution and 
Primary Health Care 
Contribution 

£95,654.19 
 

0802855OUT 
Land South 
Marshall 
Garage, Gidding 
Road, Sawtry  

Sawtry 
 

Health facilities 
contribution 

£4,650.00 
 

1401248FUL 20 
Little End Rd 
Eaton Socon  

Eaton Socon 
 

Off-site green space 
contribution 

£24,411.65 
 

15/01423/FUL  
Former 12 And  
13 Ermine  
Street,  
Huntingdon 

Huntingdon 
 

Off Site Facilities and  
Outdoor Sports  
Contribution 

£937.01 
 

1200590OUT  
Land at Ivy  
Nursery,  
Cambridge Rd,  
Fenstanton  

Fenstanton 
 

Off-site open space 
contribution 

£247.33 

17/01385/FUL  
Land at 81-85  
and 97 A,B,C,  
Huntingdon  
Street  

St Neots 
 

Off-site facilities  
contribution 

£43,433.01 
 

1600975FUL  
56 Dwells  
Brampton Park,  

Brampton 
 

Health facilities  
contribution 

£13,180.35 
 

Page 81 of 182



   
 

Page 31 of 53 
 

Planning 
Reference 

Town Project/s Balance Carried 
Forward 

Buckden Rd,  
Brampton 
 
15/00368/OUT  
and 
15/00643/OUT  
RAF Brampton  

Brampton 
 

Community facility 
contribution and 
Allotment Maintenance 
Contribution  

£86,563.69 
 

1401852OUT 
Land at Junction  
of Field Rd,  
Blenheim Rd,  
Ramsey 

Ramsey 
 

Affordable Housing 
Payment in Lieu 

£108,411.63 
 

1301836OUT 
Land between  
Brampton Road  
and Ermine  
Street,  
Huntingdon 
 

Huntingdon 
 

Off-site facilities 
contribution 

£31,478.78 
 

0900411FUL  
The Old Forge, 
St Neots 
 

St Neots 
 

Improvement to the 
existing off-site open 
space or the provision 
of new open space in 
St Neots contribution 

£8,463.50 
 

1401887OUT 
Land South of 
Farriers Way 
and Bencroft 
Lane, Warboys 
 

Warboys 
 

Provision and/or 
maintenance of adult 
and youth recreation 
space in Warboys 

£43,288.24 
 

16/02519/OUT 
Land Between  
Old Mill Avenue  
and Station  
Road And 43  
Station Road,  
Warboys 
 

Warboys 
 

New formal outdoor 
grass sports pitches at 
Warboys Sports and 
Social Club 

£49,158.51 
 

1602712FUL 
11-12 Ferrars 
Road, 
Huntingdon, 
PE29 3DH 
 

Huntingdon 
 

Green Space Land 
Contribution to be used 
for improvements to the 
Green Space on Mill 
Common Huntingdon 
and Outdoor Sports 
Contribution to be used 
towards the delivery of 

£12,968.26 
 

Page 82 of 182



   
 

Page 32 of 53 
 

Planning 
Reference 

Town Project/s Balance Carried 
Forward 

a new sports hub on 
the edge of Huntingdon 
providing numerous 
grass pitches for 
various sports 

19/01881/OUT 
Land South of 
Buryfield, Bury 
 

Bury 
 

Off-Site Open Space 
Contribution for a Multi 
Use Games Area on 
land within Bury 

£34,946.23 
 

15/00049/FUL 
Land at Church 
Farm, Church 
Lane, 
Upwood 
 

Upwood 
 

Open Space 
Contribution to be paid 
to Upwood Cricket Club 
for the improvement of 
facilities 

£7,536.28 
 

21/00643/FUL 
24 High Street 
Stilton, 
Peterborough, 
PE7 3RA 

Stilton Affordable Housing 
Contribution towards 
the delivery of 
affordable housing on 
alternative sites 

£45,087.75 
 

1400102FUL 
Land North of 
Pathfinder 
House Car Park, 
St Marys Street, 
Huntingdon 
 

Huntingdon 
 

Sums for Green Space 
provision and Formal 
Open Space 

£18,414.84 
 

  
Total £ 1,110,893.31  

 

  

Page 83 of 182



   
 

Page 33 of 53 
 

4.  Section 278 Agreements Report (Optional Reporting) 
 

4.1 Summary details of any funding or provision of infrastructure which is to be 
provided through a highway agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 
which was entered into during the reported year. 

Any matters under Section 278 are dealt by Cambridgeshire County Council. 

4.2 Summary details of any funding or provision of infrastructure under a 
highway agreement which was provided during the reported year. 

Any matters under a highway agreement are dealt by Cambridgeshire County 
Council. 

  

Page 84 of 182



   
 

Page 34 of 53 
 

5.1 ANNEX A: The Regulatory Requirements for Infrastructure Funding 
Statements 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No.2) 
Regulations 2019 
Regulation 121A states: 

(1) Subject to paragraph (2), no later than 31st December in each calendar year a 
contribution receiving authority must publish a document (“the annual 
infrastructure funding statement”) which comprises the following:-  

(a) a statement of the infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure which the 
charging authority intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded by CIL 
(other than CIL to which regulation 59E or 59F applies) (“the infrastructure list”);  

 (b) a report about CIL, in relation to the previous financial year (“the reported year”), 
which includes the matters specified in paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 (“CIL report”); 

(c) a report about planning obligations, in relation to the reported year, which 
includes the matters specified in paragraph 3 of Schedule 2 and may include the 
matters specified in paragraph 4 of that Schedule (“section 106 report”). 

(2) The first annual infrastructure funding statement must be published by 31st 
December 2020. 

(3) A contribution receiving authority must publish each annual infrastructure funding 
statement on its website. 

5.2 ANNEX B: List of Schedule 2 requirements for the Infrastructure Funding 
Statement  

Community Infrastructure Levy 

Reporting Requirement (Schedule 2, Paragraph 1) Sum/ 
Details 

Ref. in 
Template 

 (a)   the total value of CIL set out in all demand 
notices issued in the reported year 

£13,940,029.39  2.1 

(b)    the total amount of CIL receipts for the reported 
year 

£8,976,972.49  2.1 

(c)    the total amount of CIL receipts, collected by the 
authority, or by another person on its behalf, 

£17,928,693.40 2.4 (b) 

Page 85 of 182



   
 

Page 35 of 53 
 

Reporting Requirement (Schedule 2, Paragraph 1) Sum/ 
Details 

Ref. in 
Template 

before the reported year but which have not 
been allocated 

(d)    the total amount of CIL receipts, collected by the 
authority, or by another person on its behalf, 
before the reported year and which have been 
allocated in the reported year 

£2,156,320.00 2.4(a) 

(e)    the total amount of CIL expenditure for the 
reported year 

£2,559,878.09  2.1 

(f)     the total amount of CIL receipts, whenever 
collected, which were allocated but not spent 
during the reported year 

£12,685,669.99 2.4(c) 

(g) in relation to CIL expenditure for the reported 
year, summary details of:- 

(i) the items of infrastructure on which CIL 
(including land payments) has been spent, and 
the amount of CIL spent on each item; 

(ii) the amount of CIL spent on repaying money 
borrowed, including any interest, with details of 
the items of infrastructure which that money 
was used to provide (wholly or in part); 

(iii) the amount of CIL spent on administrative 
expenses pursuant to regulation 61, and that 
amount expressed as a percentage of CIL 
collected in that year in accordance with that 
regulation; 

 
 

£837,310.95 
 

N/A 
 
 
 

£180,384.15             
2.01% 

 

 
 

2.2 
 
 

2.3(a) 
 
 
 

2.3(b) 

(h)     in relation to CIL receipts, whenever collected, 
which were allocated but not spent during the 
reported year, summary details of the items of 
infrastructure on which CIL (including land 
payments) has been allocated, and the amount 
of CIL allocated to each item; 

 

£13,127,420.00 2.4(d) 

(i) (i) the amount of CIL passed to: 
 any Parish Council under Regulation 59A or 

59B  
   (ii) any person under Regulation 59(4) 

£ 1,542,182.99 
 

£567,310.95 
 

N/A  

2.3(c)  
 

2.3(d) 

(j)  (i) summary details of the receipt and expenditure 
of CIL to which regulation 59E or 59F applied 
during the reported year including— 

 the total CIL receipts that regulations 59E and 
59F applied to; 

(ii)  the items of infrastructure to which the CIL 
receipts to which regulations 59E and 59F 
applied have been allocated or spent, and the 

£ 11,595.48 
 
 
 
 
 

£ 6,000.00 

2.1 
 
 
 
 
 

2.3(e) 

Page 86 of 182



   
 

Page 36 of 53 
 

Reporting Requirement (Schedule 2, Paragraph 1) Sum/ 
Details 

Ref. in 
Template 

amount of expenditure allocated or spent on 
each item; 

(k)    summary details of any notices served in 
accordance with regulation 59E, including— 

(i) the total value of CIL receipts requested from 
each Parish Council; 

(ii)  any funds not yet recovered from each Parish 
Council at the end of the reported year; 

 
 

£ 0 
 

£ 0 

 
 

2.4(e) 
 

2.4(e) 

 (l)  the total amount of: 
(i)  CIL receipts for the reported year retained at the 

end of the reported year other than those to 
which regs 59E and 59F applied; 

(ii)  CIL receipts from previous years retained at 
the end of the reported year other than those to 
which regs 59E and 59F applied; 

 (iii) CIL receipts for the reported year to which 
regs 59E and 59F applied retained at the end of 
the reported year; 

(iv)  CIL receipts from previous years to which regs 
59E and 59F applied retained at the end of the 
reported year. 

 
 

£ 7,254,405.35 
 
 

£30,599,534.30  
 
 

£ 11,595.48 
 
 

£ 3,233.61 

 
 

2.4(f) 
 
 

2.4(g) 
 
 

2.4(h) 
 
 

2.4(i) 

Section 106 Planning Obligations 

Reporting Requirement (Schedule 2, Paragraph 3 
and (Optional) 4) 

Sum/ 
Details 

Ref. in 
Template 

3 (a). the total amount of money to be provided under 
any planning obligations which were entered 
into during the reported year; 

£1,321,439.04 3.1 

3 (b). the total amount of money under any planning 
obligations which was received during the 
reported year; 

£ 469,411.74 3.1 

3 (c). the total amount of money under any planning 
obligations which was received before the 
reported year which has not been allocated by 
the authority; 

£0 3.4(a) 

3 (d). summary details of any non-monetary 
contributions to be provided under planning 
obligations which were entered into during the 
reported year, including details of— 

(i)  in relation to affordable housing, the total 
number of units which will be provided; 

(ii)  in relation to educational facilities, the number 
of school places for pupils which will be 
provided, and the category of school at which 
they will be provided; 

 
 
 
 
 

336 
 

N/A 

 
 
 
 
 

3.1 
 

3.1 

Page 87 of 182



   
 

Page 37 of 53 
 

Reporting Requirement (Schedule 2, Paragraph 3 
and (Optional) 4) 

Sum/ 
Details 

Ref. in 
Template 

3 (e). the total amount of money (received under any 
planning obligations) which was allocated but 
not spent during the reported year for funding 
infrastructure; 

 
£1,110,893.31 

 
3.4(b) 

3 (f). the total amount of money (received under any 
planning obligations) which was spent by the 
authority (including transferring it to another 
person to spend); 

 
£604,870.91 

 
3.1 

3 (g). in relation to monies (received under planning 
obligations) which were allocated by the 
authority but not spent during the reported year, 
summary details of the items of infrastructure on 
which the money has been allocated, and the 
amount of allocated to each item; 

 
£1,110,893.31 

 
3.4(c) 

3 (h). in relation to monies (received under planning 
obligations) which were spent by the authority 
during the reported year (including transferring it 
to another person to spend), summary details 
of— 

(i) the items of infrastructure on which monies 
(received under planning obligations) were 
spent, and the amount spent on each item; 

 (ii)  the amount of monies (received under planning 
obligations) spent on repaying money borrowed, 
including any interest, with details of the items 
of infrastructure which that money was used to 
provide (wholly or in part); 

 (iii) the amount of monies (received under planning 
obligations) spent in respect of monitoring 
(including reporting under regulation 121A) in 
relation to the delivery of planning obligations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

£552,797.57 
 
 

£ 0 
 
 
 
 

£52,073.34 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3.2 
 
 

3.3(a) 
 
 
 
 

3.3(b) 
 

3 (i). the total monies (received under any planning 
obligations) during any year which were 
retained at the end of the reported year, and 
where any of the retained monies have been 
allocated for the purposes of longer-term 
maintenance (“commuted sums”), also identify 
separately the total amount of commuted sums 
held. 

£982,852.39  3.1 

 

Reporting requirement (Schedule 2, Paragraph 4) (optional)  Sum/ 
Details 

Ref. in 
Template 

4 (a). summary details of any funding or provision of 
infrastructure which is to be provided through a highway 

£ 0 4.1 

Page 88 of 182



   
 

Page 38 of 53 
 

agreement under section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 
which was entered into during the reported year 

4 (b). summary details of any funding or provision of 
infrastructure under a highway agreement which was 
provided during the reported year. 

£ 0 4.2 

6. Appendices 

C1 – Town and Parish Meaningful Proportion Payments  

TOWN/ PARISH 15% AMOUNT 28 
Abbotsley £2,043.32 
19/02309/HHFUL - 6 Pitsdean Road  
Alconbury Weston £10,742.61 
18/01946/FUL - 50 Hamerton Road  
Alwalton £12,900.00 
19/01256/REM - Sonia House 47 Oundle Road   
Bluntisham £7,230.00 
19/00618/FUL - 24 Rectory Road  
18/00102/FUL - Land West Of 52 Wood End  
Brampton £12,309.90 
18/01305/FUL - Land At 60 Mandeville Road  
19/00406/REM - Northern Part Of Site, Brampton Park   
17/00577/FUL - Brampton Park, Buckden Road   
Brington & Molesworth  £20,142.71 
19/01743/FUL - Land South West Of Harrowden  
Broughton £3,292.69 
18/02505/FUL - The Elms School Road  
Buckden £49,779.63 
18/02485/REM - Land Off Lucks Lane And West And South Of The 
Osiers And Springfield Close 

 

Bury £86,996.30 
18/01692/FUL - Land West Of Garden Court And 1 To 16 
Upwood Road 

 

Bythorn & Keyston £973.92 
20/01146/FUL - Land South East Of White Gates  
Colne £4,878.11 

 
28 The amount stated is the Town/Parish meaningful proportion payments received by 
Huntingdonshire District Council in the reported year, which have been transferred to the Town/Parish 
Council in accordance with the CIL Regulations. 

Page 89 of 182



   
 

Page 39 of 53 
 

TOWN/ PARISH 15% AMOUNT 28 
19/01661/FUL - Anderson Skip And Plant  
20/01213/FUL - Land To The Rear Of Doddington Cottage  
Earith £1,339.94 
18/02527/FUL - The Bungalow  
Ellington £2,136.34 
18/02556/FUL - Land Adjacent Grove Cottage  
Fenstanton £1,199.83 
19/02290/FUL - Model Farm  
Great Gransden £43,554.06 
19/01467/REM - Land North East Of Mandene Gardens  
Great Paxton £1,031.21 
19/02573/FUL - Building West Of 78 High Street  
Holywell-Cum-Needingworth £96,643.11 
19/01166/REM - Land South Of The A1123 And West Of 
Bluntisham Road 

 

17/01077/FUL - Land Between Victoria House And Fairview  
Huntingdon £39,389.14 
18/00089/FUL - 2 Old Houghton Road  
16/02093/FUL - Land At And Including British Gas Plc  
18/00212/FUL - Land At Site Of Former British Red Cross Society  
Kimbolton & Stonely £64,503.86 
18/01411/FUL - Land East Of Montagu Gardens  
20/00636/S73 - Unit 2 Cromwell Court  
Kings Ripton £11,892.80 
19/02588/FUL - Land Opposite Mayfield Heath Farm  
18/01439/FUL - Land Opposite Mayfield Heath Farm  
Little Paxton £58,840.88 
20/02425/REM - Land At Riversfield  
Offord Cluny & Offord Darcy £12,218.04 
16/01672/FUL - Manor Farm  
Pidley-Cum-Fenton £2,813.09 
18/01743/FUL - Land North Of East View  
19/01179/REM - Land At Copper Beeches  
Ramsey £130,423.71 
19/00989/FUL - Land At Railway Inn  
18/02650/REM - Land South Of 195 Ugg Mere Court Road  
20/00260/FUL - Land North Of 215 Ugg Mere Court Road  
19/00795/REM - Land West Of Park Road And The Malting   
18/00713/FUL - Gunton House  
17/01447/REM - 26 Fairfields Drive  
Sawtry £115,912.71 
19/00462/REM - Land South West Of Mill Cottage  

Page 90 of 182



   
 

Page 40 of 53 
 

TOWN/ PARISH 15% AMOUNT 28 
19/01885/FUL - Land Between 8 And 18 Chapel End  
Sibson-Cum-Stibbington £1,984.38 
1301139FUL - 99 Elton Road  
Somersham £4,679.95 
16/01997/PMBPA - Jacks Barn  
St Ives £20,320.72 
20/00038/FULTDC - Land North East Of 7 California Road  
17/02325/FUL - Land At Former Golf Course  
19/01671/FUL - Land At Former Golf Course  
17/01050/FUL - 35 High Leys  
19/01722/REM - 64 Houghton Road  
The Stukeleys £124,977.30 
18/01536/REM - Alconbury Airfield  
18/02223/REM - Parcel 5 Senliz Road  
18/01707/FUL - 63 Park View  
Toseland £694.96 
18/00026/FUL - Green Farm  
Yaxley £23,217.83 
19/02357/FUL - 6 Mere View  
20/00741/FUL - Land South Of 119 To 139 Main Street  
Yelling £1,241.27 
19/02608/FUL - Land North Of Water Tower And Yelling Windmill  
15% TOTAL £ 979,915.42 

 
 
TOWN/ PARISH 25%  AMOUNT 29 
Godmanchester £132,957.93 
20/02540/FUL - Land East Of 2 Cardinal West  
19/02300/REM - Land East Of 2 Cardinal West  
20/00645/FUL - 18 Post Street  
Houghton & Wyton £62,740.56 
19/01180/REM - Houghton Grange  
17/01841/FUL - Wyton Moorings  
Huntingdon £4,628.34 
20/00137/FUL - Land At 93 Desborough Road  
St Neots £361,940.74 
18/01287/FUL - The Old Chapel  
18/02719/REM - Wintringham Park  
18/02708/REM - Wintringham Park  

 
29 The amount stated is the Town/Parish meaningful proportion payments received by 
Huntingdonshire District Council in the reported year, which have been transferred to the Town/Parish 
Council in accordance with the CIL Regulations. 

Page 91 of 182



   
 

Page 41 of 53 
 

TOWN/ PARISH 25%  AMOUNT 29 
18/00791/FUL - 168 Manor Gardens  
19/02616/FUL - Land South Of 11 To 19 Orchard Road  
20/01985/FUL - Land South Of 11 To 19 Orchard Road  
25% TOTAL £562,267.57 

C2 – Demand Notices which have been re-issued this reporting period 
originally issued in previous financial years 

PARISH APPLICATION VALUE30 PREVIOUS FINANCIAL 
YEAR 

Huntingdon 18/00212/FUL £74,678.02 2019/20 
TOTAL  £ 74,678.02 2019/20 
Brington & 
Molesworth 

19/01743/FUL £134,284.70 2020/21 

Alwalton 19/01256/REM £5,791.44 2020/21 

St Neots 18/00791/FUL £4,652.89 2020/21 

Winwick 19/01276/REM £43,114.82 2020/21 

Brampton 17/00577/FUL £159,223.30 2020/21 

TOTAL  £ 347,067.15 2020/21 

 
30 These figures include Demand Notices which were re-issued, due to approved deferrals of 
instalment payments, in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy (Coronavirus) 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020. 

Page 92 of 182



   
 

Page 42 of 53 
 

S1 – List of Applications Signed During 2021/22 

• S106 agreements 

App No Deed Date Address Deed Details 
19/00038/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated  
19th April 2021 

Meadow View Farm, 
Thrapston Road, 
Brampton, Huntingdon 
PE28 4NN 

Outline planning application for residential development of up 
to 30 dwellings and a care home of up to 70 beds with all 
matters reserved except for the two main vehicular accesses 
(phased development) 

19/01445/FUL 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated  
13th May 2021 

Land Between Toll Bar 
Way and Great North 
Road, 
Sawtry 

Demolition of Existing Buildings Erection of Motorway Service 
Area (a sui generis use) comprising of an Amenity Building 
Fuel Station Parking and Ancillary Development 

20/01915/FUL 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated  
24th June 2021 

Land North East of 29, 
The Green, 
Great Staughton 

Erection of 12 affordable houses, new vehicular access, and 
alterations to the public footpath 

19/00552/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
30th June 2021 

Land West of The Avenue, 
Ramsey 

Residential development of up to 100 dwellings including 
access, open space, green infrastructure, landscaping, and 
associated infrastructure including sustainable urban drainage 
features. All matters reserved apart from access. 

20/00863/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
30th June 2021 

Land off Tunkers Lane, 
Bury 

Proposed development of up to 87 dwellings to include public 
open space, landscaping, access (including widening of 
Tunkers Lane) and associated works. Approval sought for 
Access at this stage with Layout Landscaping Scale and 
Appearance as reserved matters. 

19/02340/FUL 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
5th July 2021 

Green Farm, High Street, 
Toseland, St Neots,  
PE19 6RX 

Enabling development for the conversion and extension of 
existing barn/outbuilding to provide additional accommodation 
and connection to Farmhouse with glazed link and the erection 
of new single-storey dwelling 

P
age 93 of 182



   
 

Page 43 of 53 
 

App No Deed Date Address Deed Details 
20/00308/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
14th July 2021 

Land West of Longlands 
Close and North of the 
Paddock Caravan Park, 
Ramsey Road, Warboys 

Outline planning application with all matters reserved apart 
from access for the erection of up to 24 residential dwellings 
including affordable housing (Use Class C3) together with 
parking areas, landscaping and other associated infrastructure 
following the demolition of no.21 Ramsey Road and associated 
outbuildings. 

20/02540/FUL 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
19th July 2021 
 

Land East of 2, Cardinal 
West, Godmanchester 

Full planning application for 54 dwellings. 

19/02280/FUL 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
19th July 2021 

Land North of the How, 
Houghton Road, St Ives 

Refurbishment of The Lodge and its retention as a single 
dwelling the erection of 18 dwellings (including five units of 
Affordable Housing) with associated private amenity spaces 
and parking, the provision of public open space, landscaping, 
and improved vehicular and pedestrian access 

20/00208/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
3rd August 2021 
 

Land North of 15, Yaxley 
Road, Holme 

Proposed residential development (rural exception site) 
comprising of 6 affordable units and 4 open market units with 
approval sought for access, scale, layout, and appearance. 

20/01407/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
5th November 
2021 

Land North of Shawley 
Road and West of 
Glatton Road, Sawtry 

Outline planning application for the residential development of 
up to 340 dwellings alongside associated site infrastructure 
open space (including provision of a Neighbourhood Equipped 
Area for Play) and provision of land earmarked for a primary 
school (Use Class D1) with all matters reserved except for 
means of access and landscaping. 

20/00896/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
20th December 
2021 

Land Adjacent and 
Including 2, Cromwell 
Road, Eynesbury 

Outline application for a residential development of up to 83 
homes and all ancillary works.  All matters reserved except 
access. 

P
age 94 of 182



   
 

Page 44 of 53 
 

App No Deed Date Address Deed Details 
20/00285/FUL 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
23rd March 2022 
 

F Vindis and Sons Ltd, 
Low Road, Fenstanton, St 
Ives, PE27 5EL 

Demolition of existing structures and proposed erection of 94 
dwellings together with associated works including a 
pedestrian boardwalk. 

  

• Deeds of Variation 

In addition to the above S106 agreements for newly approved applications, the following were signed during 2021/22 making 
changes to existing S106 agreements. Where a Deed of Variation has been entered into in the reported year, the element 
reported on are those new or amended obligations only. As such, this can result in obligations which have previously been 
reported on being duplicated. 

App No Deed Date Address Deed Details 

18/01217/FUL Deed of 
Discharge 
dated 
14th September 
2021 

Building 252, RAF 
Alconbury, Ermine Street 
Little Stukeley, Huntingdon 
PE28 4WX 

The erection of a building to accommodate the Headquarters 
and Air Ambulance Station for Magpas including hangar and 
garaging space for a helicopter and emergency vehicles with 
associated landscaping, car parking, and boundary treatment 
with access from Ermine Street 

20/01668/S106 Deed of 
Variation dated 
18th August 
2021 

Land North West end of 
Dorling Way, Brampton 

Variation to S106 Agreement dated 16/09/16 to delete clauses 
1.2.1 - 1.2.5 of Schedule One and replace them with new 
clauses. 

P
age 95 of 182



   
 

Page 45 of 53 
 

App No Deed Date Address Deed Details 

 

20/00085/S73 Deed of 
Variation dated 
14th April 2021 
 

Land West of Garden 
Court And 1 To 16, 
Upwood Road, Bury 

Variation of Condition 2 (plans) for application 18/01692/FUL to 
facilitate an additional plot 

20/00631/S73 Deed of 
Variation dated 
14th April 2021 
 

Land West of 52, Wood 
End, Bluntisham 

Variation of Condition 2 of 18/00102/FUL to allow for the position 
of plot 2 to be amended and the position of the car port 
associated with that plot to be amended 

21/01168/S106 Deed of 
Variation dated 
16th June 2021 

Wintringham Park, 
Cambridge Road, 
St Neots 

Request for S106A-1A Deed of Variation to 17/02308/OUT to 
provide for a change to the housing portion sizes and timing of 
viability review through amendment to the definition of "Minimum 
Level" of affordable housing. Amendments also to the timing for 
the final reconciliation review. The minimum level of affordable 
housing secured across the whole site remains as previously 
secured. 

P
age 96 of 182



   
 

Page 46 of 53 
 

App No Deed Date Address Deed Details 

0102801OUT 
 

Deed of 
Variation dated 
21st July 2021 

Former Jewsons Former 
Lordgate LEL & Adjoining 
Land, London Road, St. 
Ives, Cambridgeshire 

This Deed of Variation (“Third Deed of Variation”) modifies (and 
is supplemental to) a Section 106 Agreement dated 5th October 
2007 (0102801OUT) under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990  

21/01535/S106 Deed of 
Variation dated 
 

Land South of, Alison 
Lane, Offord Darcy 

Section 106 Deed of Variation Request - Applications 
16/01670/FUL 16/01671/FUL and 16/01672/FUL:  To add a new 
clause 26 to exclude liability in respect of the S106 obligations 
including the registered provider and their mortgagee or charge 
in respect of the non-affordable housing obligations and amend 
the mortgagee in possession clause so that it reflects the 
standard wording agreed with lenders. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 97 of 182



   
 

Page 47 of 53 
 

• Unilateral Undertakings (UU) - These are a simplified version of a planning agreement, entered into by the landowner 
only. 

App No Deed Date Address Deed Details 
20/00881/FUL 
 

Unilateral 
Undertaking 
dated 
13th December 
2021 

36 St Peters Road, 
Huntingdon 

Erection of a mixed-use development comprising class A1 
(retail) and class B2 (including autocentre with vehicle repair  
MOT testing  servicing and associated operations) and/or B8 
with ancillary trade counter  together with associated access  
servicing and car parking. 

20/01855/FUL 
 

Unilateral 
Undertaking 
dated 
5th October 
2021 

Land at Former Mushroom 
Farm Site, Broadway, 
Yaxley 

Hybrid application comprising: Outline planning permission for 
the erection of up to 10 959 square metres of commercial 
floorspace falling within Use Classes E, B2 and B8. Phased 
Development. All matters reserved (with the exception of the 
means of access). Full planning permission for the construction 
of an access road and for Phase One of the development for up 
to 6 118 square metres of commercial floorspace falling within 
Use Classes E, B2 and B8. 

21/00643/FUL 
 

Unilateral 
Undertaking 
dated 
10th December 
2021 

24 High Street, Stilton,  
Peterborough, PE7 3RA 

Demolition of existing commercial premises and erection of 5 
number dwellings. 

18/02726/FUL 
 

Unilateral 
Undertaking 
dated 
15th February 
2022 

Former Car Showroom, 
London Road, St Ives, PE27 
5EZ 

Phased residential development of 49 dwellings with access, 
parking, landscaping, and associated works. 

P
age 98 of 182



   
 

Page 48 of 53 
 

S2 – List of Obligations entered into in 2021/22 

Covenant Type Obligation Breakdown Potential 
Receivable 
Value 

Affordable Housing Contribution (Off 
Site) 

 
£ 321,840.00 

Administration and Monitoring of 
Planning Obligations 

 
£ 1,091.59 

Green and Public Open Spaces Formal Green 
Space/Sports Facilities 

£ 199,879.00 

Off Site Green Space Land £ 92,367.00 
Health Facilities Health Facilities and Health 

Facilities Land Contribution 
£ 149,095.00 

Maintenance  Green Space Maintenance £ 309,405.46 
Play Maintenance £ 54,345.99 

Highways and Transport  Bus Stop Contribution £ 35,000.00 
Highways Contribution £ 3,000.00 
Parking Contribution £ 6,000.00 

Biodiversity  £ 19,470.00 
Wheeled Bins 

 
£ 129,945.00 

Total £ 1,321,439.04 
 

  

 

List of Obligations entered into in 
2021/22 

 Affordable Housing Contribution
(Off Site)

 Administration and Monitoring

 Formal Green Space/Sports
Facilities

 Off Site Green Space Land

 Health Facilities and Health
Facilities Land Contribution

 Green Space Maintenance

 Play Maintenance

 Bus Stop Contribution

Page 99 of 182



   
 

Page 49 of 53 
 

S3 – Detail of money received during 2021/22 

Sum of Covenant Receipt Amount     
Covenant Type Application 

No 
Total 

Administration Monitoring of Planning Obligations 17/00077/OUT £ 1,163.85  
17/00577/FUL £ 9.49  
19/00038/OUT £ 700.00 

 1201158OUT £ 40,937.43 
 17/02308/OUT £ 9,263.55 
Administration Monitoring of Planning 
Obligations Total 

 £ 52,073.34 

Affordable Housing Contribution  21/00643/FUL £ 45,000.00 
Affordable Housing Contribution Total  £ 45,000.00 
Biodiversity/Wildlife Mitigation 17/01375/OUT £ 16,102.80 
Biodiversity/Wildlife Mitigation Total  £ 16,102.80 
Formal Green Space  15/02384/FUL £ 18,773.49 
 15/00049/FUL £ 7,521.61 
 16/02712/FUL £ 12,943.02 
Formal Green Space Total  £ 39,238.12 
Children’s Play Contribution 1101368OUT £ 29,004.42 
Children’s Play Contribution Total  £ 29,004.42 
Green Space Informal Play Equipment Provision 17/00077/OUT £ 79,805.52 
Green Space Informal Play Equipment Provision 
Total 

 £ 79,805.52 

Health Care Contribution  1101368OUT £ 26,375.71 
Health Care Contribution Total  £ 26,375.71 
Off-site Facilities 18/00102/FUL £ 11,373.97  

17/01385/FUL £ 6,301.57 
 1400102FUL £ 18,739.00 
 19/01881/OUT £ 34,878.22 
 18/01692/FUL £ 31,565.54 
Off-site Facilities Total  £ 102,862.26 
Wheeled Bins 18/00102/FUL £ 1,446.62  

17/00077/OUT £ 21,926.69  
1201542FUL £ 174.00  
16/02712/FUL £ 3,006.27 

Page 100 of 182



   
 

Page 50 of 53 
 

Sum of Covenant Receipt Amount     
Covenant Type Application 

No 
Total 

 
17/02123/OUT £ 8,674.01  
17/01375/OUT £ 3,093.30  
1401933FUL £ 73.65 

 19/01881/OUT £ 4,025.02 
 1301274FUL £ 3,958.69 
 19/00621/FUL £ 303.39 
 1101368OUT £ 3,110.72 
 17/01687/OUT £ 8,838.00 
 17/00577/FUL £ 1,185.93 
 18/01692/FUL £ 7,206.99 
 17/01385/FUL £ 450.00 
 15/00049/FUL £ 300.00 
 16/01672/FUL £ 1,500.00 
 19/00038/OUT £ 41.59 
UU Wheeled Bins - small sites’ wheeled bins 
contributions 

Various £ 9,634.70 

Wheeled Bins Total  £ 78,949.57 
Grand Total  £ 469,411.74 

 

  

Detail of money received during 2021/22
Administration Monitoring of
Planning Obligations

Affordable Housing Contribution

Biodiversity/Wildlife Mitigation

Formal Green Space

Children’s Play Contribution

Green Space Informal Play
Equipment Provision

Health Care Contribution

Off-site Facilities

Page 101 of 182



   
 

Page 51 of 53 
 

S4 – Affordable Housing Units to be Provided on site 

 
App No Deed Date Address Deed Details Affordable 

Units 
19/00038/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated  
19th April 2021 

Meadow View Farm, 
Thrapston Road, 
Brampton, Huntingdon 
PE28 4NN 

Outline planning application for residential 
development of up to 30 dwellings and a 
care home of up to 70 beds with all matters 
reserved except for the two main vehicular 
accesses (phased development) 

12 

20/01915/FUL 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated  
24th June 2021 

Land North East of 29, 
The Green, 
Great Staughton 

Erection of 12 affordable houses, new 
vehicular access, and alterations to the 
public footpath 

12 

19/00552/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
30th June 2021 

Land West of The 
Avenue, 
Ramsey 

Residential development of up to 100 
dwellings including access, open space, 
green infrastructure, landscaping, and 
associated infrastructure including 
sustainable urban drainage features. All 
matters reserved apart from access. 

40 

20/00863/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
30th June 2021 

Land off Tunkers 
Lane, 
Bury 

Proposed development of up to 87 
dwellings to include public open space, 
landscaping, access (including widening of 
Tunkers Lane) and associated works. 
Approval sought for Access at this stage 
with Layout Landscaping Scale and 
Appearance as reserved matters. 

35 

P
age 102 of 182



   
 

Page 52 of 53 
 

App No Deed Date Address Deed Details Affordable 
Units 

20/00308/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
14th July 2021 

Land West of 
Longlands Close and 
North of the Paddock 
Caravan Park, 
Ramsey Road, 
Warboys 

Outline planning application with all matters 
reserved apart from access for the erection 
of up to 24 residential dwellings including 
affordable housing (Use Class C3) together 
with parking areas, landscaping and other 
associated infrastructure following the 
demolition of no.21 Ramsey Road and 
associated outbuildings. 

 
9 

20/02540/FUL 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
19th July 2021 
 

Land East of 2, 
Cardinal West, 
Godmanchester 

Full planning application for 54 dwellings. 22 

19/02280/FUL 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
19th July 2021 

Land North of the 
How, Houghton Road, 
St Ives 

Refurbishment of The Lodge and its 
retention as a single dwelling the erection 
of 18 dwellings (including five units of 
Affordable Housing) with associated private 
amenity spaces and parking, the provision 
of public open space, landscaping, and 
improved vehicular and pedestrian access 

5 

20/00208/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
3rd August 2021 
 

Land North of 15, 
Yaxley Road, Holme 

Proposed residential development (rural 
exception site) comprising of 6 affordable 
units and 4 open market units with approval 
sought for access, scale, layout, and 
appearance. 

6 

20/01407/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
5th November 2021 

Land North of 
Shawley Road and 
West of 
Glatton Road, Sawtry 

Outline planning application for the 
residential development of up to 340 
dwellings alongside associated site 
infrastructure open space (including 

136 

P
age 103 of 182



   
 

Page 53 of 53 
 

App No Deed Date Address Deed Details Affordable 
Units 

provision of a Neighbourhood Equipped 
Area for Play) and provision of land 
earmarked for a primary school (Use Class 
D1) with all matters reserved except for 
means of access and landscaping. 

20/00896/OUT 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
20th December 
2021 
 

Land Adjacent and 
Including 2, Cromwell 
Road, Eynesbury 

Outline application for a residential 
development of up to 83 homes and all 
ancillary works.  All matters reserved 
except access. 

33 

20/00285/FUL 
 

S106 Agreement 
dated 
23rd March 2022 
 

F Vindis and Sons Ltd, 
Low Road, 
Fenstanton, St Ives, 
PE27 5EL 

Demolition of existing structures and 
proposed erection of 94 dwellings together 
with associated works including a 
pedestrian boardwalk. 

26 

   Total: 336 
 

P
age 104 of 182



 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

Title/Subject Matter:  Greater Cambridge Partnership - 
  Making Connections Consultation 
 
Meeting/Date:   Cabinet – 12 December 2022   
 
Executive Portfolio:  Executive Councillor for Jobs, Economy and  
  Housing 
 
Report by:   Chief Planning Officer 
 
Ward(s) affected:  All  

 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
 
In April 2022 HDC provided comment on the ‘Cambridge: Making Connections’ 
consultation that ran from November-December 2021. Greater Cambridge 

Partnership have since published a consultation document ‘Making Connections ’

Autumn 2022 which seeks to promote transformational change to the bus 
network within and into Cambridge including multiple routes serving 
Huntingdonshire. This is to be funded by a proposed Sustainable Travel Zone 
broadly aligned with the urban area of Cambridge within which a charging 
scheme will be introduced to pay for public transport and related improvements. 
Improvements would be introduced before the charging scheme was 
implemented.  
 
The proposed scheme seeks to significantly reduce congestion and air pollution 
within Cambridge to contribute towards meeting carbon reduction targets and to 
facilitate a significant modal shift in transport usage through provision of cheaper, 
faster and more reliable bus journey options.  
 
Connections to villages and the rural areas of Huntingdonshire and other 
surrounding districts are addressed through proposals for enhanced routes and 
extended service running times supported by a network of demand responsive 
bus services to enable people to access main connecting services and travel 
hubs. An additional 10,000 park and ride spaces are also proposed to serve 
people accessing Cambridge from outside the city; all park and ride sites will be 
outside the proposed charging zone. 
 
Paragraphs 3.3 – 3.6 set out the approach to transforming the bus network. 
Paragraphs 3.7-3.9 set out the rationale and funding approach to the creation of 
a Sustainable Travel Zone (STZ).  
 

Public 

Key Decision - Yes  

Page 105 of 182

Agenda Item 7



The proposed timeline illustrated at paragraph 3.10 sets out an indicative timeline 
for implementation.  

➢ Mid-2023 - Priority bus service improvements 

➢ Early 2024 - Lower bus fares to be introduced 

➢ 2025 - Potential phasing in period of sustainable travel zone 
(options outlined in consultation) 

➢ 2027/28 - Full bus network in place; full sustainable travel zone 
implemented.  

 
It is recognised that Huntingdonshire comprises many rural settlements. The 
introduction of reliable and frequent demand responsive transport services 

across Huntingdonshire’s extensive rural area will be essential to the success of 

the scheme in terms of achieving modal shift and reducing car usage. Our 
proposed response makes it clear that HDC would welcome opportunities to work 
with the Greater Cambridge Partnership to shape the demand responsive 
transport offer within the district to ensure a truly sustainable, affordable, 
equitable, well-designed and timely bus service is available to all residents and 
businesses within Huntingdonshire.  
 
 
The consultation is open from 17th October to 23rd December 2022. The 
ConsultCambs Engagement HQ contains all consultation documentation 
including an interactive future journey planner for people to see how their 
individual journey options would be impacted. Nine drop-in public engagement 
opportunities have been offered, four community fora and two consultation 
webinars. Paper copies of consultation materials are available in libraries in 
central Cambridge, Histon, Rock Road, Cherry Hinton and Cambourne. 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
It is recommended that Cabinet 
 

a) Comment on the draft response letter as set out at Appendix B. 
 

b) Delegate authority to the Chief Planning Officer in consultation with the 
Executive Councillor for Jobs, Economy and Housing to make 
amendments to the Huntingdonshire District Council response prior to 
submission to the Greater Cambridge Partnership. 

 
c) Encourage Huntingdonshire residents and businesses, who it is 

recognised will have a range of opinions on the proposed scheme, to 
submit their own feedback to the consultation to ensure the Greater 
Cambridge Partnership has the fullest evidence base from within the 
district to inform its decision-making. 

Page 106 of 182

https://consultcambs.uk.engagementhq.com/making-connections-2022


 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Greater Cambridge Partnership (GCP) has published a consultation 

document ‘Making Connections for public consultation between 17 

October and 23 December 2022. This report seeks approval for 
submission of the letter as set out in Appendix B and in line with 
recommendations as our formal consultation response. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1. Consultation originally took place on Making Connections in November – 

December 2021 looking at a series of proposals for transforming public 
transport, cycling and walking within and into Cambridge whilst seeking 
the co-benefits of reducing pollution and congestion in the city. It also 
explored ways that the transport improvements might be funded. 
  

2.2. Feedback on that indicated that respondents’ priorities were for more 
frequent bus services, longer operating hours and cheaper fares with a 
preference for introduction of flat fares.  

 
2.3. Assessment of a range of options was undertaken to raise the money 

needed to improve buses, walking and cycling provision and lower the 
traffic levels within Cambridge. The assessments have been supported by 
public engagement over several years. They have showed that: 

 
o Higher parking charges or a workplace parking levy would not reduce 

traffic significantly and were the least supported option in the 2021 
consultation 

 
o Road user charging would reduce congestion and facilitate more 

reliable journey times. This option received more support in 2021 
than higher parking charges. 

 
o A pollution charge, with zero emission vehicles exempt, had limited 

benefits as usage of exempt vehicles is likely to increase over time 
reducing funding for buses and it was deemed discriminatory against 
those who cannot afford zero emission vehicles. 

 
o Varying the time of the charging period, for instance charging only in 

the morning peak, even with a £10 charge would not meet the 
objectives of creating better and greener transport networks and 
raising funding to deliver transformational bus network changes. 

 
2.4. The current consultation document issued by GCP builds on the 

consultation carried out in 2021 and looks in more detail at ways to 
transform the bus services into and within Cambridge, reduce traffic in the 
city and raise money to pay for transport improvements. This includes 
proposals for more frequent and faster bus routes to/from 
Huntingdonshire.  

 
2.5. Making Connections acknowledges that for many journeys there is still no 

viable alternative to car travel, reducing the range of opportunities open to 

Page 107 of 182



 

people. Congestion within Cambridge makes journeys unreliable, 
particularly at peak times, and poor air quality and high carbon emissions 
are significant challenges for the city.  

 
2.6. The Making Connections brochure is supported by a range of other 

consultation documents, including a Making Connections Map Book which 
illustrates current and proposed bus routes and frequencies through 
Cambridgeshire that are potentially impacted by the proposals. This 
includes multiple routes within Huntingdonshire. 

 
2.7. This consultation is from the Greater Cambridge Partnership. However, 

the proposed alterations to the public transport network, along with 
localised cycling and walking infrastructure improvements should be 
considered in the wider context of the draft Active Travel Strategy for 
Cambridgeshire, the Local Transport and Connectivity Plan, the draft 
Cambridgeshire Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan and the 
draft Huntingdonshire Transport Strategy. . Links to reports on these can 
be found in the background papers. Regard is also had to the  developing 
CPCA Bus Services Improvement Plan and draft Bus Strategy 

 
3. ANALYSIS 
 
3.1. The Making Connections consultation focuses on three primary elements 

which are set out in more detail below: 
 

1) Transforming the bus network 
2) Investing in other sustainable travel schemes 
3) Creating a sustainable travel zone 

  
3.2. The consultation brochure details the key transport challenges faced by 

and within Greater Cambridge regarding congestion, limited public 
transport options and air pollution. It also reflects responses to the earlier 
consultation and notes in particular that 78% of respondents supported 
proposals to create a bus network with cheaper, faster, more frequent and 
reliable services and 68% supported reducing traffic to improve walking 
and cycling options. This report summarises the proposed changes 
detailed in the Making Connections brochure.  

3.3.  
Transforming the bus network  
 

3.4. Making Connections states that it proposes a world-class bus network with 
improvements to regional and rural services as well as those within 
Cambridge. Significant improvements to the bus network are proposed to 
start from mid-2023 before any charge is introduced for driving into 
Cambridge. The key elements include: 

 Introducing flat fares from 2024 of £1 for single journeys within the 
current Stagecoach Cambridge zone and £2 for journeys in the 
wider Cambridgeshire area  

 New services between residential areas, towns, village, 
employment area, education and key service locations 

Page 108 of 182

https://ehq-production-europe.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/1f30af0b47c3ccda5a3bc5828527938c21bdc8d0/original/1666088307/25bbcad41bae711aed74c9bb1c802640_MC_Brochure_v25_Digital.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIA4KKNQAKICO37GBEP/20221108/eu-west-1/s3/aws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20221108T153836Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-Signature=c0f10ff151bdf4577fa10a54df254642131bd4fc661f779ea02148c61dfb56cd
https://ehq-production-europe.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/63c2c43e200786c637baf0d721042fc585f0827a/original/1666952840/d09291746daf2c5c1987019f13494add_Map_book_-_Making_Connections_2022_consultation.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIA4KKNQAKICO37GBEP/20221108/eu-west-1/s3/aws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20221108T154713Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-Signature=53374c5fdbf57d3e6664acd80e6ac6a45a5831b49b16f1ec63abe90a14ca5e5e


 

 Higher frequency, faster services with a significant increase in 
services in villages and rural area; reduced traffic congestion is 
expected to make services faster and more reliable 

 Longer operating hours including early morning, late evening and 
Sunday services 

 Increase in rural services providing connections to market towns, 
rail station and the core bus network; regular services would be 
supported by demand responsive transport enabling every village 
to have access to a bus service 

 Simple ticketing with fare caps and special ticket options 

 Better bus infrastructure arising from investment in improvements 
to real-time information at bus stops, improved onward travel 
information at key interchanges and high standards of cleanliness 
and safety on buses and at bus stations 

 
3.5. Bus improvements will be supported by an additional 10,000 Park and 

Ride parking spaces, improved walking and cycling provision. A series of 
travel hubs are proposed to promote better interchange facilities. Funding 
will be generated by users driving with the Sustainable Travel Zone as set 
out below. 
 

3.6. Figures 2, 3 and 4 in Appendix A show the bus service connections 
proposed in the Making Connections consultation brochure. 

 
Investing in Sustainable Travel Schemes 

 
3.7. Making Connections proposes wider improvements to cycling and walking 

within Cambridge which could be achieved with lower traffic levels. These 
are of less immediate impact on Huntingdonshire but include proposals 
such as improving and extending the walking and cycling network to create 
more connections between surrounding villages and Cambridge, more 
secure cycle parking and improving public spaces. 
 
Creating a Sustainable Travel Zone 

 
3.8. The proposed Sustainable Travel Zone (STZ) is an area within which 

vehicles would be charged for driving, initially 7:00-10:00 and between 
7:00-19:00 from 2027/28 when the full scheme might be implemented. 
Charges would apply to vehicles starting within the zone or crossing into it 
and apply once per day. The proposed STZ broadly follows the boundary 
of the urban area of Cambridge. All Park and Ride sites would be outside 
the STZ.  
  

3.9. The proposed charge is £5 for a private car or motorbike, £10 for light 
goods vehicles and minibuses and £50 for coaches and heavy goods 
vehicles. A range of charging options were considered including making 
zero emission vehicles exempt, higher parking charges, peak hour only 
charging and a higher charge of £10 per car. The £5 charge is expected 
to achieve the required level of traffic reduction and the funding for the 
transformational bus project with a lower financial burden on those paying 
than other options might generate. The Making Connections consultation 

Page 109 of 182

https://ehq-production-europe.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/1f30af0b47c3ccda5a3bc5828527938c21bdc8d0/original/1666088307/25bbcad41bae711aed74c9bb1c802640_MC_Brochure_v25_Digital.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIA4KKNQAKICO37GBEP%2F20221202%2Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20221202T144807Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-Signature=a00a9679555af718ce738b69a51b9e702a0b4d4f48918126b45ae840a55581aa


 

brochure does not set out detail on how initial improvements and fare 
reductions would be funded prior to introduction of the STZ charging zone. 

 
3.10. A series of exemptions and discounts are proposed such as blue badge 

holders receiving a 100% discount on up to 2 vehicles and a taped 
discount of 25-100% for people on low incomes. Details of these proposals 
are still being developed. A reimbursement scheme is also proposed to be 
developed to compensate for journeys such as patients accessing 
accident and emergency services and social care workers. 

 
Timeline and Benefits 

 
3.11. Figure 1 below illustrates the proposed timeline for implementation of the 

proposals set out in the Making Connections brochure. 
 

 
 

Figure 1: Making Connections Timeline 

 
3.12. The proposals set out in Making Connections are anticipated to achieve a 

series of benefits: 

 Tackling transport-related social exclusion of those currently unable 
to access opportunities, key services and community life because 
the bus services are inadequate, unreliable or too expensive 

 Creating a healthier and cleaner environment arising from a 50% 
anticipated reduction in traffic, resulting in substantial reductions in 
air pollution 

 Breaking the cycle of car dependency due to a lack of realistic 
alternatives 

 Meeting carbon reduction targets and contributing to tackling the 
climate crisis 

 Creating a stable and ongoing source of funding for the bus and 
active travel network reducing reliance on central government 
funding and increasing local control 

 
 

Page 110 of 182



 

4. COMMENTS OF OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
 
4.1. The comments of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel will be 

circulated to Cabinet ahead of its meeting. 
 
5. KEY IMPACTS  
 
5.1. Access to the Greater Cambridge area is important for many residents of 

Huntingdonshire for employment, shopping, leisure, education and health. 
Access into Huntingdonshire in the opposite direction is also important for 
the district for similar reasons. The proposals set out in Making 
Connections are very ambitious but if delivered would represent a major 
step-change in the quality, availability and cost of public transport for 
Huntingdonshire’s residents and those travelling into the district from the 
Greater Cambridge direction. In addition to the significantly enhanced 
routes serving the district’s towns and larger villages the rural areas and 
smaller villages would have access to bookable buses through ‘demand 
responsive transport’ providing connections to market towns, rail stations 
and the core bus network allowing for connections to services into 
Cambridge if desired.  
  

5.2. The consultation enables the District Council, as well as individual  
residents and businesses, to express priorities and seek to maximise the 
benefits for the district as well Cambridge city and its immediate environs. 
Through participation in this process the District Council has the 
opportunity to promote the needs of our communities in towns, villages 
and rural areas to ensure consideration is given to all both in accessing 
enhanced travel opportunities and the impact of the potential introduction 
of a charging zone surrounding Cambridge. 

 
6. WHAT ACTIONS WILL BE TAKEN 
 

6.1. Subject to approval, including having regard to any suggested revisions 
arising from the comments of Overview and Scrutiny, the response letter 
attached as Appendix B to this report will be submitted to GCP. External 
communications will also reinforce the District Council’s encouragement to 
residents and businesses within Huntingdonshire to submit responses to 
the consultation directly prior to its close. 

 
7. LINK TO THE CORPORATE PLAN, STRATEGIC PRIORITIES AND/OR 

CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 
 
7.1. The Making Connections proposals could help to deliver several of HDC, 

in particular: 

 Tackling climate change and caring for the environment 

 Enhancing employment opportunities and supporting businesses 

 Supporting the needs of residents 

 Strengthening our communities 
 

 

 

Page 111 of 182



 

8. CONSULTATION 
 
8.1. Consultation started on the Making Connections brochure on 17th October 

2022. The brochure and a range of supporting documents along with an 
online survey response option are all available at ConsultCambs 
Engagement HQ. Nine drop-in public engagement opportunities have 
been offered, four community fora and two consultation webinars. Paper 
copies of consultation materials are available in libraries in central 
Cambridge, Histon, Rock Road, Cherry Hinton and Cambourne. 

 
8.2. An interactive planner is available on the consultation website for people 

to explore how they would be able to travel on the proposed new network. 
This provides before and after scenarios to illustrate potential changes to 
service levels and travel opportunities. 

 
9. HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1. The Making Connections proposals focus primarily on bus transport 
improvements but includes some proposals for enhanced walking and 
cycling routes and improved public open spaces in Cambridge which could 
all offer health and wellbeing benefits. The introduction of widespread zero 
emission bus services and opportunities for substantial modal shift away 
from the use of private cars provides opportunities for significant 
reductions in air pollution.  

 

10. ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1. Delivery of the proposals set out in the Making Connections consultation 
document has the potential for very significant reductions in greenhouse 
gas emissions throughout the Greater Cambridge area and surrounding 
districts. The proposals could provide opportunities to promote a 
substantial shift in travel modes away from private vehicles and to use of 
public transport. The impacts would be further enhanced by the pledge to 
have an entirely electric, zero emission bus network in the Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough Combined Authority Area by 2030. 

 

11. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1. Making Connections contains reference to supporting people with a variety 

of protected characteristics and is supported by an Equality Impact 
Assessment. The implications for people on low incomes were also 
considered. Overall, the Equality Impact Assessment identified that 
drawbacks of the scheme can be reduced by the proposed package of 
discounts, exemptions and reimbursements and that the transformation of 
the bus network could significantly benefit many protected groups, for 
example through access to more educational opportunities for young 
people. 

 
12. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS  
 
12.1. The submission of a response to the making Connections consultation 

enables the district Council to influence the final proposals which could 
have significant impacts on Huntingdonshire’s residents and businesses.  

Page 112 of 182

https://consultcambs.uk.engagementhq.com/making-connections-2022
https://consultcambs.uk.engagementhq.com/making-connections-2022
https://ehq-production-europe.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/702318105592957153a9799590229cb9a1072d0e/original/1665496611/4c9a660cf3d0b8b5523cce05979d43a3_Equality_Impact_Assessment_DRAFT_report_Making_Connections_2022_package.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIA4KKNQAKICO37GBEP/20221109/eu-west-1/s3/aws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20221109T092709Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-Signature=d09bcb583f9e3118c3a6d6cd94abfcb9e08d59130f83d241d5b677a52054d9fc
https://ehq-production-europe.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/702318105592957153a9799590229cb9a1072d0e/original/1665496611/4c9a660cf3d0b8b5523cce05979d43a3_Equality_Impact_Assessment_DRAFT_report_Making_Connections_2022_package.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIA4KKNQAKICO37GBEP/20221109/eu-west-1/s3/aws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20221109T092709Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-Signature=d09bcb583f9e3118c3a6d6cd94abfcb9e08d59130f83d241d5b677a52054d9fc


 

 
 
13. LIST OF APPENDICES INCLUDED 
 

Appendix A – Proposed Bus Connections 
Appendix B – Proposed response on behalf of Huntingdonshire District 
Council 

 
14. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Making Connections consultation website 
Huntingdonshire Transport Strategy – Cabinet 15th November 2022 
Active Travel Strategy for Cambridgeshire – Cabinet 15th November 2022 
Local Transport and Connectivity Plan – Cabinet 19th July 2022 
Proposed Cambridge Congestion Charge – Cabinet 21st April 2022 
Draft Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan – Cabinet 15th July 2021 
 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Name/Job Title: Clare Bond, Planning Policy Team Leader 
Tel No:   01480 387104 
Email:   clare.bond@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 

Page 113 of 182

https://ehq-production-europe.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/1f30af0b47c3ccda5a3bc5828527938c21bdc8d0/original/1666088307/25bbcad41bae711aed74c9bb1c802640_MC_Brochure_v25_Digital.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIA4KKNQAKICO37GBEP%2F20221202%2Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20221202T144807Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-Signature=a00a9679555af718ce738b69a51b9e702a0b4d4f48918126b45ae840a55581aa
https://consultcambs.uk.engagementhq.com/making-connections-2022
http://moderngov.huntsdc.gov.uk:8070/documents/s124319/4.%2520Huntingdonshire%2520Transport%2520Strategy.pdf
http://moderngov.huntsdc.gov.uk:8070/documents/s124320/5.%2520Active%2520Travel%2520Strategy%2520for%2520Cambridgeshire%2520Public%2520Consultation%2520report.pdf
https://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s122179/5.%252520CPCA%252520Local%252520Transport%252520and%252520Connectivity%252520Plan%252520Report.pdf
http://moderngov.huntsdc.gov.uk:8070/documents/s119977/Item%25204%2520-%2520Proposed%2520Cambridge%2520Congestion%2520Charge%2520Report.pdf
http://moderngov.huntsdc.gov.uk:8070/documents/s116489/3.%2520Consultation%2520on%2520the%2520Draft%2520Cambridgeshire%2520Local%2520Cycling%2520and%2520Walking%2520Infratsructure%2520Plan.pdf
mailto:clare.bond@huntingdonshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B – DRAFT LETTER TO GCP 
 
Dear [name], 
 
GCP Making Connections 2022: A City Access Consultation 
 
I write on behalf of Huntingdonshire District Council to express its views in relation to 
the Making Connections 2022: A City Access Consultation by the Greater Cambridge 
Partnership (GCP). 
 
At its meeting on [xxx], the Cabinet, on behalf of Huntingdonshire District Council [will 
have] considered the potential impacts of the proposals. We recognise this is a 
challenging issue, and our residents and businesses have a range of views. This 
response builds on earlier correspondence submitted to GCP pursuant to the 
consultation of December 2021. 
 
Tackling climate change and caring for the environment is a key strategic objective of 
the Council, which is committed to proactively tackling the climate crisis and ecological 
emergency.  We therefore welcome the introduction of measures that have the 
potential to improve sustainable travel across Cambridgeshire and specifically 
enhance economic opportunities in Huntingdonshire through improved connectivity. 
 
An improved bus network could significantly reduce air pollution, contribute to carbon 
reduction targets and facilitate a modal shift in transport usage. A well-designed public 
transport system that is truly sustainable, affordable, equitable and timely would be 
transformative for residents and businesses within Huntingdonshire. Express services 
with faster journey times would be particularly valuable in overcoming immediate 
barriers to bus use from those otherwise able to access and travel on them already. 
 
We do, however, continue to have concerns with some aspects of the proposals, 
particularly the impact that they may have upon lower income residents, residents 
living in rural communities, and businesses who are all—in the immediate term—
facing incredibly challenging times, as we live through a cost of living crisis and high 
inflation against a background of great economic uncertainty.  
 
Our primary areas of concern are outlined below:   
 

 If this proposal proceeds, any Sustainable Travel Zone (STZ) must be truly 
sustainable for the long term and take account of shifting behaviours in light of 
changing work patterns post Covid-19. It is recognised that the city routes will 
be more profitable, often sustaining rural routes. With that in mind it is essential 
that the bus pricing must be modelled accordingly with clear evidence that it 
remains a truly affordable alternative to the car, alongside concrete assurances 
that rural routes will be maintained for the longer term. 
 

 We remain of the view that the proposed arrangements may penalise 
residents in villages and more remote parts of the district for whom non-car 
journeys may involve multiple changes of modes and substantially longer 
journey times. We recognise the proposed increase in park and ride capacity 
and site locations, however these would still require significant driving 

Page 115 of 182



distances by Huntingdonshire residents making use of them to enter the STZ. 
We would welcome further investigation of the viability of park and ride 
locations more distant from Cambridge, which would enable visitors to the city 
to complete fewer miles by private vehicle.  
 
 

 If the STZ succeeds in achieving the desired mode changes, it is unclear 
whether and how adequate funding sources will be secured to maintain support 
for the alternative travel options if the amount of private vehicular traffic 
significantly declines overall. We would need assurance that the improvements 
would remain viable over the long term. 
 

 Clarity is needed on how the proposals are connected with other service 
reviews being undertaken by the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined 
Authority, in particular the Local Transport and Connectivity Plan and the 
Transport Strategy Huntingdonshire, as well as the review of the Bus Strategy 
and its supporting plans.  
 

 The refund strategy associated with visits to the Addenbrooke’s/Rosie/Royal 
Papworth hospital site is unclear, and we are concerned it would be complex to 
claim. Given the wide catchment area for the hospital trusts operating on the 
site, and that a large section of our rural residents have no certainty of an 
affordable and timely travel alternative at this point, they may be 
disproportionately impacted. In light of this, we urge that a way be found of 
excluding the hospital site from the geographic area of the STZ. Ensuring all 
residents have access to healthcare when they most need it is essential. We 
agree that, with ongoing growth of the hospital site, the status quo (of 
inadequate parking on the site, inadequate road access to the site, and 
inadequate park and ride connectivity or public transport alternatives to mitigate 
the traffic challenges on the site) will not be sustainable either. 

 

 The document makes reference to low income households but fails to define a 
low income household for the purposes of this strategy. More detail is also 
required on how the discount would work. 
 

 We remain of the view that clarity is also needed on the relationship between 
GCP and Cambridgeshire County Council in these proposals, and the funding 
arrangements for initial improvements and fare reductions prior to introduction 
of the STZ. We would urge detail on which party would 
legitimately/legally/practically have the ability to spend revenue improving bus 
services outside of the GCP area be made available to HDC This will have 
significant implications for the provision, and long term maintenance of 
proposed service upgrades  to and within Huntingdonshire. 

 

 The current proposals and attached map book outline an improved bus network 
with Cambridge at the centre. For many of our residents, our market towns are 
the centre of their transport needs. Many residents of rural Huntingdonshire 
must travel to market towns for essential journeys to work, education, 
Hinchingbrooke Hospital, and to access council services. However, no routes 
have been included in the map book that would link, for example, rural residents 

Page 116 of 182



of western Huntingdonshire to the market town of Huntingdon. We urge further 
development and would welcome further investment in additional bus routes 
that link our rural communities to our market towns, to contribute to the overall 
user base and viability of the proposals. 

 
It is imperative that the views of residents and businesses across Huntingdonshire are 
fully   considered and visibly addressed in any future iterations of your proposal. We 
are also using our channels of communication to encourage their participation directly 
in the consultation in order to help GCP obtain the fullest evidence base reflecting the 
varied circumstances, needs and opinions of Huntingdonshire residents. 
 
In light of all the above, we seek assurances that GCP has fully considered the impacts 
of its proposals on all those who travel across the county, to and from the city, and in 
particular our rural residents for whom access to convenient public transport options 
is, and is likely to remain for the foreseeable future, unrealistic.  
 
Huntingdonshire District Council also seeks assurance from GCP that they will 
proactively engage to address the above issues. We would be pleased to work more 
closely in order to assist in addressing them. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
Councillor Sam Wakeford 
Executive Councillor for Jobs, Economy and Housing 

Page 117 of 182



This page is intentionally left blank



Public 
Key Decision - No 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

Title/Subject Matter: Finance Performance Report 2022/23, Quarter 2 
 
Meeting/Date: Cabinet – 12 December 2022 
  
Executive Portfolio: Executive Councillor for Finance and Resources 
 
Report by: Director of Finance and Corporate Resources 
 
Ward affected: All 
 

 

Executive Summary:  

 
The quarter 2 expenditure forecast takes into account those factors affecting 
expenditure and income that are known by the end of September 2022.  
 
Revenue Forecast; 
The net revenue budget for 2022/23 totals £21.514m, the forecast outturn as at 
the end of quarter 2 is £21.933m, a forecast overspend of £0.418m.   
 
This is as a result of (significant variations only) 
Reductions in income - Parking £131k, One Leisure £257k, Markets £85k. 
Increased staff costs- Development Management £239k, One Leisure £210k. 
Increased operating costs – One Leisure £230k, ICT £171k, Housing Benefits 
£406k. 
Underspends – Waste Management £793k, Corporate Finance £112k, 
Democratic and Elections £125k, Document Centre £68k, Licensing £77k, Parks 
£80k, Planning Policy £82k. 
 
Capital Forecast; 
The approved Budget is £12.776m plus re-phasings of £26.790m and growth 
(funded by CIL) of £2.333m gives a revised total gross capital programme of 
£41.899m. The forecast outturn is £11.035m as a result of potential re-phasings 
(subject to evaluation during the upcoming MTFS process) and underspends of 
£30.864m. The most significant variations being Huntingdon Redevelopment 
£16.095m, Future High Street /MTP £11.486m, Hinchingbrooke Country Park 
£2.689m, vehicle replacements £0.622m.  
 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
It is recommended that: 

 Cabinet considers and comments on the financial performance to the end 
of September 2022, as detailed in Appendix 1 and summarised in 
paragraph 3.2. 

Page 119 of 182

Agenda Item 8



 
 

 Cabinet is invited to consider and comment on the capital financial 
performance at the end of September 2022, as detailed in Appendix 1 and 
summarised in paragraph 3.3. 

 
 

Page 120 of 182



 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To present details of the Council’s projected financial performance for 
2022/2023. 

 

 Revenue outturn estimated overspend of £0.418m. 

 Capital outturn estimated underspend/rephasing of £30.864m. 
 
2. BACKGROUND 

 
2.1 The budget and MTFS for 2022/23 approved in February 2022, assumed a net 

expenditure budget of £21.514m, and a gross capital budget of £12.776m, 
increased to £41.899m due to re-phasing or schemes, and new schemes 
funded by CIL. 

 
2.2 The detailed analysis of the Q2 forecast outturn as at 30th September 2022 is 

attached at Appendix 1.  
 
3. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

 
3.1 Financial Performance Headlines  
 
 The outturn position for the current financial year and the impact of variations 

will be incorporated within the MTFS.  
 

Revenue  The approved Budget is £21.514m, the forecast outturn is 
£21.933 which is an overspend of £0.418m.  

  
This is mainly as a result of reductions in income; 

 On street parking due to suspension of charges (£131k). 

 One Leisure, reduced net membership fees across all sites 
(£257k). 

 Markets income due to lack of trader interest (£85k) 
 
   As well as increased staffing costs; 

 In Development Management due to use of agency staff to 
cover vacant posts and work through the backlog of cases 
(£239k) 

 In Leisure and Health due to national living wage increases, 
market supplements, maternity pay, overtime (£210k). 

 
In addition increased costs including; 

 One Leisure gas and electricity costs (£230k) 

 ICT change in share of staff costs (£171k) 

 Housing Benefits, temporary accommodation costs not met 
through Housing Benefit payments and reduced court fees 
received (£406k) 

 
   To offset these factors there were underspends in relation to; 
        

 Waste Management, new income streams, and reduced 
recycling costs (£793k). 

Page 121 of 182



 
 

 Corporate Finance reduced net interest charges (£112k) 

 Democratic and Elections increased income and savings on 
members allowances (£125k)  

 Document Centre staffing costs (£68k) 

 Licensing team staffing costs (£77k) 

 Parks staffing costs (£80k) 

 Planning Policy staff costs (£82k) 
 

MTFS   The MTFS was updated as part of the 2022/23 Budget setting 
process and will again be updated as part of the 2023/24 Budget 
setting process which is now under way. The revision of the 
MTFS will include 2021/22 outturn variations and others 
occurring or foreseen in 2022/23 that have an impact on future 
years.  

 
Capital    The approved gross capital programme for 2022/23 is 

£12.776m, rephasing of schemes totalling £26.790m, and 
growth (schemes funded by CIL) of  £2.333m gives a 
revised gross capital programme for 2022/23 of £41.899m. 

 The forecast outturn is £11.035m giving an underspend of 
£30.864m. 

 
3.2  Summary Revenue Variances by Service  
 

The table below shows the total variances for each Service and the main 
reasons where variances are greater than £50,000. 

Head of Service 
Budget    
£'000s 

Budget 
c/fwd 

£’000s 

In year 
Changes 

£’000s 

Revised 
Budget 
£’000s 

Forecast 
Actual       
£'000s 

Forecast 
Variance 

£'000s 
Comments 

Dir of Finance and 
Resources 

6,878  
 
 
 

 

6,878  6,857  (22) 

Reduced commercial estates rent 
income, lower net interest payments, 
increased land charges fees, increased 
FM rent, vacant Director post. 

Chief Operating 
Officer 

5,176  
  

5,176  5,287  111  

3 vacant posts in the Document Centre, 
temporary accommodation costs not met 
from HB payments, reduced bad debt 
charge, vacant posts in Licencing. 

Programme Delivery 
Manager 

73  
  

73  40  (33) 
Vacant post 

Chief Planning 
Officer 

441  
  

441  592 151 
Increased costs because vacant posts 
and backlog work being covered by 
agency staff. 

Economic 
Development 

198  
  

198  200  2  
 

Housing Manager 187    187  191  4   

Corporate 
Leadership 

1,201  
  

1,201  1,226  26  
 

Transformation 298    298  298  0   

Head of Operations 4,483  

  

4,483  3,874  (610) 

Reduced car park income, HCP delays 
reducing income, loss of markets 
income, Climate Strategy Review delay, 
Street Cleaning savings from new 
methods, increased recycling income 
and reduced recycling fees. 

Head of Leisure and 
Health 

(25) 
  

(25) 592  617  
Increased electricity costs, reduced 
membership income and minimum wage 
costs 

Head of ICT 2,604    2,604  2,776  172  Digital Team funding partnership change 

Total 21,514  0  0  21,514  21,933  418   

Page 122 of 182



 
 

 

 

Further analysis of the revenue variance and service commentary are in 
Appendix 1.  This provides the variances by service and where the variances 
are greater than +/- £10,000 comments have been provided by the budget 
managers/Head of Services. Where there are adverse variances the budget 
managers have provided details of the actions they are undertaking and 
where possible indicated if this will have an ongoing impact on the MTFS.  

 

3.3  Capital Programme 
  

The approved gross capital programme for 2022/23 is £12.776m, re-phasing 
of schemes  totalling £26.790m, and growth (schemes funded by CIL) of 
£2.333m gives a revised gross  capital programme for 2022/23 of 
£41.899m. 

 
The capital programme is forecast to have an in-year underspend of 
£30.864m, as detailed  in the table below. As part of the MTFS, the capital 
expenditure programme will be  reviewed in line with future needs and 
available funding. 
 
The table below shows the total variances for each Service and the main 
reasons where variances are greater than £50,000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 123 of 182



 
 

Service Area 

Original 
Budget 
2022/23 
£ 

Budget B/F 
from 
2021/22 
£ 

Growth and 
Other 
Adjustments 
£ 

Current 
Budget 
2022/23    
£  

YTD 
Actual 
2022/23 
£ 

 
Q2 
Forecast 
2022/23 
£ 
 
 

Forecast 
Variance 
2022/23 
£ 

Comment on 
Variances 
over £50,000 

Director of 
Finance and 
Resources 

7,876,000 9,957,790 (7,680) 17,826,110 79,399 1,216,004 (16,610,106) 

Huntingdon 
Redevelopment 
(£16.1m), 
feasibility not 
yet undertaken. 
Retrofit 
buildings 
(£226k) 
replaced by 
decarb scheme. 
Bridge Place 
car park (£93k) 
delayed until 
land sold. 

Chief 
Operating 
Officer 

47,000 88,000 0 135,000 15,385 46,718 (88,282) 

Reduced 
conservation 
project costs 
(£94k) 

Corporate 
Director Place 

675,000 12,354,825 108,175 13,138,000 (22,574) 1,651,858 (11,486,142) 

Future High St 
(£10.88m) and 
Market Towns 
(£610k) 
rephasing. 

Growth 
Manager 

200,000 806,000 0 1,006,000 98,687 3,054,937 2,048,937 

Funding CIL 
schemes from 
CIL reserve 
£2.4m, A14 
rephase 
(£200k). 

Head of ICT 437,000 321,955 (6,945) 752,010 43,701 391,300 (360,710) 

Datacentre 
Racks (£244k) 
partnership 
funding not yet 
available, 
telephone 
replacement 
(£67k) 

Head of 
Leisure & 
Health 

285,000 485,210 0 770,210 106,931 757,525 (12,685)  

Head of 
Operations 

1,456,000 2,726,680 2,239,010 6,421,690 270,169 2,105,824 (4,315,870) 

HCP (£2.7m) 
project 
rephasing, 
vehicle delivery 
delays (£621k), 
less wheeled 
bin purchases 
(£152k), 
Godmanchester 
weir (£163k), St 
Ives Park 
(£80k), St 
Neots Riverside 
(£433k), Cycle 
Storage 
(£128k) 

Housing 
Manager 

1,800,000 0 0 1,800,000 (500,667) 1,760,541 (39,459)  

Transformation 0 50,000 0 50,000 0 50,000 0  

Total 12,776,000 26,790,460 2,332,560 41,899,020 91,031 11,034,707 (30,864,317)  

Note; The projects funded from CIL (CIL funding in brackets) and included in the growth column are St Neots Riverside 
Paths  (£445k), Godmanchester Weir (£248k), St Ives Park (£22k), Priory Park Mains Power (£15k), Hinchingbrooke 
Country Park  Enhancements (£1,495k). 

 
 

3.4 Council Tax and Business Rates Collection 
 
 

The Council Tax collection rate at the end of quarter 2 (57.00%) is broadly in 
line with that for the previous year (56.96%).   

 

Page 124 of 182



 
 

 The Business Rates collection rate at the end of quarter 2 (58.88%) is slightly 
higher than at the end of quarter 2 in the previous year (55.92%), due to 
continued covid related reliefs given to the retail, hospitality and leisure 
sectors.   

 
 The number of working age Council Tax Support claimants at the end of 
quarter 2 was 4,036 which is 438 less than at the end of quarter 2 in 2021/22 
(4,474). The number of  pensioner CTS claimants has remained fairly 
static, 2,874 at the end of quarter 2 2022/23, compared to 2,951 for the 
same period last year.   

 
4. UPDATE ON THE COMMERCIAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT 

PROPERTY 

 
4.1 The Commercial Investment Strategy (CIS) was approved by Cabinet in 

September 2015 and the CIS Business Plan in December 2015. The 
implementation of the CIS is seen as a key means by which the Council can 
generate income to assist it in meeting the forecast gap in the revenue 
budget.  The CIS supplements the income from the legacy estate of 
investment properties, held for the purpose of generating revenue income. 

  
4.2 At the end of Quarter 2, the financial projections for the CIS and investment 

properties are:  
  

CIS Investments  Budget 
(£’000s)  

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000s)  

Variance 
(£’000s)    

Cash Investments    

CCLA Property Fund  (162)  (162)  0    

Total Cash Investments  (162)  (162)  0    

     

Property Rental Income  (4,696)   (5,501)  (805)    

MRP  581  581  0    

Net Direct Property Income  (4,115)  (4,920)  (805)   

Management Charge  100  100  0    

Total Property Investments  (4,015)  (4,820)  (805)    

TOTAL  (4,177)  (4,982)  (805)     

     

CIS Borrowing (Maturity Loans)     

Property Lender Amount % (Fixed)  

Wakefield PWLB £11,963,000 2.18  

Fareham PWLB £5,000,000 2.78  

Rowley Centre PWLB £7,292,000 2.49  

     

 
 

4.3 Market Update and Activity 
 
 There remain very few investment opportunities within District or 

Cambridgeshire, which could be acquired from the limited funds in CIS 

Page 125 of 182



 
 

reserve. PWLB borrowing is now restricted and is no longer available to fund 
investments for yield.  
  
The majority of the Council’s investment properties were acquired using 
earmarked reserves or cash balances. Investments at Fareham, Rowley 
Centre and Tri-Link were funded from PWLB loans, although part of the price 
and acquisition costs were met from reserves.  
  
Based on our own experience and anecdotally from discussions with local 
agents, there is still healthy demand in the small/starter units (up to 
1,500sqft).  However, enquiries for the larger industrial units have cooled; 
whether due to general economic uncertainty or specifics such as the rises 
in energy costs – meaning businesses are being cautious rather than 
committing to new leases. 
 
The retail and the restaurant market remains fragile, the council has had a 
couple of approaches from small businesses enquiring about their options to 
vacate; considering their options dependent on business levels over 
Christmas 2022. 

 
The table below show the activity in relation to leases, rents and vacant 
properties in  the last quarter and a forecast for the next quarter. 

  
The activity noted relates to investment property assets only, additional 
activity is undertaken to manage assets which fall under other services and 
every opportunity  taken to maximise income from surplus space within 
offices and operational assets 

 

CIS and Investment Property 
Activity 

Quarter 1 
Actual 

Quarter 2 
Actual 

Cumulative 

Quarter 3 
Forecast 

Number of lettable units (shops, 
industrial units, warehouses and 
offices) 

 
140 

 
140 

 
140 

Number of leases renewed and 
rent reviews completed 

 
3 

 
6 

 
13 

Increases/(decrease) in annual 
rents receivable due to lease 
renewals 

 
£8,000 

(27.4%) 

 
£16,650 

(27%) 
 

 
(£253,000) 

Increase/(decrease) in annual 
rents receivable due to new 
leases 

 
£1,700 

(37.7%) 

 
£1,700 

37.7% 

 
(£26,385) 

Number of units under offer 3 5 2 

Total number of vacant properties; 9 12(a) 10 

           By town      Huntingdon 2 2 2 

                  St Neots 5 5 4 

                  St Ives 2 3 2 

   Fareham  0 2 2 

    

Units vacated (in each quarter) 1 3 2 

   (a)8.6% of lettable units 

 

 

Page 126 of 182



 
 

 

5. COMMENTS OF OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

 
 The comments of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel will be circulated 

ahead of the Cabinet meeting. 
 
6. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

 Cabinet is invited to consider and comment on the revenue financial 
performance at the end of September 2022, as detailed in Appendix 1 
and summarised in paragraph 3.2. 

 Cabinet is invited to consider and comment on the capital financial 
performance at the end of September 2022, as detailed in Appendix 1 
and summarised in paragraph 3.3. 

 
7. LIST OF APPENDICES INCLUDED 

 
 Appendix 1 – Financial Performance Monitoring Q2 
  
 
CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Karen Sutton, Director of Finance and Corporate Resources  
     01480 387072 
 

Page 127 of 182



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Appendix 1 

 

Financial Performance Monitoring Suite 

September 2022 – Quarter 2 
 

Executive summary 

This report sets out the financial forecast for September 2022, for revenue and capital. The 

headlines are: 

 

Revenue - the forecast outturn is an estimated overspend of £418,000 when compared to 

the current budget.  

 

The main variations (over £100,000) are; 

Underspends 

Corporate Finance   £112,000 Lower interest payments 

Democratic and Elections  £125,000 More income elections and land charges less 

      expenditure on members allowances 

Waste Management   £794,000 Additional income from bulky waste, recycling 

      credits and recycling gate fees are now  

      income rather than a payment 

 

Overspends 

Housing Benefits  £406,000 Temporary accommodation costs not met by 

      Housing Benefit payments, and a reduction in 

      costs paid to the council from recovery action 

      taken at court 

Covid Recovery  £143,000 

Development Management £239,000 Cost of agency staff for vacant posts and  

      backlog 

Car Parking On Street £131,000 Loss of income due to covid restrictions not  

      being met 

Leisure and Health  £617,000 Increased electricity costs, reduced   

      membership income and minimum wage costs 

ICT    £172,000 Change in allocation of digital team between 

      partners 

 

 

Capital Programme – the forecast outturn is an estimated delayed spend of £30.864m. 

 

Large Variations - Underspends or Rephase 

Huntingdon Redevelopment £16.095m Feasibility study to be undertaken before   

      proceeding 

Future High Street /MTP £11.486m Schemes planning in progress some  

      expenditure to be rephased to 2023/24 

Hinchingbrooke CP  £2.689m Scheme has been delayed 

Vehicle and Fleet  £0.622m Delay in vehicles being delivered

Page 129 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

2 
 

  

Service Commentary                 

The following table provides the variances by service and where variances are greater than +/- £10,000 comments have been provided by the budget 

managers/Head of Service.  Where there are adverse variances the budget managers have provided details of the actions they are undertaking to address 

the overspend.  

 

Head of Service 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
C/F From 
2021/22 

In year 
changes 

Revised 
Current 
Budget 

Actuals to 
30 Sept 

2022 

Q2 
Forecast 

 

Funded 
from 

Reserves 

Revised 
Q2 

Forecast 

Variance to Current 
Budget 

Forecast 
Spend 

Forecast 
Income 

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s % £'000s £'000s 

Dir of Finance and Resources 6,878    6,878  422  6,878  (22) 6,857  (22) (0.3) 12,795 (5,939) 

Chief Operating Officer 5,176    5,176  4,585  5,246  40  5,287  111  2.2  38,342  (33,056) 

Programme Delivery Manager 73    73  40  40  0  40  (33) (45.8) 40  0  

Chief Planning Officer 441    441  (661) 592 0  592 151 34.2  2,900 (2,307) 

Economic Development 198    198  106  200  0  200  2  0.9  206  (6) 

Housing Manager 187    187  254  191  0  191  4  1.9  470  (280) 

Corporate Leadership 1,201    1,201  419  1,226  0  1,226  26  2.1  1,226  0  

Transformation 298    298  149  298  0  298  0  0.0  315  (17) 

Head of Operations 4,483  
  

4,483  1,226  3,979  (106) 3,874  (610) (13.6) 9,782  (5,909) 

Head of Leisure and Health (25)   (25) 349  620  (28) 592 617 2,428.4  6,083  (5,490) 

Head of ICT 2,604    2,604  5,240  2,776  0  2,776  172  6.6  7,680  (4,904) 

Total 21,514  0  0  21,514  12,129 22,046 (116) 21,933 418 1.94 79,839 (57,908) 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 130 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

3 
 

 

 

 

Head of 
Service 

Service 
Grouping 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
C/F From 
2020/21 

In year 
changes 

Current 
Budget 

Actuals to 30 
September 

2022 
Q2 Forecast 

Funded 
from 

Reserves 

Revised Q2 
Forecast 

Variance to 
Current Budget 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 
 

 
Comments on 

Variance 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ %  

Dir of Finance 
& Resources 

Commercial 
Estates 

(2,959,599) 0  0  (2,959,599) (2,796,765) (2,929,650) 0  (2,929,650) 29,949  1 

Tenants operating lease breaks 

(unexpected and unbudgeted) 

£138k impact, balanced by 

better than budget forecast at 

Oak Tree Centre (£62k) and 

salary saving on unfilled posts 

(£45k) 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources Corporate 

Finance 
5,355,530  0  0  5,355,530  1,008,767  5,264,224  (21,620) 5,242,604  (112,926) -2.1 

Lower interest on PWLB loan 

due to early repayment and 

higher interest receipts from 

investments. 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources 

Democratic & 
Elections 

928,428  0  0  928,428  616,078  803,884  0  803,884  (124,544) -13.4 

More income generated than 

budgeted for land charges. 

Underspend on Members' 

Special Duty Allowances. Income 

from parish council recharges 

for running elections on their 

behalf 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources 

Energy & 
Sustainability 

Mgt 
54,992  0  0  54,992  (13,464) 40,370  0  40,370  (14,622) -26.6 

Vacant post saving 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources 

Facilities 
Management 

864,639  0  0  864,639  541,195  908,142  0  908,142  43,503  5 

Additional income generated 

letting out part of 2nd floor 

Pathfinder House to CPCA 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources 

Finance 822,400  0  0  822,400  412,928  821,171  0  821,171  (1,229) -0.1 
 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources 

AD Corporate 
Resources 

104,518  0  0  104,518  36,173  87,508  0  87,508  (17,010) -16.3 

Savings due to the vacant 

director post being filled part 

way through the year 

P
age 131 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

4 
 

Head of 
Service 

Service 
Grouping 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
C/F From 
2020/21 

In year 
changes 

Current 
Budget 

Actuals to 30 
September 

2022 
Q2 Forecast 

Funded 
from 

Reserves 

Revised Q2 
Forecast 

Variance to 
Current Budget 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 

 

 
Comments on 

Variance 

  £ 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

£ % 
 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources Human 

Resources 
497,593  0  0  497,593  275,657  524,844  0  524,844  27,251  5.5 

Internal investment to facilitate 

recruitment savings in other 

services 

 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources 

Legal 223,940  0  0  223,940  3,359  222,136  0  222,136  (1,804) -0.8 
 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources 

Public 
Conveniences 

0  0  0  0  750  724  0  724  724  0 
 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources 

Risk 
Management 

139,206  0  0  139,206  57,262  139,583  0  139,583  377  0.3 
 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources 

Risks & Control 846,705  0  0  846,705  181,511  852,016  0  852,016  5,311  0.6 
 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources 

Covid Recovery 0  0  0  0  98,275 143,296 0 143,296 143,296 - 
 

Dir of Finance 
& Resources 

Total 6,878,352 0  6,878,352 421,726 6,878,248 (21,620) 6,856,628 (21,724)  
 

            
 

            
 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Building 
Control 

152,540  0  0  152,540  (3,447) 139,178  0  139,178  (13,362) -8.8 

Central Services income 

recharge to be generated at end 

of year. This activity is not 

budgeted for, so there is a 

surplus. 

 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Business Team 279,496  0  0  279,496  126,785  251,915  0  251,915  (27,581) -9.9 
Salary underspend on vacant 

Operational Manager post. 

P
age 132 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

5 
 

Head of 
Service 

Service 
Grouping 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
C/F From 
2020/21 

In year 
changes 

Current 
Budget 

Actuals to 30 
September 

2022 
Q2 Forecast 

Funded 
from 

Reserves 

Revised Q2 
Forecast 

Variance to 
Current Budget 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 

 

 
Comments on 

Variance 

  £ 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

£ % 
 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

108,229  0  0  108,229  70,054  117,906  0  117,906  9,677  8.9  

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Closed 
Churchyards 

(13,000) 0  0  (13,000) 0  0  0  0  13,000  100 

Unachievable income of £15k, 

variance is £13k because no 

spend against income – a bid 

will be placed into 23/24 to 

remove this income 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Community 
Team 

585,307  0  0  585,307  253,061  584,579  0  584,579  (728) -0.1  

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Council Tax 
Support 

(115,000) 0  0  (115,000) (140,694) (124,088) 0  (124,088) (9,088) -7.9  

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Customer 
Services 

979,276  0  0  979,276  412,746  949,096  0  949,096  (30,180) -3.1 

The underspend is due to 
vacancies within the service and 
the time it takes to recruit and 

for new starters to join. In 
addition to this, following the 
introduction of the portal and 

new telephony system we have 
taken the time to review the job 
description of the technical roles 
within the service to ensure we 

are recruiting for the correct 
skills to support the service. This 

has taken time and delayed 
recruitment to a technical 

vacancy, which has impacted the 
service but was the right thing 

to do. 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Document 
Centre 

250,993  0  0  250,993  118,445  182,815  0  182,815  (68,178) -27.2 

3 posts that have been 

budgeted for in 22/23 in error. 

These have been removed for 

23/24. 

            
 

P
age 133 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

6 
 

Head of 
Service 

Service 
Grouping 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
C/F From 
2020/21 

In year 
changes 

Current 
Budget 

Actuals to 30 
September 

2022 
Q2 Forecast 

Funded 
from 

Reserves 

Revised Q2 
Forecast 

Variance to 
Current Budget 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 

 

 
Comments on 

Variance 

  £ 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

£ % 
 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Emergency 
Planning 

30,692  0  0  30,692  14,673  24,296  0  24,296  (6,396) -20.8 

 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Environmental 
Health Admin 

122,427  0  0  122,427  61,704  133,536  0  133,536  11,109  9.1 

Upgrade to post and cost of 

living increases. 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Environmental 
Protection 

Team 

357,612  0  0  357,612  (70,654) 333,935  0  333,935  (23,677) -6.6 

Covid funding of £22k for public 

health, eviction and 

repossession costs savings £10k, 

acting up costs £8k. 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Housing 
Benefits 

1,554,017  0  0  1,554,017  3,581,767  1,960,368  0  1,960,368  406,351  26.1 

Employees: salary spend on 

establishment is forecasting an 

underspend of £42k.   

Contractor expenditure is 

estimated at £136k.  Partially 

offset by new burdens funding. 

Income & Fees / Benefit & 

Transfer Payments: to be offset 

against each other. .  Net 

increase in cost is due to temp 

accommodation costs not met 

through HB subsidy. Supplies & 

Services: Forecast reduction in 

income from summons costs 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Housing 
Miscellaneous 

28,712  0  0  28,712  4,043  15,254  0  15,254  (13,458) -46.9 

Increased ground rents £10k, 
increased management fee £5k, 

and salary savings £5k. 

            
 

            
 

P
age 134 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

7 
 

Head of 
Service 

Service 
Grouping 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
C/F From 
2020/21 

In year 
changes 

Current 
Budget 

Actuals to 30 
September 

2022 
Q2 Forecast 

Funded 
from 

Reserves 

Revised Q2 
Forecast 

Variance to 
Current Budget 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 

 

 
Comments on 

Variance 

  £ 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

£ % 
 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Housing Needs 1,141,989  0  0  1,141,989  327,147  1,050,785  41,393  1,092,178  (49,811) -4.4 

Additional Homelessness 

Prevention Grant allocation 

from DLUHC of £227k. As a 

ringfenced grant any 

underspend will be transferred 

to a reserve and carried forward 

to next year. This figure is 

currently forecast at £45k. It is 

also forecast that bad debt 

provision this year is likely to be 

£45k below the budgeted 

amount. 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Licencing (56,494) 0  0  (56,494) (171,224) (133,524) 0  (133,524) (77,030) -136.4 

There is a reduction in taxi 

Drivers & Operators income. the 

majority of this is due to a 

reduction in the income for 

23/24, which is a result of the 

covid recovery not as expected. 

Salary, NI & LGPS underspend, 

the Licensing Manager and 

Operational Manager (Business) 

are both vacant posts and the 

Licensing manager resource is 

covered by a current shared 

agreement with FDC. 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Local Tax 
Collection 

(230,770) 0  0  (230,770) 1,711  (239,339) 0  (239,339) (8,569) -3.7 

 

Chief 
Operating 

Officer 

Total 5,176,026   5,176,026 4,586,117 5,246,712 41,393 5,288,105 112,079  

 

            
 

P
age 135 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

8 
 

Head of 
Service 

Service 
Grouping 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
C/F From 
2020/21 

In year 
changes 

Current 
Budget 

Actuals to 30 
September 

2022 
Q2 Forecast 

Funded 
from 

Reserves 

Revised Q2 
Forecast 

Variance to 
Current Budget 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 
 

 
Comments on 

Variance 

  £ 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

£ % 
 

Programme 
Delivery 
Manager 

Programme 
Delivery 

72,937  0  0  72,937  39,556  39,556  0  39,556  (33,381) -45.8 

Staff saving due to vacancy. 

Programme 
Delivery 
Manager 

Total 72,937  0  0  72,937  39,556  39,556  0  39,556  (33,381)  

 

Chief 
Planning 
Officer 

Development 
Management 

(256,880) 0  0  (256,880) (892,828) (17,746)  (17,746) 239,134  93.1 

Cost of agency staff for 

vacant posts and backlog. 

Pre-application Service re-

commenced Oct 22. 

Programme of Service 

Improvement Plan underway. 

Chief 
Planning 
Officer 

Planning 
Policy 

674,211  0  0  674,211  223,060  592,150  592,150 (82,061) -12.2 

£60k - Staff vacancies 

£22k - additional priority service 

income 

Chief 
Planning 
Officer 

Public 
Transport 

24,000  0  0  24,000  8,345  18,011  18,011 (5,989) -25.0 

 

Chief 
Planning 
Officer 

Total 441,331 0 0 441,331 (661,423) 592,415   592,415  151,084 34.2 

 

            
 

Economic 
Development 

Economic 
Development 

198,252  0  0  198,252  106,447  199,954  0  199,954  1,702  0.9 
 

Economic 
Development 

Total 198,252  0  0  198,252  106,447  199,954  0  199,954  1,702  0.9 
 

P
age 136 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

9 
 

Head of 
Service 

Service 
Grouping 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
C/F From 
2020/21 

In year 
changes 

Current 
Budget 

Actuals to 30 
September 

2022 
Q2 Forecast 

Funded 
from 

Reserves 

Revised Q2 
Forecast 

Variance to 
Current Budget 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 

 

 
Comments on 

Variance 

  £ 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

£ % 
 

Housing 
Manager 

Housing 
Strategy 

186,980  0  0  186,980  97,837  190,563  0  190,563  3,583  1.9 
 

Housing 
Manager 

Market Towns 0  0  0  0  156,431  0  0  0  0  0 
 

Housing 
Manager 

Total 186,980 0 0 186,980 254,268 190,563 0 190,563 3,583  
 

            
 

Corporate 
Leadership 

Directors 1,035,191  0  0  1,035,191  340,717  1,044,871  0  1,044,871  9,680  0.9 
 

Corporate 
Leadership 

Executive 
Support & 
Business 
Planning 

165,403  0  0  165,403  78,612  181,375  0  181,375  15,972  9.7 

Extra salary expenditure 

 

Corporate 
Leadership 

Total 1,200,594 0 0 1,200,594 419,329 1,226,246 0 1,226,246 26,652  
 

            
 

Transformati
on 

Transformatio
n 

297,616  0  0  297,616  149,176  297,615  0  297,615  (1) 0 
 

Transformati
on 

Total 297,616  0  0  297,616  149,176  297,615  0  297,615    
 

            
 

            
 

P
age 137 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

10 
 

Head of 
Service 

Service 
Grouping 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
C/F From 
2020/21 

In year 
changes 

Current 
Budget 

Actuals to 30 
September 

2022 
Q2 Forecast 

Funded 
from 

Reserves 

Revised Q2 
Forecast 

Variance to 
Current Budget 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 
 

 
Comments on 

Variance 

  £ 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

£ % 
 

Head of 
Operations 

Car Park - On 
Street 

(131,724) 0  0  (131,724) (118,092) 62  0  62  131,786  100 

Income reduced due to CCC 

decision to suspend available 

parking on street locations or 

removal of charges (covid 

measures CCC still hasn't 

removed), as this income is 

always paid back to CCC and 

isn't HDC's this should be a zero 

budget line 

Head of 
Operations 

Car Parks - Off 
Street 

(1,053,867) 0  0  (1,053,867) (792,936) (955,238) (105,600) 
(1,060,83

8) 
(6,971) -0.7  

Head of 
Operations 

CCTV (114,393) 0  0  (114,393) (176,724) (121,421) 0  (121,421) (7,028) -6.1  

Head of 
Operations 

CCTV Shared 
Service 

243,826  0  0  243,826  266,637  287,930  0  287,930  44,104  18.1 
2 additional posts recruited to 

and approved by SLT to cover 3 
long term sickness posts 

Head of 
Operations 

Countryside 248,166  0  0  248,166  158,524  304,176  0  304,176  56,010  22.6 

Delays to investment with the 

Hinchingbrooke Country Park 

originally budgeted £70k, there 

is no additional income 

expected in 2022 or 2023 

Head of 
Operations 

Fleet 
Management 

317,275  0  0  317,275  186,459  344,942  0  344,942  27,667  8.7 
Overspend due to miscoding of 
invoices from Street Cleansing. 

Head of 
Operations 

Green Spaces 555,178  0  0  555,178  306,165  528,724  0  528,724  (26,454) -4.8 
Extra income from grounds 

maintenance. 

Head of 
Operations 

Head of 
Operations 

231,184  0  0  231,184  201,229  249,564  0  249,564  18,380  8 

Accrued costs in 22/23 for 
Reopening High Streets 

expenditure, but the full costs 
will not now be reimbursed. 

             

             

P
age 138 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

11 
 

Head of 
Service 

Service 
Grouping 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
C/F From 
2020/21 

In year 
changes 

Current 
Budget 

Actuals to 30 
September 

2022 
Q2 Forecast 

Funded 
from 

Reserves 

Revised Q2 
Forecast 

Variance to 
Current Budget 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 

 

 
Comments on 

Variance 

  £ 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

£ % 
 

Head of 
Operations 

Markets (38,346) 0  0  (38,346) 24,447  46,662  0  46,662  85,008  221.7 

Wednesday market not 

currently in operation due to 

lack of trader interest, this is 

agreed politically. Income 

budget is too high when all 

markets are 100% in operation 

Head of 
Operations 

Parks and 
Open Spaces 

486,883  0  0  486,883  127,725  406,215  0  406,215  (80,668) -16.6 

Underspend within watercourse 

budget. Following delay of 

Climate Strategy, part of 

underspend has been 

reallocated from salaries to sub-

contractors to cover additional 

resource needed for strategy 

delivery and engagement. 

Head of 
Operations 

Street 
Cleansing 

867,885  0  0  867,885  349,448  809,961  0  809,961  (57,924) -6.7 

Early implementation of some 

new operational delivery 

methods to meet 2023/24 

savings targets set by SLT have 

resulted in some in year savings. 

However we are monitoring fuel 

prices which are likely to have a 

negative impact, but on the 

current data it is hard to 

understand the detail of the 

impact on the service budget to 

make an accurate forecast on 

fuel. We are currently doing 

everything possible to reduce 

the consumption and hope to be 

able to adjust the forecast over 

the coming months.  

            
 

            
 

            
 

P
age 139 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

12 
 

Head of 
Service 

Service 
Grouping 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
C/F From 
2020/21 

In year 
changes 

Current 
Budget 

Actuals to 30 
September 

2022 
Q2 Forecast 

Funded 
from 

Reserves 

Revised Q2 
Forecast 

Variance to 
Current Budget 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 

 

 
Comments on 

Variance 

  £ 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

£ % 
 

Head of 
Operations 

Waste 
Management 

2,871,194  0  0  2,871,194  693,391  2,077,594  0  2,077,594  (793,600) -27.6 

Spend on training to upgrade 

loaders to drivers, increased 

spending on PPE. Increased 

income from trade waste, bulky 

waste and 2nd green bins. 

Overstated recycling rebated by 

£215k it should be (£588k). This 

saving is a windfall from inflated 

recycling resale rates, it is not 

expected to continue into future 

years. Increased costs from 

diesel and vehicle parts inflation 

Head of 
Operations 

Total 4,483,261 0 0 4,483,261 1,226,273 3,979,171 (105,600) 3,873,571 609,690  
 

            
 

Head of 
Leisure & 

Health 

Head of 
Leisure & 

Health 

(176,863) 0 0 (176,863) 260,983 436,118 0 436,118 612,981 346.6 

See below for Comments 

Head of 
Leisure & 

Health 

One Leisure 
Active 

Lifestyles 

151,457  0  0  151,457  88,214  183,498  (28,067) 155,431  3,974 2.6 

 

Head of 
Leisure & 

Health 

Total (25,406) 0 0 (25,406) 349,197 619,616 (28,067) 591,549 616,955  

 

            
 

            
 

            
 

P
age 140 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

13 
 

Head of 
Service 

Service 
Grouping 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
C/F From 
2020/21 

In year 
changes 

Current 
Budget 

Actuals to 30 
September 

2022 
Q2 Forecast 

Funded 
from 

Reserves 

Revised Q2 
Forecast 

Variance to 
Current Budget 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 
 

 
Comments on 

Variance 

  £ 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

£ % 
 

Head of ICT 
ICT Shared 

Service 
2,604,140  0  0  2,604,140  5,239,872  2,775,876  0  2,775,876  171,736  6.6 

The swing in position this 

quarter is down to a change 

introduced in Q1 in the way in 

which the digital team funding 

has been allocated. within the 

budget and the subsequent 

impact on the percentage splits 

for the ICT funding model. The 

change was introduced to take 

into account adjustments 

needed as a result of uplifts in 

funding from other Shared 

Service partners. 

Head of ICT Total 2,604,140  0  0  2,604,140  5,239,872  2,775,876  0  2,775,876  171,736   
 

 Grand Total 21,514,083 0 0 21,514,083 12,130,538 22,045,972 (113,894) 21,932,078 417,995 1.94 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 141 of 182



Service Grouping Summary 

 

14 
 

Leisure and Health Comments 

Quarter 1 Re-Cap:  
It is important to note that the P&L re-forecast from quarter 1 was as follows:  
Current Forecast: £317,520, Current Budget: (£25,406), Current Variance: £342,927 
Note: this did not include £27.5k of funds apportioned to the playing and built facility strategy. 
Therefore, the P&L position at this point should be £290,020                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
Quarter 2 Re-Forecast: 
Current Forecast: £619,616, Current Budget: (£25,406), Current Variance: £645,023 
As above once removing the £27.5k of funds for the playing and built facility strategy the P&L 
position following the quarter 2 re-forecast is £592,116 
Financial Review: 
The reforecast position has worsened between quarter 1 and 2 by £302,096 from £290,020 to 
£592,116. This is due to the following reasons:   
a) we have implemented the elevated utility costs for gas which went from 4p kwh to 7.65p 
kwh and electricity which moved from 14.5p kwh to 46p kwh. This added £230k to the overall 
2022/2023 re-forecast which was stated in the quarter 1 update  
b) we reported in quarter 1 that memberships were operating at a deficit of £253k, but 
through quarter 2 this has increased to £400k which is an increase between quarters of £147k. 
The most significantly affected sites are Training Shed (£130k) which has worsened by £40k, 
Huntingdon (£100k) which has worsened by £36k and St Ives (£115k) which has worsened by 
£51k.  
c) following the quarter 2 review we can identify that monthly the reduction in membership 
revenue is starting to plateau which we believe is the last impact of the newly opened budget 
gyms particularly in Huntingdon and St Ives.  
d) as part of this review, it was still apparent that the initial 2022/2023 budget figures 
(revenue) were not based upon solid membership sales and cancellation information with the 
former new openings considered when budgets were set for 2022/2023.  
e) since quarter 1 casual swimming has improved versus budget by £77k, but versus our 
quarter 1 re-forecast revenue has increased by £143k 
f) whilst undertaking the quarter 2 review we also established that whilst we had forecasted in 
quarter 1 for unbudgeted staff costs (£100k) for the national minimum wage, we had not 
apportioned an uplift for variable staff (wage increase 2%) which we have since included in 
quarter 2 at a value of £20k. In addition unbudgeted staffing costs of £49k, market 
supplements £13.3k, overtime £4.2k, training £2.7k, maternity pay £24.3k, recruitment £1.5k, 
training attendance £3.1k. 

 

 

P
age 142 of 182



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

 

The approved gross capital programme for 2022/23 is £12.776m, re-phasing of schemes totalling 

£26.790m, and growth (schemes funded by CIL) of £2.333m gives a revised gross capital programme for 

2022/23 of £41.899m. 

 

The capital programme is forecast to have an delayed spend of £30.864m. 

 

The table below shows the capital programme by scheme with proposed rephasing, expenditure to date 

and forecast outturn.   

 

 

 

Page 143 of 182



Capital Project Expenditure Summary 

 

16 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME SUMMARY 

Project 
Code 

Project Name Budget Manager 
Lead 

Officer 

Original  
Budget  
2022/23         

£ 

Latest 
Budget 
2022/23           

£ 

YTD 
Actual 
2022/23     

£ 

 Q2 
Forecast 
2022/23     

£ 

Forecast 
Variance 
2022/23             

£ 

Comment on Variances over 
£10,000 

100054 Oak Tree Remedial 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

Jackie 
Golby   35,000 12,664 29,416 (5,584) 

 

100056 Alms Close 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

Jackie 
Golby     0 0 

 

100059 
Health and Safety 
Measures 

 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

Jackie 
Golby  

 50,500 (48,460) 41,914 (8,586) 

 

100060 
Energy Efficiency 
Measures 

 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

Jackie 
Golby  10,000 84,480 0 63,357 (21,123) 

Responsive measures will only be used 
when needed, mainly to be used at 
Fareham. 

100071 Oak Tree Centre 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

Jackie 
Golby     0 0  

100111 
Estates Roof 
Replacements 

 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

Jackie 
Golby   130,000 0 97,500 (32,500) 

Responsive measures will only be used 
when needed 

100112 
Reletting 
Enhancements 

 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

Jackie 
Golby  250,000 500,000 0 375,000 (125,000) 

Responsive measures will only be used 
when needed 

100113 Reletting Incentives 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

Jackie 
Golby   150,000 0 112,500 (37,500) 

Responsive measures will only be used 
when needed, may be used at Fareham 
and Stonehill Huntingdon. 

100131 Sites for SMEs 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

Jackie 
Golby   32,760 14,413 26,103 (6,657) 

 

100001 Bridge Place 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Karen 
Sutton   301,470 11,889 208,002 (93,468) 

Work to start when sale is complete 

100052 HTC Grant 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Karen 
Sutton     0 0 

 

100063 Company Shares 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Karen 
Sutton   100,000 0 100,000 0  

100085 
Huntingdon 
Redevelopment 

 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Karen 
Sutton  7,595,000 16,095,000 0 0 (16,095,000) 

Feasibility and business plan will be 
required before commencement. 

100006 Building Efficiency 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Julian 
Leeming    16,638 41,587 41,587 

Will be funded from electricity and gas 
savings. 

P
age 144 of 182



Capital Project Expenditure Summary 

 

17 
 

Project 
Code 

Project Name Budget Manager 
Lead 

Officer 

Original  
Budget  
2022/23         

£ 

Latest 
Budget 
2022/23           

£ 

YTD 
Actual 
2022/23     

£ 

Q2 
Forecast 
2022/23     

£ 

Forecast 
Variance 
2022/23             

£ 

Comment on Variances over 
£10,000 

100035 Retrofit Buildings 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Julian 
Leeming   226,220 0 0 (226,220) 

Decarbonisation schemes in 2021/22 
have replaced this project 

100057 EFH Fire 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Karen 
Sutton     0 0 

 

100092 Lighting Loves Farm 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Karen 
Sutton   200 0 150 (50) 

 

100115 

Pathfinder House 
Building Mgt 
Software 

 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Karen 
Sutton    0 0 0 

 

100122 Skills Fund 
 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Karen 
Sutton    0 0 0 

 

100126 
Pathfinder House 
Decarbonisation 

 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Matt 
Raby    0 0 0 

 

100127 
OL Ramsey 
Decarbonisation 

 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Matt 
Raby    0 0 0 

 

100129 
Upgrade/Replace 
Public Toilets 

 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Matt 
Raby   88,980 72,255 88,975 (5) 

 

100061 
VAT Partial 
Exemption Costs 

 Director of Finance 

and Resources  
 Sharon 
Russell-
Surtees  21,000 21,000 0 21,000 0 

 

100109 
Capita and Payments 
Software 

 Director of Finance 
and Resources  

 Sharon 
Russell-
Surtees   10,500 0 10,500 0 

 

 Total   
        

7,876,000  
       

17,826,110  
              

79,399  
        

1,216,004  (16,610,106) 

 

         

 

P
age 145 of 182



Capital Project Expenditure Summary 

 

18 
 

Project 
Code 

Project Name Budget Manager 
Lead 

Officer 

Original  
Budget  
2022/23         

£ 

Latest 
Budget 
2022/23           

£ 

YTD 
Actual 
2022/23     

£ 

Q2 
Forecast 
2022/23     

£ 

Forecast 
Variance 
2022/23             

£ 

Comment on Variances over 
£10,000 

100064 Printing Equipment 
 Chief Operating 
Officer  

 Andy 
Lusha   16,000 0 0 (16,000) 

No longer needed, an external contract 
is in place to deliver our printing needs. 

100106 
Replacement 
Scanners 

 Chief Operating 
Officer  

 Andy 
Lusha   25,000 0 18,000 (7,000) 

 

100075 
Environmental Health 
Software 

 Chief Operating 
Officer  

 Finlay 
Flett   0 15,100 28,433 28,433 

Some carry forward of project into 
22/23, the system is live and in 
operational use, and the project is 
closed 

100082 Traveller Security 
 Chief Operating 
Officer  

 Finlay 
Flett   0  0 0 

 

100135 
MHP Electrical 
Works 

 Chief Operating 
Officer  

 Finlay 
Flett   0 285 285 285 

 

100125 
Conservation 
Projects 

 Chief Operating 
Officer  

 Julie 
Ayre  47,000 94,000 0 0 (94,000) 

 

 Total   
             

47,000             135,000  
              

15,385  
             

46,718  (88,282) 

 

         

 

          

         

 

         

 

         

 

         

 

         

 

P
age 146 of 182



Capital Project Expenditure Summary 

 

19 
 

Department Project Code Description 
Lead 

Officer 

Original  
Budget  
2022/23         

£ 

Latest 
Budget 
2022/23           

£ 

YTD 
Actual 
2022/23     

£ 

Q2 
Forecast 
2022/23     

£ 

Forecast 
Variance 
2022/23             

£ 

Comment on Variances over 
£10,000 

100143 St Neots Bridge 
 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott   0 (26,404) 95,894 95,894 

Funded from Future High Street Fund 
(Budget below) 

100144 
High Street 
Improvements 

 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott   0 (105,929) 340,332 340,332 

Funded from Future High Street Fund 
(Budget below) 

100145 Market Square 
 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott   0 (153,055) 656,393 656,393 

Funded from Future High Street Fund 
(Budget below) 

100146 Priory Quarter 
 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott   0 7,129 50,000 50,000 

Funded from Future High Street Fund 
(Budget below) 

100147 Priory Centre 
 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott   0 (435) 131,400 131,400 

Funded from Future High Street Fund 
(Budget below) 

 
Market Town 
Programme 

 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott  675,000 675,000 0 0 (675,000) 

The underspend and unallocated budget 
from this scheme are currently being 
assessed 

100149 
Market Town 
Ramsey 

 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott   0 15,962 20,000 20,000 

Funded from Market Town Programme  

100150 Market Town St Ives 
 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott   0 15,962 20,000 20,000 

Funded from Market Town Programme 

100151 
Market Town 
Huntingdon 

 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott   0 15,967 20,000 20,000 

Funded from Market Town Programme 

100152 Old Falcon 
 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott   0 9,650 26,839 26,839 

Funded from Future High Street Fund 
(Budget below) 

100114 Market Towns 
 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott   0  0 0 

 

100123 Future High Streets 
 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott   12,172,000 198,579 0 (12,172,000) 

A request will be made to rephase 
unspent budget to 2023/24 so the 
project can continue 

100133 
Wayfinding and 
Information 

 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Pamela 
Scott   200,000 0 200,000 0 

Currently being reviewed and assessed 

100136 Smarter Towns 
 Corporate Director 
Place  

 Jasellia 
Williams   91,000 0 91,000 0 

 

 Total   
           

675,000  
       

13,138,000  (22,574) 
        

1,651,858  (11,486,142) 
 

          

          

P
age 147 of 182



Capital Project Expenditure Summary 

 

20 
 

Department Project Code Description 
Lead 

Officer 

Original  
Budget  
2022/23         

£ 

Latest 
Budget 
2022/23           

£ 

YTD 
Actual 
2022/23     

£ 

Q2 
Forecast 
2022/23     

£ 

Forecast 
Variance 
2022/23             

£ 

Comment on Variances over 
£10,000 

100047 
Community 
Infrastructure Levy  Growth Manager  

 Claire 
Burton   0 98,687 2,454,937 2,454,937 

Expenditure to be funded from CIL 
reserve 

100076 A14 Upgrade  Growth Manager  
 Clara 
Kerr  200,000 800,000 0 600,000 (200,000) 

A14 contribution rephased 

100077 Housing Company  Growth Manager  
 Clara 
Kerr   206,000 0 0 (206,000) 

A request will be made to rephase this 
to 23/24 so the options can be reviewed 

 Total   
           

200,000          1,006,000  
              

98,687  
        

3,054,937  2,048,937 

 

          

100090 WIFI Access  Head of ICT  
 Paul 
Ashbridge   0 0 0 0 

 

100101 

Mobile Phone 
Hardware 
Replacement  Head of ICT  

 Paul 
Ashbridge  130,000 195,000 9,688 74,687 (120,313) 

 

100102 
Telephony 
Replacements  Head of ICT  

 Paul 
Ashbridge  8,000 154,010 34,013 207,017 53,007 

 

100103 

Shared Data Centre - 
Data Centre 
Expansion  Head of ICT  

 Paul 
Ashbridge   39,000 0 39,000 0 

 

100104 Information @ Work  Head of ICT  
 Paul 
Ashbridge  20,000 40,000 0 19,999 (20,001) 

 

100105 
GIS Test 
Environment  Head of ICT  

 Paul 
Ashbridge   0 0 7,999 7,999 

 

100138 Datacentre Racks  Head of ICT  
 Paul 
Ashbridge  244,000 244,000 0 0 (244,000) 

Funding not yet available from partners 
rephase request to 2023/24 

100139 SIEM  Head of ICT  
 Paul 
Ashbridge   0 0 2,599 2,599 

 

100140 SQL Server 2012  Head of ICT  
 Paul 
Ashbridge  20,000 20,000 0 9,999 (10,001) 

 

100096 AV Equipment  Head of ICT  
 Paul 
Ashbridge  15,000 60,000 0 30,000 (30,000) 

 

 Total   
           

437,000             752,010  
              

43,701  
           

391,300  (360,710) 

 

P
age 148 of 182



Capital Project Expenditure Summary 

 

21 
 

Department Project Code Description 
Lead 

Officer 

Original  
Budget  
2022/23         

£ 

Latest 
Budget 
2022/23           

£ 

YTD 
Actual 
2022/23     

£ 

Q2 
Forecast 
2022/23     

£ 

Forecast 
Variance 
2022/23             

£ 

Comment on Variances over 
£10,000 

100018 
OL St Neots 
Synthetic Pitch 

 Head of Leisure & 
Health  

 Paul 
France   0  0 0 

 

100019 
OL Huntingdon 
Condition Survey 

 Head of Leisure & 
Health  

 Paul 
France   0  0 0 

 

100020 OL Condition Survey 
 Head of Leisure & 
Health  

 Paul 
France  285,000 551,290 92,609 551,286 (4) 

 

100021 
OL Ramsey 
Condition Survey 

 Head of Leisure & 
Health  

 Paul 
France   0  0 0 

 

100023 
OL St Neots 
Condition Survey 

 Head of Leisure & 
Health  

 Paul 
France   0  0 0 

 

100024 
OL St Ives Condition 
Survey 

 Head of Leisure & 
Health  

 Paul 
France   0  0 0 

 

100025 
OL St Ives Outdoor 
Condition Survey 

 Head of Leisure & 
Health  

 Paul 
France   0  0 0 

 

100058 
One Leisure Ramsey 
3G 

 Head of Leisure & 
Health  

 Paul 
France   96,040 25,816 96,039 (1) 

 

100078 
OL St Ives Changing 
Rooms 

 Head of Leisure & 
Health  

 Paul 
France   12,680 (11,494) 0 (12,680) 

 

100079 OL Impressions 
 Head of Leisure & 
Health  

 Paul 
France   0  0 0 

 

100108 OL CCTV Upgrade 
 Head of Leisure & 
Health  

 Paul 
France   110,200 0 110,200 0 

 

 Total   
           

285,000             770,210  
            

106,931  
           

757,525  (12,685) 

 

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

P
age 149 of 182



Capital Project Expenditure Summary 

 

22 
 

Department Project Code Description 
Lead 

Officer 

Original  
Budget  
2022/23         

£ 

Latest 
Budget 
2022/23           

£ 

YTD 
Actual 
2022/23     

£ 

Q2 
Forecast 
2022/23     

£ 

Forecast 
Variance 
2022/23             

£ 

Comment on Variances over 
£10,000 

100040 Wheeled Bins  Head of Operations  
 Andrew 
Rogan  254,000 254,000 (8,044) 101,993 (152,007) 

Fewer bin purchases 

100043 Vehicle and Plant  Head of Operations  
 Andrew 
Rogan  1,139,000 1,477,700 (11,390) 855,964 (621,736) 

Less expenditure due to backlog of 
vehicle orders at the supplier. 
 

100083 
Godmanchester Mill 
Weir  Head of Operations  

 Andrew 
Rogan   248,000 84,823 84,823 (163,177) 

 

100028 
Lone Worker 
Software  Head of Operations  

 Eddy 
Gardner   20,000 0 10,000 (10,000) 

 

100037 
CCTV Camera 
Replacements  Head of Operations  

 Eddy 
Gardner   0  0 0 

 

100117 City Housing CC  Head of Operations  
 Eddy 
Gardner   0  0 0 

 

100073 Parking Strategy  Head of Operations  
 George 
McDowell   147,630 (16,066) 147,636 6 

 

100091 
Civil Parking 
Enforcement  Head of Operations  

 George 
McDowell   217,000 0 217,000 0 

 

100093 
Secure Cycle 
Storage  Head of Operations  

 George 
McDowell   148,070 (58,506) 20,000 (128,070) 

All works complete in 21/22. Waiting on 

outstanding final works price estimated 

£20k confirmation from contractor + 

outstanding invoices currently accrued. 

100132 Bicycle Kitchen  Head of Operations  
 George 
McDowell   15,000 0 15,000  

 

100099 
Huntingdon On-
Street Parking  Head of Operations  

 George 
McDowell   0  0 0 

 

100116 Additional EV Points  Head of Operations  
 George 
McDowell   0  0 0 

 

100130 
Market Trader Pop-
Ups  Head of Operations  

 George 
McDowell   17,120 0 17,117 (3) 

 

100153 Ramsey Car Park  Head of Operations  
 George 
McDowell   0  0 0 

 

100039 Play Equipment  Head of Operations  
 Helen 
Lack  30,000 30,000 15,807 35,807 5,807 

 

P
age 150 of 182



Capital Project Expenditure Summary 

 

23 
 

Department Project Code Description 
Lead 
Officer 

Original  
Budget  
2022/23         

£ 

Latest 
Budget 
2022/23           

£ 

YTD 
Actual 

2022/23     
£ 

Q2 
Forecast 

2022/23     
£ 

Forecast 
Variance 

2022/23             
£ 

Comment on Variances over 
£10,000 

          

 
Priory Park Mains 
Power  Head of Operations  

 Helen 
Lack   15,000   (15,000) 

CIL funded 

100066 
Operations Back 
Office  Head of Operations  

 Helen 
Lack   0 (13,304) 5,422 5,422 

 

100074 Park Fencing  Head of Operations  
 Helen 
Lack  13,000 13,000 7,074 14,456 1,456 

 

100084 St Ives Park  Head of Operations  
 Helen 
Lack   80,000 0 0 (80,000) 

This is CIL, unlikely to be completed this 
FY 

100118 Parklets  Head of Operations  
 Helen 
Lack   159,570 25,350 131,557 (28,013) 

CPCA accelerated scheme, saving are 
currently being identified, and new 
projects are being planned with the 
savings. 

100119 Solar Benches  Head of Operations  
 Helen 
Lack   45,510 0 36,268 (9,242) 

CPCA accelerated scheme, saving are 
currently being identified, and new 
projects are being planned with the 
savings. 

100120 Covered Benches  Head of Operations  
 Helen 
Lack   0 9,119 3,040 3,040 

 

100121 Town Walks  Head of Operations  
 Helen 
Lack   15,470 0 10,313 (5,157) 

 

100134 Places to Dwell  Head of Operations  
 Helen 
Lack   0 0 33,661 33,661 

CPCA accelerated scheme, saving are 
currently being identified, and new 
projects are being planned with the 
savings. 

100137 
Moores Walk 
Improvements  Head of Operations  

 Helen 
Lack  20,000 20,000 0 13,333 (6,667) 

To spent in conjunction with Future High 
Streets project 

100095 
Hinchingbrooke 
Country Park  Head of Operations  

 Judith 
Arnold   2,983,620 224,049 294,510 (2,689,114) 

Delays relating to Covid and then 
subsequently delays due to supply 
issues. 

100094 District Signs  Head of Operations  
 Matthew 
Chudley   70,000 0 46,667 (23,333) 

CPCA accelerated scheme, saving are 
currently being identified, and new 
projects are being planned with the 
savings. 

100100 St Neots Riverside  Head of Operations  
 Matthew 
Chudley   445,000 11,257 11,257 (433,743) 

CPCA accelerated scheme, saving are 
currently being identified, and new 
projects are being planned with the 
savings. 

P
age 151 of 182



Capital Project Expenditure Summary 

 

24 
 

Department Project Code Description 
Lead 
Officer 

Original  
Budget  
2022/23         

£ 

Latest 
Budget 
2022/23           

£ 

YTD 
Actual 

2022/23     
£ 

Q2 
Forecast 

2022/23     
£ 

Forecast 
Variance 

2022/23             
£ 

Comment on Variances over 
£10,000 

100128 
Modern Waste 
Systems  Head of Operations  

 Matthew 
Chudley   0 0 0 0 

 

 Total   
        

1,456,000          6,421,690  
            

270,169  
        

2,105,824  (4,315,870) 

 

          

100007 
Disabled Facilities 
Grants  Housing Manager  

 Pamela 
Scott  1,800,000 1,800,000 (500,667) 1,760,541 (39,459) 

There have been delays to works due to 
inspections not taking place because of 
Covid measures. 

100008 
Housing Private 
Sector  Housing Manager  

 Pamela 
Scott     0 0 

 

 Total   
        

1,800,000          1,800,000  
-           

500,667  
        

1,760,541  (39,459) 

 

          

100098 Voice Bots  Transformation  
 Dan 
Buckridge   34,000 0 34,000 0 

 

100124 Data Warehouse  Transformation  
 Dan 
Buckridge   16,000 0 16,000 0 

 

 Total   
                    

-                 50,000  0 
             

50,000  0 

 

          

          

 Grand Total   
       

12,776,000  
       

41,899,020  
              

91,031  
      

11,034,707  (30,864,317) 

 

P
age 152 of 182



 

25 
 

 

Page 153 of 182



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

 
Title:  Treasury Management 6 Month Performance  
                                           Review 
 
Meeting/Date:   Cabinet – 12 December 2022 
 
Executive Portfolio:  Executive Councillor for Finance & Resources 
 
Report by:   Director of Finance and Corporate Resources 
 
Ward(s) affected:  All Wards 

 
 

Executive Summary: 
 

Best practice and prescribed treasury management guidance requires Members 
to be kept up to date in respect of treasury management activity for the first half 
of the year, including investment and borrowing activity and treasury 
performance. 
 
The Council’s 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy was approved by the 
Council on the 23rd February 2022 and this report sets out the Treasury 
Performance for period between 1st April 2022 and 30th September 2022. 
 

 
The main purpose of Treasury Management is to 
 

 Ensure the Council has sufficient cash to meet its day to day obligations. 
 

 Borrow when necessary to fund capital expenditure, including borrowing 
in anticipation of need when rates are low. 

 

 Invest surplus funds in a manner that balances low risk of default by the 
borrower with a fair rate of interest. 

 

The key market Treasury Management issues through the first half of 
2022/23 influencing the Council’s decision-making were. 

 The Bank of England (BoE) held Bank Rate increased over the period 
to 2.25% from 0.75% in March. 

 

 Rising Gilt rates following the mini budget on 23rd September, and 
continued volatility. 

Public 
Key Decision - No 

 

Page 155 of 182

Agenda Item 9



 

 Gilt rates (5 year) rose from 1.41% to 4.4%, feeding into the rates paid 
for lending to the Debt Management Office. 

 

 The Sterling Overnight Rate averaged 1.22%  

The Council’s responses to the key issues were. 

 When the Council has surplus funds, these will primarily be invested on 
a short term basis, primarily in the DMO, money market funds, and the 
council’s transaction bank Natwest. 

 Where possible to take a higher return without sacrificing liquidity eg use 
of timed deposits at the DMO. 

 Where economic conditions are forecast to deteriorate it is vital to 
monitor financial institutions credit rating, and credit default swap rates 
(the cost to insure lending). This information is provided by the Council’s 
treasury adviser - Arlingclose. 

The Council’s Commercial Investment Strategy (CIS) 
 
The Commercial Investment Strategy commenced in 2015/16.  Indicators 
relating to the investments are shown in Appendix A section 3.5. 
 
These investments generated £2.8m of investment income for the Council in 
2022/23 after taking account of direct costs. The breakdown of the property’s 
portfolio is shown in Table 6 and the proportion of the investment income in 
relation to gross service expenditure, in Table 7 of Appendix A. 
 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to 
 

 Note the treasury management performance for the first 6 months of 
2022/23 and to recommend the report to Council for consideration.   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 156 of 182



 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Members on the Council’s 

treasury management activity for the first 6 months of the year, including 
investment and borrowing activity and treasury performance. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 It is regarded as best practice and prescribed treasury management 

practice, that Members are kept up to date with treasury management 
activity.  

 
2.2 The Council approved the 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy at 

its meeting on 23rd February 2022. 
 
2.3 All treasury management activity undertaken during the first half of 

2022/23 complied with the CIPFA Code of Practice and relevant 
legislative provisions. 

 
2.4 The investment strategy is to invest any surplus funds in a manner that 

balances low risk of default by the borrower with a fair rate of interest. 
The Council’s borrowing strategy permits borrowing for cash flow 
purposes and funding current and future capital expenditure over 
whatever periods are in the Council’s best interests. 

 
3. ANALYSIS 

 
 Economic Review 
 
3.1 An economic review of the year has been provided by our Treasury 

Management advisors, Arlingclose and is attached with an analysis of 
the local context implications in Appendix A section 2.0.  

 Performance of Council Funds 
 
3.2 The treasury management transactions undertaken during the first 6 

months of 2022/23 financial year and the details of the investments and 
loans held as at 30th September 2022 are shown in detail in Appendix 
A section 3.0 to 3.3. 

 
           Risk Management 
 
3.3 The Council’s primary objectives for the management of its investment 

are to give priority to the security and liquidity (how quickly cash can be 
accessed) of its funds before seeking the best rate of return. For more 
details see Appendix A section 3.4. 

           Non-Treasury Investments 
 
3.4      The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised Treasury Management   
           Code now covers all the financial assets of the Council as well as other   
           non-financial assets which the Council holds primarily for financial  

Page 157 of 182



 

           return. The full details of these investments can be found on Section  
           3.5 of Appendix A.  
 
           Compliance 
 
3.5    Compliance with specific investment and debt limits are indicated in 

tables 8 and 9 of Appendix A. 
           
           Treasury Management Indicators 
 
3.6    The Council measures and manages its exposure to treasury 

management risks using indicators which are details in the Appendix A 
section 5.0. 

 
4. COMMENTS OF OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
 

4.1       Comments of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel will be circulated 
ahead of the meeting. 

 

 
List of Appendices 
 
 Appendix A   

 Economic review (source: Arlingclose) 

 Borrowing and Investment as at 30th September 2022 

 Risk Management 

 Non-treasury Investments (CIS and service loans) 

 Treasury Management Compliance and Indicators 

 Outlook for the remainder of 2022/23 
  
            Appendix B 

 Capital Prudential Indicators 
 

Appendix C 

 Glossary 
 
CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Oliver Colbert, Financial and Treasury Accountant 
     01480388067 
 
Sharon Russell-Surtees, Chief Finance Officer 
     01480388524 
 

Page 158 of 182



Appendix A 

 

Treasury Management 6 Month Performance Review 

 
1.0 Introduction   
 
The Council adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 

Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the CIPFA Code) 

which requires the Council to approve treasury management semi-annual and 

annual reports. 

The Council’s treasury management strategy for 2022/23 was approved at a meeting 

on 23rd February 2022. The Council has borrowed and invested substantial sums of 

money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds 

and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The successful identification, 

monitoring and control of risk remain central to the Council’s treasury management 

strategy. 

CIPFA published its revised Treasury Management Code of Practice and Prudential 

Code for Capital Finance in December 2021. The key changes in the two codes 

include permitted reasons to borrow, knowledge and skills, and the management of 

non-treasury investments. The principles within the two Codes took immediate effect 

although local authorities could defer introducing the revised reporting requirements 

within the revised Codes until the 2023/24 financial year if they wish, which this 

council has elected to do, as the preparations for the 2022/23 strategy was already 

underway. 

Treasury risk management at the Authority is conducted within the framework of the 

TM Code.  This Code now also includes extensive additional requirements for service 

and commercial investments, far beyond those in the previous (2017) version. 

2.0 External Context 
 
2.1 Economic background 
 
The ongoing conflict in Ukraine has continued to put pressure on global inflation and 

the economic outlook for UK and world growth remains weak. The UK political 

situation towards the end of the period following the ‘fiscal event’ increased 

uncertainty further. 

The economic backdrop during the April to September period continued to be 

characterised by high oil, gas and commodity prices, ongoing high inflation and its 

impact on consumers’ cost of living, no imminent end in sight to the Russia-Ukraine 

hostilities and its associated impact on the supply chain, and China’s zero-Covid 

policy. 

Page 159 of 182



 

  2 

Central Bank rhetoric and action remained robust. The Bank of England, Federal 

Reserve and the European Central Bank all pushed up interest rates over the period 

and committed to fighting inflation, even when the consequences were in all 

likelihood recessions in those regions. 

UK inflation remained extremely high. Annual headline CPI hit 10.1% in July, the 

highest rate for 40 years, before falling modestly to 9.9% in August. RPI registered 

12.3% in both July and August. The energy regulator, Ofgem, increased the energy 

price cap by 54% in April, while a further increase in the cap from October, which 

would have seen households with average energy consumption pay over £3,500 per 

annum, was dampened by the UK government stepping in to provide around £150 

billion of support to limit bills to £2,500 annually until 2024. 

The labour market remained tight through the period but there was some evidence 

of easing demand and falling supply. The unemployment rate 3m/year for April fell 

to 3.8% and declined further to 3.6% in July. Although now back below pre-pandemic 

levels, the recent decline was driven by an increase in inactivity rather than demand 

for labour. Pay growth in July was 5.5% for total pay (including bonuses) and 5.2% 

for regular pay. Once adjusted for inflation, however, growth in total pay was -2.6% 

and –2.8% for regular pay. 

With disposable income squeezed and higher energy bills still to come, consumer 

confidence fell to a record low of –44 in August, down –41 in the previous month. 

Quarterly GDP fell -0.1% in the April-June quarter driven by a decline in services 

output, but slightly better than the 0.3% fall expected by the Bank of England. 

The Bank of England increased the official Bank Rate to 2.25% over the period. From 

0.75% in March, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) pushed through rises of 

0.25% in each of the following two MPC meetings, before hiking by 0.50% in August 

and again in September. August’s rise was voted by a majority of 8-1, with one MPC 

member preferring a more modest rise of 0.25%. the September vote was 5-4, with 

five votes for an 0.5% increase, three for an 0.75% increase and one for an 0.25% 

increase. The Committee noted that domestic inflationary pressures are expected to 

remain strong and so given ongoing strong rhetoric around tackling inflation further 

Bank Rate rises should be expected. 

On 23rd September the UK government, following a change of leadership, 

announced a raft of measures in a ‘mini budget’, loosening fiscal policy with a view 

to boosting the UK’s trend growth rate to 2.5%. With little detail on how government 

borrowing would be returned to a sustainable path, financial markets reacted 

negatively. Gilt yields rose dramatically by between 0.7% - 1% for all maturities with 

the rise most pronounced for shorter dated gilts. The swift rise in gilt yields left 

pension funds vulnerable, as it led to margin calls on their interest rate swaps and 

risked triggering large scale redemptions of assets across their portfolios to meet 

these demands. It became necessary for the Bank of England to intervene to 

Page 160 of 182



 

  3 

preserve market stability through the purchase of long-dated gilts, albeit as a 

temporary measure, which has had the desired effect with 50-year gilt yields falling 

over 100bps in a single day.  

Bank of England policymakers noted that any resulting inflationary impact of 

increased demand would be met with monetary tightening, raising the prospect of 

much higher Bank Rate and consequential negative impacts on the housing market.   

After hitting 9.1% in June, annual US inflation eased in July and August to 8.5% and 

8.3% respectively. The Federal Reserve continued its fight against inflation over the 

period with a 0.5% hike in May followed by three increases of 0.75% in June, July 

and September, taking policy rates to a range of 3% - 3.25%. 

Eurozone CPI inflation reached 9.1% y/y in August, with energy prices the main 

contributor but also strong upward pressure from food prices. Inflation has increased 

steadily since April from 7.4%. In July the European Central Bank increased interest 

rates for the first time since 2011, pushing its deposit rate from –0.5% to 0% and its 

main refinancing rate from 0.0% to 0.5%. This was followed in September by further 

hikes of 0.75% to both policy rates, taking the deposit rate to 0.75% and refinancing 

rate to 1.25%. 

 
2.2 Financial markets 
 
Uncertainty remained in control of financial market sentiment and bond yields 

remained volatile, continuing their general upward trend as concern over higher 

inflation and higher interest rates continued to dominate. Towards the end of 

September, volatility in financial markets was significantly exacerbated by the UK 

government’s fiscal plans, leading to an acceleration in the rate of the rise in gilt 

yields and decline in the value of sterling. 

Due to pressure on pension funds, the Bank of England announced a direct 

intervention in the gilt market to increase liquidity and reduce yields. 

Over the period the 5-year UK benchmark gilt yield rose from 1.41% to 4.40%, the 

10-year gilt yield rose from 1.61% to 4.15%, the 20-year yield from 1.82% to 4.13% 

and the 50-year yield from 1.56% to 3.25%. The Sterling Overnight Rate (SONIA) 

averaged 1.22% over the period. 

 
2.3 Credit review 

In July Fitch revised the outlook on Standard Chartered from negative to stable as it 

expected profitability to improve thanks to the higher interest rate environment. Fitch 

also revised the outlook for Bank of Nova Scotia from negative to stable due to its 

robust business profile. 

Page 161 of 182



 

  4 

Also in July, Moody’s revised the outlook on Bayerische Landesbank to positive and 

then in September S&P revised the GLA outlook to stable from negative as it expects 

the authority to remain resilient despite pressures from a weaker macroeconomic 

outlook coupled with higher inflation and interest rates. 

Having completed its full review of its credit advice on unsecured deposits at UK and 

non-UK banks, in May Arlingclose extended the maximum duration limit for five UK 

banks, four Canadian banks and four German banks to six months. The maximum 

duration for unsecured deposits with other UK and non-UK banks on Arlingclose’s 

recommended list is 100 days. These recommendations were unchanged at the end 

of the period. 

Arlingclose continued to monitor and assess credit default swap levels for signs of 

credit stress but made no changes to the counterparty list or recommended 

durations. Nevertheless, increased market volatility is expected to remain a feature, 

at least in the near term and, as ever, the institutions and durations on the Authority’s 

counterparty list recommended by Arlingclose remains under constant review. 

 
3.0 Local Context 
 
On 31st March 2022, the Council had theoretical net investments of £85.3m (this level 

may not be reached due to daily cashflows) arising from its revenue income and 

capital income and expenditure. The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes 

is measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and 

working capital are the underlying resources available for investment. These factors 

are summarised in Table 1 below. 

Page 162 of 182



 

  5 

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary 

 

 

 

31.3.22 

Actual 

£m 

Capital Financing Requirement 71.4 

Less: Other debt liabilities* (0.5) 

Total  CFR  69.9 

External borrowing (38.9) 

Internal borrowing 31.0 

    Less: Usable reserves (78.7) 

    Less: Working capital (35.8) 

Net (Investing) or New 

Borrowing 
(83.5) 

*Finance lease for Phoenix Court 

 

The Council pursued its strategy of keeping borrowing and investments below their 

underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing, to reduce risk and keep 

interest costs low.  The treasury management position as at 30th September 2022 

and the change during the year is shown in Table 2 below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 163 of 182



 

  6 

Table 2: Treasury Management Summary 

  

31.3.22 Movement 30.9.22 30.9.22 

Balance £m Balance Rate 

£m   £m % 

Long-term borrowing 38.92 (0.14) 38.78 2.83a 

Short-term borrowing  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Total borrowing 38.92 (0.14) 38.78   

Long-term investments 4.00 0.00 4.00 3.70b 

Short-term 
investments 

21.00 17.00 38.00  1.67a 

Cash equivalents 28.05 (6.33) 21.72 1.59 a 

Total investments 53.05 10.67 63.72  1.70 

Net 
borrowing/(Investing)  

(14.13) (10.81) (24.94)   

a Weighted average 

bBased on face value of investment and based on Q1 income projected for full year. 

 

 

The movement in the cash and cash equivalent has been as result of increased 

reserves and working capital. These funds were invested in bank deposits, the DMO 

and Money Market Funds to ensure easy access to maintain liquidity. 

 

3.1 Borrowing 

 

CIPFA’s 2021 Prudential Code is clear that local authorities must not borrow to invest 

primarily for financial return and that it is not prudent for local authorities to make any 

investment or spending decision that will increase the capital financing requirement, 

and so may lead to new borrowing, unless directly and primarily related to the 

functions of the Authority.  

 

PWLB loans are no longer available to local authorities planning to buy investment 

assets primarily for yield; the Authority intends to avoid this activity in order to retain 

its access to PWLB loans. 

 

 
3.2 Borrowing Strategy and activity during the period 
 
As outlined in the treasury strategy, the Authority’s chief objective when borrowing 
has been to strike an appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest 
costs and achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds are required. 
 

Page 164 of 182



 

  7 

Over the April-September period short term PWLB rates rose dramatically, particular 
in late September after the Chancellor’s ‘mini-budget’, included unfunded tax cuts 
and additional borrowing to fund consumer energy price subsidies. Exceptional 
volatility threatened financial stability, requiring Bank of England intervention in the 
gilt market. Over a twenty-four-hour period some PWLB rates increased to 6%, 
before the intervention had the desired effect, bringing rates back down by over 1% 
for certain maturities. 
 
Interest rates rose by over 2% during the period in both the long and short term. As 

an indication the 5-year maturity certainty rate rose from 2.30% on 1st April to 5.09% 

on 30th September; over the same period the 30-year maturity certainty rate rose 

from 2.63% to 4.68% 

 
 

At 30th September 2022, the Council held £38.92m of loans, a decrease of £0.14m 

from 31st March 2022.  Outstanding loans on 30th September are summarised in 

Table 3 below. 

 

Table 3: Borrowing Position 

  31.3.22 
Net 

Movement 
30.9.22 30.9.22 30.9.22 

  Balance £m Balance 
Weighted 
Average 

Weighted 
Average 

  £m   £m Rate Maturity 

        % (years) 

Public Works 
Loan Board 

38.88 (0.14) 38.74 2.83% 22 

Salix Loan 0.035 0.00 0.035 0.00% 4 

Local 
authorities 
(short-term) 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0 

Total 
borrowing 

38.92 (0.14) 38.78 2.83%  22 

 

The Council’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an appropriately low 

risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over 

the period for which funds are required, with flexibility to renegotiate loans should the 

Council’s long-term plans change being a secondary objective.  

 
With short-term interest rates remaining much lower than long-term rates, the 

Council considered it to be more cost effective in the near term to use internal 

resources or short-term loans instead.  The Council had not used short-term loans 

facility so far in this financial year. 

 

Page 165 of 182



 

  8 

Although it was anticipated that the Council’s CFR would increase due to the capital 

programme, delays in the capital programme due to the pandemic no new loans 

have been taken out. 

Long-dated 
Loans borrowed 

  Amount Rate  Period  

PWLB 
Reference 

£ % (Years) 

PWLB 1 495152 5,000,000 3.90 36 

PWLB 2 495153 5,000,000 3.91 35 

PWLB 3 502463 165,474 2.24 1 

PWLB 4 504487 648,585 3.28 24 

PWLB 5 504598 861,233 3.10 24 

PWLB 6 504810 428,708 2.18 25 

PWLB 7 504922 349,167 3.10 25 

PWLB 8 504993 282,599 2.92 25 

PWLB 9 505255 557,484 2.31 25 

PWLB 10 505372 427,523 2.91 25 

PWLB 11 505649 767,264 2.67 25 

PWLB 12 506436 5,000,000 2.78 15 

PWLB 13 508696 7,291,685 2.49 16 

PWLB 15 509389 11,963,000 2.18 17 

Salix Loan  35,000 0.00 4 

Total borrowing    2.83 
(weighted)        

22 

Note that loans PWLB 4-11 were paid in full on the 5th of October 2022. 

 

The Council’s borrowing decisions are not predicated on any one outcome for 

interest rates and a balanced portfolio of short- and long-term borrowing was 

maintained.  

 
3.3 Treasury Investment Activity  
 
CIPFA revised TM Code defines treasury management investments as those which 

arise from the Authority’s cash flows or treasury risk management activity that 

ultimately represents balances which need to be invested until the cash is required 

for use in the course of business. 

 

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in 

advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During the period from 1st 

April 2022 to 30th September 2022 the balances invested (excluding loans and 

property fund) ranged between £39.9m and £64.08m. 

 

The investment position is shown in table 4 below. 

 

 

 

Page 166 of 182



 

  9 

Table 4: Treasury Investment Position 

The weighted average rate for the investment portfolio up to 30.09.2022 was 1.70%. 

  31.3.22 Net  30.9.22 30.9.22 30.9.22 

  Balance Movement Balance 
Income 
Return 

Weighted 
Average 
Maturity 

  £m £m £m % Days 

Banks & building 
societies 
(unsecured) 

5.07 0.65 
 

5.72 
 

0.3 1 

Government (incl. 
local authorities) 

21.00 17.00 38.00 1.67 76 

Money Market 
Funds 

23.00 (7.00) 16.00 1.51 1 

Loans to other 
organisation 

6.98 (4.81) 2.17 3.97 >365 

Other Pooled 
Funds . 

       

-    Property fund 
(CCLA) 

4.00 0.00 4.00 3.69 >365 

Total investments 56.05 9.84 65.89 1.70   

 

Loans to other organisations has decreased significantly (by £4.8m) because Places 

for People paid off, in the full, the loan that was advanced in 2015 and intended to 

mature in 2047. The related PWLB loans (8) were paid off in full on the 5th October 

2022 so are still included in the figures for this half year report. 

 

 

3.4 Risk Management 

 

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Council to invest its 

funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its treasury 

investments before seeking the optimum rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s 

objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and 

return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving 

unsuitably low investment income. 

 

The increases in Bank Rate over the period under review, and with the prospect of 

more increases to come, short-dated cash rates, which had ranged between 0.7% - 

1.5% at the end of March, rose by around 1.5% for overnight/7-day maturities and 

by nearly 3.5% for 9-12 month maturities.  

 

By end September, the rates on DMADF deposits ranged between 1.85% and 3.5%.  

The return on the Council’s sterling low volatility net asset value (LVNAV) Money 

Page 167 of 182



 

  10 

Market Funds ranged between 0.51% - 0.59% in early April and between 1.96% and 

2.12% at the end of September 

 

Given the risk of short-term unsecured bank investments and the low returns, the 

Council has maintained a diversified portfolio of asset classes as shown in table 4 

above. An amount of £4m has been maintained in the long term property fund over 

the period. 

 

The progression of risk and return metrics are shown in the extracts from 

Arlingclose’s quarterly investment benchmarking in Table 5 below. 

 
 
Table 5: Investment Benchmarking – Treasury investments managed in-house  

 

  
Credit 
Score 

Credit 
Rating 

Bail-in 
Exposure 

Weighted 
Average 
Maturity(1) 
(days) 

Internal 
Investment 
Return (2) 

      %   % 

31.03.2022 4.10 AA- 57 15 0.39 

30.06.2022 3.79 AA- 42 45 0.92 

30.09.2022 3.68 AA- 36 12 1.64 

Similar LAs 4.34 AA- 57 42 1.70 

All LAs 4.07 AA- 55 18 1.72 
(1)The weighted average maturity includes the CCLA Property Fund, average 

maturity of investments is 1 day. 
(2) This is short-term investment only and excludes the property fund, investment 

return as at 30/09/22 including property fund is 1.79% 

 

£4m of the Council’s investments are held in externally managed strategic pooled 

property funds – CCLA Property Fund where short-term security and liquidity are 

lesser considerations, and the objectives instead are regular revenue income and 

long-term price stability. This fund generated a total return in quarter 1 of £36,879 

(3.69%), for period of 1st April to 30th June 2022 which is used to support services in 

year.  

 

Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal 

after a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the 

Council’s investment objectives are regularly reviewed. The council was notified in 

October that the notice period for withdrawals from the fund was being increased 

from 90 days to 6 months. The council has never made a withdrawal and views the 

fund as a long-term investment, so in the short to medium term this is not expected 

to cause any issues, quarterly dividends are expected to be paid as normal. The fund 

altered the notice period in response to uncertainty in the property market, 

redemptions from the fund are currently relatively low. 

Page 168 of 182



 

  11 

Strategic fund investments are made in the knowledge that capital values will move 

both up and down on months, quarters and even years; but with the confidence that 

over a three- to five-year period total returns will exceed cash interest rates. In light 

of their performance over the medium-term and the Council’s latest cash flow 

forecasts, investment in these funds has been maintained.   

 

 

3.5 Non-Treasury Investments 
 
The definition of investments in CIPFA’s 2021 Treasury Management Code now 

covers all the financial assets of the Council as well as other non-financial assets 

which the Authority holds primarily for financial return. Investments that do not meet 

the definition of treasury management investments (i.e. management of surplus 

cash) are categorised as either for service purposes (made explicitly to further 

service objectives) and or for commercial purposes (made primarily for financial 

return). 

 

Investment Guidance issued by the Department for Levelling Up Housing and 

Communities (DLUHC) also includes within the definition of investments all such 

assets held partially or wholly for financial return.  

 

The Authority also held investments in: 

 directly owned property £69.5m 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 169 of 182



 

  12 

Table 6: Property held for investment purposes in £’000 

Property 31.3.2021 31.3.2022 Actual* 

Value in 

accounts 

Gains or 

(losses) 

Value in 

accounts 

Existing Portfolio 33,892 (289) 33,603 

2 Stonehill 2,150  2,150 

80 Wilbury Way 1,775  1,775 

Shawlands Retail 

Park 

5,543 (20) 5,523 

    

1400 & 1500 

Parkway, Fareham 

4,200 (50) 4,150 

Units 21a, 

21b,23a,b,c Little 

End Road, St Neots 

3,400 (110) 3,290 

Rowley Centre, St 

Neots 

4,008 (705) 3,303 

Tri-link, Wakefield 14,250 (50) 14,200 

Alms Close 1,502 20 1,522 

TOTAL 70,720  69,516 

 

These investments generated £2.8m of investment income for the Authority from 

April to September 2022 after taking account of direct costs. 

The Authority is dependent on profit generating investment activity to achieve a 

balanced revenue budget. The table below shows the extent to which the 

expenditure planned to meet the service delivery objectives and/or place making role 

of the Authority is dependent on achieving the expected net profit from investments 

over the lifecycle of the Medium Term Financial Strategy. The current forecast is 

showing an increase in expected net investment income of £693,000 due to tenants 

not breaking leases, and better rental agreement terms reached than was expected. 

  

Page 170 of 182



 

  13 

 

 

Table 7: Proportionality of Investments in £’000 

 

 2020/21 

Actual 

£000s 

2021/22 

Actual 

£000s 

2022/23 

Budget 

£000s 

2023/24 

Budget 

£000s 

2024/25 

Budget 

£000s 

Gross service 

expenditure 

121,354(1) 87,068(1) 64,296 63,936 64,741 

Investment income 4,892 4,869 4,716 4,650 4,962 

Service Investments 293 275 325 325 325 

Proportion 4.27% 5.91% 7.84% 7.78% 8.17% 

(1) Gross expenditure higher than normal due to covid business grant 

expenditure. 

 

4.0 Compliance  

 

The Chief Finance Officer (s151 officer) reports that all treasury management 

activities undertaken during the first half year complied fully with the CIPFA Code of 

Practice and the Council’s approved Treasury Management Strategy. Compliance 

with specific investment limits is demonstrated in table 9 below. 

 

Compliance with the authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt is 

demonstrated in table 8 below. 

 

 

Table 8: Debt Limits 

  
30.9.22 
 Actual 

 £m 

2022/23 
Operational 
Boundary  

£m 

2022/23 
Authorised 

Limit       
£m 

Complied? 

General 10.00 70.00 80.00 Yes 

Loans 4.49 15.00 20.00 Yes 

CIS 24.26 30.00 35.00 Yes 

Total debt 38.74 115.00 135.00   

 
Since the operational boundary is a management tool for in-year monitoring it is not 

significant if the operational boundary is breached on occasions due to variations in 

cash flow, and this is not counted as a compliance failure. Total debt was below the 

operational boundary all through the half year. 

Page 171 of 182



 

  14 

 

Table 9: Investment Limits 

  
30.9.22 

Actual £m 
2022/23 Limit 

£m 
Complied? 

 
Deposit Accounts        

NatWest (1) 5.77 £22m Yes  

Debt Management Office 
(DMO) 

34.00 Unlimited Yes  

Barclays 0.001 4.00 Yes  

Thurrock Council(2) 4.00 4.00 Yes  

Money Market Funds        

Aberdeen Liquidity Fund  3.00 4.00 Yes  

BlackRock Institutional 
sterling liquidity Fund 

2.50 4.00 Yes  

CCLA Public Sector 
Deposit Fund 

3.00 4.00 Yes  

Federated Short Term 
Prime Fund 

2.00 4.00 Yes 
 
 

HSBC Global Liquidity (3) 

Funds ESG 
0.00 4.00   

Insight Liquidity Funds 1.50 4.00 Yes  

Invesco 3.00 4.00 Yes  

Legal & General Sterling 
Liquidity Fund 

1.00 4.00 Yes  

Property Fund     

CCLA Property Fund 4.00 5.00 Yes  

Total 63.77    

(1)Natwest is the council’s transactional bank, the balance held is sufficient for 

operational needs. The balance held on 30th September included funds received 

from Places for People loan repayment, this was received too late to invest 

elsewhere. 
(2)The principal invested with Thurrock was returned on the agreed maturity date 

(24/10/2022), as well as the agreed interest.  
(3)HSBC MMF was opened in September. This fund takes into account ESG factors 

when investing. 

 

 

5.0 Treasury Management Indicators 

 

The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks 

using the following indicators. 

 

 

Page 172 of 182



 

  15 

Security  

The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by 

monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio.  This 

is calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking 

the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated 

investments are assigned a score based on their perceived risk. 

Table 10: Average Credit Rating 

  30.9.22 Actual 2022/23 Target Complied? 

Portfolio average 
credit rating 

AA- A- Yes 

 

Liquidity 

The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk by 

monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments within a 

rolling three-month period, without additional borrowing.  

 

Table 11: Total Cash Available 

 30.9.22 
Actual £m 

2022/23 
Target £m 

Complied? 

Total cash 
available 
within 3 
months 

63.77 2 Yes 

 

 
Interest Rate Exposures (Discretionary local measure) 

This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper 

limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in interests was:  

 

Table 12: Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk 
indicator 

30.9.22 
Actual 

30.9.22 
Theoretical1 

2022/23 Limit Complied? 

Upper limit on one-
year revenue impact 
of a 1% rise in 
interest rates 

 
 

£0 
 

£389,000 £600,000 Yes 

Upper limit on one-
year revenue impact 
of a 1% fall in 
interest rates 

 
 

£0 
 

£389,000 £600,000 Yes 

Page 173 of 182



 

  16 

1In reality all borrowing is at a fixed interest rate (with PWLB) and so changes in rates 

will only be realised when and if the loans need to be refinanced. The loans that may 

need refinancing (ie those linked to asset purchases) have a weighted average years 

to maturity of 20 years. CIPFA no longer recommends setting limits for interest rate 

exposure, this is a locally adopted indicator. 

 

The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the weighted average rate 

of interest (2.83%) being increased or reduced by 1%. 

 

 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing  

This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper 

and lower limits on the maturity structure of all borrowing were: 

 

Table 13: Maturity Structure 

  
30.9.22 
Actual 

Upper 
Limit 

Lower 
Limit 

Complied? 

Under 12 months 0.4% 80% 0% Yes 

12 months and within 24 
months 

0.0% 80% 0% Yes 

24 months and within 5 
years 

0.0% 80% 0% Yes 

5 years and within 10 
years 

0.0% 100% 0% Yes 

10 years and above  99.6% 100% 0% Yes 

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year.  The maturity date of 

borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment.  

 

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than a Year 

 

Table 14: Sums Invested for Beyond One Year 

  
2022/2

3 
2023/2

4 
2024/2

5 

Actual principal invested beyond year 
end 
(CCLA Property Fund) 

£4.00m 
 

£4.00m 
 

£4.00m 

Limit on principal invested beyond year 
end 

£10.00
m 

£10.00
m 

£10.00
m 

Complied? Yes Yes Yes 

 

Page 174 of 182



 

  17 

 

6.0 Outlook for 2022/23 (Provided by Arlingclose) 
 
Interest Rates 
 

 
 
Arlingclose expects Bank Rate to rise further during 2022/23 to reach 5% by the end 

of the financial year. 

The MPC is particularly concerned about the demand implications of fiscal loosening, 

the tight labour market, sterling weakness and the willingness of firms to raise prices 

and wages. 

The MPC may therefore raise Bank Rate more quickly and to a higher level to 

dampen aggregate demand and reduce the risk of sustained higher inflation. 

Arlingclose now expects Bank Rate to peak at 5.0%, with 200bps of increases this 

calendar year.  

This action by the MPC will slow the economy, necessitating cuts in Bank Rate later 

in 2024. 

Gilt yields will face further upward pressure in the short term due to lower confidence 

in UK fiscal policy, higher inflation expectations and asset sales by the BoE. Given 

the recent sharp rises in gilt yields, the risks are now broadly balanced to either side. 

Over the longer term, gilt yields are forecast to fall slightly over the forecast period. 

Background 
 
Monetary policymakers are behind the curve having only raising rates by 50bps in 

September.  This was before the “Mini-Budget”, poorly received by the markets, 

triggered a rout in gilts with a huge spike in yields and a further fall in sterling. In a 

shift from recent trends, the focus now is perceived to be on supporting sterling whilst 

also focusing on subduing high inflation.  

There is now an increased possibility of a special Bank of England MPC meeting to 

raise rates to support the currency. Followed by a more forceful stance over concerns 

on the looser fiscal outlook. The MPC is therefore likely to raise Bank Rate higher 

than would otherwise have been necessary given already declining demand. 

A prolonged economic downturn could ensue. 

Uncertainty on the path of interest rates has increased dramatically due to the 

possible risk from unknowns which could include for instance another 

Conservative leadership contest, a general election, or further tax changes including 

implementing windfall taxes. 

The government's open ended approach to energy price caps, combined with 

Page 175 of 182



 

  18 

international energy markets priced in dollars, presents a fiscal mismatch that has 

contributed to significant decline in sterling and sharp rises in gilt yields which will 

feed through to consumers' loans and mortgages and business funding costs. 

UK government policy has mitigated some of the expected rise in energy inflation for 

households and businesses flattening the peak for CPI, whilst extending the duration 

of elevated CPI. Continued currency weakness could add inflationary pressure. 

The UK economy already appears to be in recession, with business activity and 

household spending falling. The short- to medium-term outlook for the UK economy 

is relatively bleak.  

Global bond yields have jumped as investors focus on higher and longer lasting US 

policy rates. The rise in UK government bond yields has been sharper, due to both 

an apparent decline in investor confidence and a rise in interest rate expectations, 

following the UK government’s shift to borrow to loosen fiscal policy. Gilt yields will 

remain higher unless the government’s plans are perceived to be fiscally responsible. 

The housing market impact of increases in the Base Rate could act as a “circuit 

breaker” which stops rates rising much beyond 5.0%, but this remains an uncertainty. 

 

Page 176 of 182



Appendix B 

Capital Prudential Indicators 

Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets, such as property 

or vehicles that will be used for more than one year. This includes spending on assets 

owned by other bodies, loans and grants to other bodies enabling them to buy assets. 

The Council has some limited discretion on what counts as capital expenditure, for 

example assets costing below £10,000 are not capitalised and are charged to revenue 

in year. 

The summary of the capital expenditure is shown in the Table 1 below. The quarter 2 

financial monitoring report will provide further detail.  

The updated budget includes rephased schemes from 2021/22, and growth schemes 

funded by grants, in addition to the schemes included in the original budget. 

Table 1: Summary of Capital Expenditure in £m 

 
 

 
2022/23 
Original 
Budget 

 
2022/23 

Updated(1) 
Budget 

2022/23 
Forecast 

General Fund Services 12.77 41.90   11.03 

Total 12.77 41.90   11.03 
(1) This includes rephasing from 2021/22 and growth funded by grants. 

 

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government 

grants and other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and 

capital receipts) or debt (borrowing and leasing). 

Table 2: The summary of Capital financing in £m 

 
 

 
2022/23 
Budget 

 

 
2022/23 
Updated 
Budget 

2022/23 
Forecast 

External sources 2.13 15.42 3.34 

CIL 0 2.30 0.41 

Capital Receipts 8.29 17.08 0.68 

Internal Borrowing or Debt 2.35 7.10 6.60 

Total 12.77 41.90 11.03 

 

Debt is only temporary source of finance since loans and leases must be repaid, and 

this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from revenue which is 

known as minimum revenue provision (MRP).  

Page 177 of 182



Table 3: The summary of Capital Financing Requirement in £m 

 
 

 
2022/23 
Budget 

 

 
2022/23 
Updated 
Budget 

2022/23 
Forecast 

Capital Financing Requirement 79.40 77.47 76.98 

MRP (2.80) (2.80) (2.55) 

Total 76.60 74.67 74.43 
The CFR for the updated budget and the forecast is the opening CFR of £70.378m plus the internal 

borrowing or debt line from table 2. 

The opening CFR for 2022/23 is £70.378m, taken from draft statement of accounts, 

CFR note, closing position 2021/22. 

When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds known 

as capital receipts can be spent on new assets or to repay debt. Repayments of capital 

grants, loan and investments also generate capital receipts. 

The summary of the capital receipts is shown in Table 4 below in £m. 

 
 

 
2022/23 
Budget 

 

 
2022/23 
Updated 
Budget 

2022/23 
Forecast 

Asset sales  0.70 0.70   0.45 

Loans repaid  0.00 0.28   4.89 

Total   0.70 0.98   5.34 
The forecast includes the loan repayment by Places for People of £4.7m, which may not all be used 

to fund capital expenditure in 2022/23, a funding mix decision will be taken at the year end. 

Page 178 of 182



APPENDIX C 
 
GLOSSARY 
 
Arlingclose  
The council’s treasury management advisors. 
 
Bail in Risk 
Bail in risk arises from the failure of a bank. Bond-holders or investors in the bank 
would be expected to suffer losses on their investments, as opposed to the bank 
being bailed out by government. 
 
Bank Equity Buffer 
The mandatory capital that financial institutions are required to hold, in order to 
provide a cushion against financial downturns, to ensure the institution can 
continue to meet it liquidity requirements. 
 
The Bank Rate 
The Bank of England’s interest rate. 
 
Bank Stress Tests 
Annual tests carried out by the Bank of England on the UK banking system to 
assess resilience to recessions in the UK and globally, large falls in assets prices, 
and higher global interest rates.   
 
Bonds 
A bond is a form of loan, the holder of the bonder is entitled to a fixed rate of 
interest (coupon) at fixed intervals. The bond has a fixed life and can be traded. 
 
B.P.S. (Basis points) 
One basis point is 0.01%, 25 basis points is 0.25%. 
 
Call Account 
A bank account that offer a rate of return and the funds are available to withdraw 
on a daily basis. 
 
Capital Expenditure 
Expenditure on assets (tangible or intangible) that will be used for longer than 
one year eg property, vehicles, software (intangible assets). 
 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)  
The CFR is a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically, but has yet 
to be financed (or funded); by for example capital receipts or grants funding. 
 
Capital Receipt 
The cash received from the sale of a non-current asset eg sale of property or 
land. 
 
CIPFA 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) is a 
professional institute for accountants working in the public services, national 
audit agencies, in major accountancy firms, and in other bodies where public 

Page 179 of 182

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Accountant
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Public_services
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Public_money


money needs to be managed.  It is the only UK professional accountancy body 
to specialise in public services. 
 
 
Collar (Money Market Fund) 
The fund “collar” forms part of the valuation mechanism for the fund. LVNAV 
funds allow investors to purchase and redeem shares at a constant NAV 
calculated to 2 decimal places, i.e. £1.00.This is achieved by the fund using 
amortised cost for valuation purposes, subject to the variation against the 
marked-to-market NAV being no greater than 20 basis points (0.2%). (This 
compares to current Prime CNAV funds which round to 50 basis points, or 0.5%, 
of the NAV.)  
 
Counterparty 
Another organisation with which the Council has entered into a financial 
transaction with, for example, invested with or borrowed from. 
 
CPI 
The Consumer Price Index is a price index, it is the price of a weighted average 
market basket of consumer goods and services purchased by households. 
Changes in CPI track changes in process over time. CPIH includes housing 
costs. 
 
Credit Default Swaps (CDS) 
A financial agreement that the seller of the CDS will compensate the buyer in the 
event of a loan default. The seller insures the buyer against a loan defaulting. 
 
Credit Ratings 
A credit rating is the evaluation of a credit risk of a debtor, and predicting their 
ability to pay back the debt.  The rating represents an evaluation of a credit rating 
agency of the qualitative and quantitative information, this result in a score, 
denoted usually by the letters A to D and including +/-. Fitch, Moody’s and 
Standard and Poor’s provide credit ratings.  
 
DLUHC 
The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), formerly 
the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), is the 
UK Government department for housing, communities and local government in 
England. 
 
DMO 
The Debt Management Office is an executive agency of HM Treasury. The DMO 
operates the PWLB lending facility and the Debt Management Account Deposit 
Facility (DMADF). The DMADF offers fixed term deposits, with rates fixed on the 
day of deposit. All deposits with the DMADF are placed in the Debt Management 
Account and therefore represent a direct claim on the government. 
 
ESG (Environmental, Social and Governance) 
ESG is a set of standards for an organisation’s behaviour, used by investors to 
screen potential investments.  

 Environmental focuses on preserving the natural world (eg climate 
change, energy efficiency, biodiversity). 

Page 180 of 182

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Public_money


 Social focuses on people and relationships (eg diversity, inclusion, 
employee engagement). 

 Governance on an organisation’s management and leadership (board 
composition, cybersecurity, preventing bribery and corruption). 

 
 
 
Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) 
The Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC), a committee within the Federal 
Reserve System, is charged with overseeing the USA’s open market 
operations (e.g., the Fed's buying and selling of United States Treasury 
securities).  This Federal Reserve committee makes key decisions about interest 
rates and the growth of the United States money supply. 
 
FTSE 
A UK provider of stock market indices, it is owned by the London Stock Exchange. 
 
GDP 
Gross Domestic Product is a monetary measure of the market vale of all the final 
goods and services produced by a country in a particular time period. 
 
Gilts 
Bonds issued by the Government. Gilts are traded, as the price of the bond falls 
the yield increases, although the face value and interest rate paid are fixed. 
 
Internal Borrowing 
The use of the council’s own cash balances to finance expenditure. As opposed 
to external borrowing eg from PWLB. 
 
Liquidity 
The degree to which an asset can be bought or sold quickly.  
 
LVNAV Money Market Fund 
Low volatility net asset value. The fund will have at least 10% of its assets 
maturing on a daily basis and at least 30% of assets maturing on a weekly basis. 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
An amount set aside to repay debt. 
 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) 
The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) is a committee of the Bank of England, 
which meets eight times a year, to decide the official interest rate in the United 
Kingdom (the Bank of England Base Rate). 
 
Money Market Funds 
An open ended mutual fund that invests in short-term debt securities. A deposit 
will earn a rate of interest, whilst maintaining the net asset value of the 
investment. Deposits are generally available for withdrawal on the day. 
 
Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) 
The PWLB is an agency of the Treasury, it lends to public bodies at fixed rates 
for periods up to 50 years. Interest rates are determined by gilt yields. 

Page 181 of 182

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Federal_Reserve_System
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Federal_Reserve_System
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Open_market_operations
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Open_market_operations
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States_Treasury_security
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States_Treasury_security
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bank_of_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Interest_rate
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_Kingdom
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_Kingdom
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bank_of_England_Base_Rate


 
Prudential Code (CIPFA) 
The framework established by the Prudential Code supports local strategic 
planning, local asset management planning and proper option appraisal. The 
objective of the Prudential Code is to ensure, within this clear framework, that the 
capital investment plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable. 
 
SONIA (Sterling over night index average) 
SONIA is an important interest rate benchmark. It is administered by the Bank of 
England, and is based on actual transactions and reflects the average on the 
interest rates that banks pay to borrow sterling overnight from other financial 
institutions. This rate has replaced LIBOR. 
 
S31 Grants 
Grants issued by central government to local authorities, relating to a specific 
purpose. 
 
Transactional Banking 
Use of a bank for day to day banking requirement, e.g. provision of current 
accounts, deposit accounts and on-line banking. 
 
Treasury Management Code (CIPFA) 
This code was developed to meet the needs of local authorities (including PCCs 
and fire authorities), registered social landlords, further and higher education 
institutions, and NHS trusts. In order to provide a clear definition of treasury 
management activities. 

Page 182 of 182


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES
	3 BUSINESS RATES -  RURAL SETTLEMENT LIST
	3.  Business Rates Rural Settlement List Appendix 1
	3.  Business Rates Rural Settlement List Appendix 2.docx

	4 HUNTINGDONSHIRE UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUNDING
	5 MARKET TOWNS PROGRAMME - WINTER UPDATE
	6 INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT
	6. Infrastructure Funding Statement Appendix 1.docx
	1. Introduction
	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
	Planning Obligation S106
	Business support during the Pandemic
	2. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
	2.1 Headline Figures
	2.2 CIL Infrastructure Expenditure5F  in 2021/22
	Other CIL Expenditure Relevant to CIL Regulation 59E and 59F11F
	2.4 CIL Receipts Retained (Allocated12F  and Unallocated)

	One Leisure St Ives changing room
	Hail Weston playing fields improvements
	CIL Receipts Retained
	2.5 The (CIL) Infrastructure List

	3G Pitch in Ramsey
	3. Section 106 (Planning Obligations)
	Section 106 Agreements Signed in 2021/2216F
	3.1 Headline Figures
	Monetary Contributions
	Non-Monetary Contributions
	3.2 Section 106 Infrastructure Expenditure in 2021/22
	3.3 Other Expenditure of Section 106 Receipts in 2021/22
	3.4 Section 106 Receipts Retained (Allocated26F  and Unallocated)

	Upgrading grounds and facilities at Ramsey Cricket Club
	Skate Park, Sawtry
	Footpath, Bluntisham
	Onyett’s Field, Warboys
	4.  Section 278 Agreements Report (Optional Reporting)
	4.2 Summary details of any funding or provision of infrastructure under a highway agreement which was provided during the reported year.

	5.1 ANNEX A: The Regulatory Requirements for Infrastructure Funding Statements
	The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No.2) Regulations 2019
	5.2 ANNEX B: List of Schedule 2 requirements for the Infrastructure Funding Statement
	Community Infrastructure Levy
	Section 106 Planning Obligations

	6. Appendices
	C1 – Town and Parish Meaningful Proportion Payments
	C2 – Demand Notices which have been re-issued this reporting period originally issued in previous financial years
	S1 – List of Applications Signed During 2021/22
	S2 – List of Obligations entered into in 2021/22
	S3 – Detail of money received during 2021/22
	S4 – Affordable Housing Units to be Provided on site



	7 GREATER CAMBRIDGE PARTNERSHIP - MAKING CONNECTIONS CONSULTATION
	7. Greater Cambridge Partnership Appendix B

	8 FINANCE PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022/23, QUARTER 2
	8. Finance Performance Report 2022-23 Q2 Appendix 1

	9 TREASURY MANAGEMENT 6 MONTH PERFORMANCE REVIEW
	9. Treasury Management 6 Month Review Appendix A
	9. Treasury Management 6 Month Review Appendix B
	9. Treasury Management 6 Month Review Appendix C


